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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ]
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA, ..«¢ |0 P ¥ 28
ORLANDO DIVISION Wkt =

Case No. 10

CHARLES S. RODRIGUEZ, on behalf
of himself and all others similarly situated, c ' [8 ! 7 ﬁ,{ / O l . 4 / 7—5 S
- C¢y- T

Plaintiff,
v.
DITECH FINANCIAL, LLC and
FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE
ASSOCIATION,

Defendants.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Plaintiff, Charles S. Rodriguez (“Plaintiff”), on behalf of himself and all others similarly

situated, alleges violations of the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act § 559.55 ef seq.
(“FCCPA”), the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 15 U.S.C. 1692 et seq. (“FDCPA™), against
Ditech Financial, LLC (“Ditech”) and violation of the Truth In Lending Act 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et
seq. (“TILA”) against Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”).

1. In the last (10) years, over 960,000 homes in Florida alone were foreclosed on.
See Ex. A, United States Residential Foreclosure Crisis: Ten Years Later, CoreLogic (March
2017). Although the foreclosure rates are lower now than at their peaks in 2010-2011, there are
still a significant percentage of homeowners more than 90 days behind on their mortgage
payments. Id. A foreclosure affects not only the borrower, but also neighbors because just one

foreclosure can cause a 2-3% decline in value of homes within a 1/8th mile vicinity.

http://www.flagpinrealty.com/Articles/Sheltering%20Neighborhoods%20from%20the%20Subpr

ime%20Foreclosure%20Storm.pdf.
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2. Recognizing this devastating effect, Congress enacted the FDCPA and TILA, and
the Florida Legislature enacted the FCCPA. These statues provide consumers a private right of
action to ensure mortgage servicers give defaulted borrowers accurate and clear information. The
most important information is a clear statement of the amount of debt owed. Ditech, on the other
hand, frustrates the borrower’s ability to stop a foreclosure by giving them opaque disclosures that
cause confusion.

3. Ditech charges borrowers improper fees that are disguised to look legitimate. In
this case, Ditech generically labeled drive-by property inspections as “Corp Adv Disb” fees on a
borrower’s mortgage statements instead of what these fees are. The result is that Ditech can charge
drive-by property inspections at an inappropriate and unreasonable frequency without notice or
dispute from the borrower.

4, Indeed, Ditech is incentivized to keep borrowers in foreclosure because, while the
amount charged is relatively small, the profit generating mark-up on the fees charged and repetitive
nature in which the disguised fees are charged results in Ditech reaping thousands of dollars in
profit from borrowers who are unlikely to challenge the fee when fighting to save their home.

5. By the conduct described above, Ditech knowingly violated the FCCPA and
FDCPA. Fannie Mae is also liable for Ditech’s violation of TILA, which has caused Plaintiff and
putative class members actual concrete and particularized injuries.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
6. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this

action arises out of TILA and the FDCPA, federal statutes.
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7. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the FCCPA claims under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1367 because the basis of the TILA and FDCPA federal claims involve the same debt collection
practices that form the basis of the FCCPA claims.

8. The Court has personal jurisdiction because Defendants conduct business
throughout the United States, including Florida. Further, their voluntary contact with Plaintiff to
charge and collect debts in Florida made it foreseeable that Defendants would be haled into a
Florida court. See Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 474 (1985).

9. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)-(c) because Defendants
are deemed to reside in any judicial district where they are subject to personal jurisdiction at the
time the action is commenced and because their contacts with this District are sufficient to subject
them to personal jurisdiction.

PARTIES

10.  Plaintiff Charles Rodriguez is a natural person who resides in Florida.

11.  Defendant Ditech is a Minnesota corporation with its headquarters in St. Paul,
Minnesota. Defendant services mortgages throughout the United States and Florida.

12.  Defendant Fannie Mae is Delaware corporation with its principal place of business
at 3900 Wisconsin Ave, N.W., Washington D.C. 20016.

APPLICABLE LAW
TILA

13.  Congress enacted TILA to “protect the consumer against inaccurate and unfair

credit billing and credit card practices.” 15 U.S.C.A. § 1601(a); Fabricant v. Sears Roebuck, 98-

1281-CIV, 2002 WL 34477592, at *4 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 6, 2002) (“TILA changed the philosophy in



Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1 Filed 05/10/18 Page 4 of 23 PagelD 4

the extension of credit from let the buyer beware to make the seller disclose.”) (internal quotations
and citations omitted).

14.  To further TILA’s purpose, courts must “liberally construe the language [of the
statute] in favor of the consumer.” (Id.) (citations omitted).

15.  Under TILA, the creditor, assignee, or servicer must give a periodic statement to
the borrower setting forth certain disclosures like: the amount due, explanation of amount due, and
past payment breakdown. 15 U.S.C. § 1638 et seq., 12 CFR § 1026.41 et segq.

16. TILA requires information to be *“disclosed clearly and conspicuously, in
accordance with regulations of the Bureau.” 15 U.S.C. § 1632(a).

17.  Regulation Z “is issued by the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection to
implement the Federal Truth in Lending Act.” 12 CFR § 1026.1(a).

18.  Regulation Z “prohibits certain acts or practices in connection with credit secured
by a dwelling in § 1026.36, and credit secured by a consumer's principal dwelling in § 1026.35.”
12 CFR § 1026.1(b).

19.  Regulation Z imposes certain obligations on mortgage servicers and creditors to
provide information to borrowers about their mortgage loans. See 12 CFR § 1026.31 et seq.

20. Information under Regulation Z, Subpart E, must be given “clearly and
conspicuously” to the borrower and the information “shall reflect the terms of the legal obligation
between the parties.” 12 CFR §§ 1026.31(b), (d)(1).

21.  TILA provides a private cause of action for violations of Regulation Z. See 15
U.S.C. § 1640(a); ¢f 15 U.S.C. § 1639(p)(2)(A)(“The Bureau, by regulation or order, shall prohibit
acts or practices in connection with—mortgage loans that the Bureau finds to be unfair, deceptive,

or designed to evade the provisions of this section...”); McGowan v. King, Inc., 569 F.2d 845, 848
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(5th Cir. 1978)(“The scheme of the statute is to create a system of private attorneys general to aid
its enforcement, and its language should be construed liberally in light of its remedial purpose.”)
FDCPA

22.  The purpose of the FDCPA is “to eliminate abusive debt collection practices . . .
and to promote consistent State action to protect consumers against debt collection abuses.” 15
U.S.C. § 1692.

23. The FDCPA prohibits debt collectors from using “any false, deceptive, or
misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt,” which includes
the false representation of “the character, amount, or legal status of any debt.” Id. § 1692e.

24.  The FDCPA also prohibits debt collectors from “unfair or unconscionable means
to collect or attempt to collect any debt,” including “the collection of any amount unless such
amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law.” Id. §
1692f.

25.  The FDCPA creates a private right of action under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k.

26. The FDCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or allegedly
obligated to pay any debt.” Id. § 1692a(3).

27.  The FDCPA defines “debt collector” as “any person who uses . . . any business the
principal purpose of which is the collection of any debts, or who regularly collects or attempts to
collect . . . debt owed . . . or asserted to be owed or due another.” Id. § 1692a(6).

28.  The FDCPA defines communication as “conveying of information regarding a debt

directly or indirectly to any person through any medium.” /d. § 1692a(2).



Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1 Filed 05/10/18 Page 6 of 23 PagelD 6

29.  The FDCPA defines “debt” as “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer
to pay money arising out of a transaction . . . [that] are primarily for personal, family, or household
purposes.” Id. § 1692a(5).

FCCPA

30. The FCCPA prohibits debt collectors from engaging in certain abusive practices in
the collection of consumer debts. See generally Fla. Stat. § 559.72.

31.  The FCCPA'’s goal is to “provide the consumer with the most protection possible.”
LeBlanc v. Unifund CCR Partners, 601 F.3d 1185, 1192 (11th Cir. 2010) (citing Fla. Stat. §
559.552).

32.  Specifically, the FCCPA states that no person shall “claim, attempt, or threaten to
enforce a debt when such person knows that the debt is not legitimate, or assert the existence of
some other legal right when such person knows that the right does not exist.” Fla. Stat. § 559.72(9).

33.  The FCCPA creates a private right of action under Fla. Stat. § 559.77.

34. The FCCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or allegedly
obligated to pay any debt.” Id. § 559.55(8).

35. The FCCPA mandates that “no person” shall engage in certain practices in
collecting consumer debt. Id. § 559.72. This language includes all allegedly unlawful attempts at
collecting consumer claims. Williams v. Streeps Music Co., 333 So. 2d 65, 67 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.
1976).

36. The FCCPA defines “debt” as “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer
to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance, or services
which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household purposes,

whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment.” Id. § 559.55(6).
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

37.  Onor about January 8, 2009, Plaintiff purchased a home in Orange County, Florida
through a loan from Amtrust Bank, secured by a mortgage on the property. Copies of Plaintiff’s
Mortgage Note and Mortgage Agreement are attached as Exhibit “B” and Exhibit “C” respectively.

38.  Onor about October 1, 2010, the Mortgage fell into default. |

39.  On or about May 4, 2012, Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., as
Nominee for Amtrust Bank, its successors and/or Assigns, assigned the Note and Mortgage to
FNMA.

40.  Several years later, on or about May 1, 2014, Everhome Mortgage transferred its
servicing rights to Ditech, formally known as Green Tree Servicing, LLC, while the Note and
Mortgage were in default.! Therefore, Ditech became the servicer of Plaintiff’s Mortgage while it
was already in default.

41.  Fannie Mae contracted with Ditech to. service Plaintiff and the class members’
mortgage loans.

42.  Ditech services the Plaintiff’s Mortgage on behalf of Fannie Mae as its agent.

43.  As Fannie Mae’s agent, Ditech must follow the Fannie Mae Single Family
Servicing Guide (“Guidelines”).

44,  The Guidelines only allow a servicer, like Ditech, to charge property inspections
not more frequently than every twenty days. See Fannie Mae Single Family Servicing Guide D2-

2-10.

! On or about May 18, 2012, Elizabeth Wellborn, P.A., on behalf of FNMA, filed a complaint in the Ninth Judicial
Circuit in and for Orange County, Florida to initiate foreclosure of the Plaintiff’s home. Plaintiff hired Smothers
Law Firm, P.A. to defend him in the foreclosure.

7
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45.  Recognizing this limitation, Ditech disguises the property inspection fees as “Corp
Adv Disb” charges on the Plaintiff and the class members’ monthly billing statements.

46.  Upon information and belief, Ditech pays much less than $15.00 per property
inspection, keeping the overcharge as profit.

47.  Ditech then disguises the fees so it can charge them at a greater frequency than the
Guidelines allow because Ditech earns a profit on the fees.

48.  On September 16, 2016, Ditech sent a billing statement to Smothers Law Firm,
P.A. on behalf of Plaintiff. The billing statement is attached as Exhibit “D”.

49.  Under the heading “Transaction Activity Since Last Statement”, Ditech charged
Plaintiff a late fee and a $15.00 “Corp Adv Disb” on September 14, 2016. Id.

50.  Upon information and belief, the $15.00 “Corp Adv Disb” is actually a “drive-by”
property inspection charge.

51.  Upon information and belief, the actual cost of a “drive-by” property inspection
charge to Ditech is less than $15.00, meaning that every drive-by inspection charged by Ditech
creates profit.

52.  Ditech demanded Plaintiff pay a total amount of $100,102.14, which included the
$15.00 “Corp Adv Disb” charge. Id.

53.  Ditech provided no description on what default-related service the $15.00 charge
represented.

54.  Directly adjacent, the September Statement advised:

**Delinquency Notice**

You are late on your mortgage payments. Failure to bring your loan current

may result in fees and foreclosure - the loss of your home. As of September

16 you are 2177 days delinquent on your mortgage loan. Your account first
became delinquent on 1010112010.
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See Ex. D.

55.  Ditech included a payment coupon for Plaintiff to detach and send with his
payment. Id.

56.  On the payment coupon, Ditech again demanded a total amount of $100,102.14 and
advised that it would charge a late fee if Plaintiff didn’t pay. Id.

57.  On October 17, 2016, Ditech sent a billing statement to Smothers Law Firm, P.A.
on behalf of Plaintiff. The billing statement is attached as Exhibit “E”.

58.  The October statement reflects that Ditech charged Plaintiff another $15.00 “Corp
Adv Disb” on September 30, 2016, and it again added that fee to the total amount it demanded
Plaintiff pay. /d.

59.  Therefore, Ditech charged Plaintiff for two property inspections within 14 days of
each other, one on September 16, 2016 (Ex. D) and another on September 30, 2016 (Ex. E).

60.  Onorabout April 17, 2017, Ditech sent a billing statement to Smothers Law Firm
P.A. on behalf of Plaintiff. The Billing Statement is attached as Exhibit “F”.

61.  Under the heading “Transaction Activity Since Last Statement”, Ditech charged
Plaintiff a late fee and a $15.00 “Corp Adv Disb” on March 31, 2017. Id.

62. Ditech demanded Plaintiff pay a total amount of $81,344.17, which included the
$15.00 “Corp Adv Disb” charge. Id.

63. Instead of labeling the charge as a “property inspection”, Ditech chose to
deceptively label the charge a “Corp Adv Disb”, which is unclear, inconspicuous, false, and
misleading practice.

64. On or about July 17, 2017, Ditech sent another billing statement to Smothers Law

Firm, P.A. on behalf of Plaintiff. The billing statement is attached as Exhibit “G.”
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65. Instead of labeling the charge as a “property inspection”, Ditech again chose to
deceptively label the charge a “Corp Adv Disb”, which is unclear, inconspicuous, false, and
misleading practice, especially because Ditech charged the Plaintiff a separate $200 “Corp Adv
Disb” charge without any explanation on what the charge relates to. (/d.).

66.  Ditech acted as a debt collector by attempting to collect amounts on behalf of its
principal, Fannie Mae.

67.  Ditech, on behalf of Fannie Mae, threatened to collect illegitimate charges from
Plaintiff and the putative class.

68.  Ditech demanded Plaintiff pay these fees despite operating under strict servicing
guidelines from Fannie Mae.

69.  Under the Guidelines, Ditech must “be aware of, and in full compliance with, all
federal, state, and local laws (e.g., statutes, regulations, ordinances, administrative rules and orders
that have the effect of law, and judicial rulings and opinions).” And “[a]s applicable law can change
quickly, and sometimes without widespread notice, the seller/servicer must establish appropriate
facilities for monitoring applicable legal developments and implementing appropriate measures to
stay in compliance with applicable law. ...” (emphasis added). See 2015 Fannie Mae Single Family
Servicing Guide at 98, available at https://www.fanniemae.com/content/guide/svc040815.pdf.

70.  The Guidelines only allow Ditech to charge property inspections if: Quality Right
Party Contact has not been achieved; a full payment has not been received within the last 30
days; or the borrower is not performing under the applicable bankruptcy plan. Id at 421-422 (
section D2-2-10).

71.  The Guidelines also prohibit Ditech from charging property inspections no sooner

than twenty days apaﬁ. Id

10
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72.  Despite these speciﬁc prohibitions, Ditech nonetheless knowingly demanded
Plaintiff pay an amount to cure a default that included illegitimate, and disguised, property
inspection charges.

73.  Ditech’s demands were a direct breach of each of the following contractual
provisions permitting only recovery of amounts actually incurred: (1) Paragraph 9 of the Mortgage
Agreement permitted Ditech to recover “amounts disbursed” in protecting Fannie Mae’s interest
and rights in the Mortgage Agreement (emphasis added); (2) Paragraph 14 of the Mortgage
Agreement prohibited Ditech from charging estimated fees, stating “/lJender may not charge fees
that are expressly prohibited in this Security Instrument or by Applicable Law” (emphasis
added); (3) Paragraph 22 of Fannie Mae’s Mortgage Agreement permitted Ditech to collect
“expenses incurred in pursuing” certain actions under the Paragraph which governed default,
notice of default, actions to cure default, and reinstatement of loans (emphasis added); and (4)
Paragraph 6(E) of the Mortgage Note permitted Ditech, on behalf of Fannie Mae, the “right to be
paid back . . . for all of its costs and expenses in enforcing” the Note, which included “reasonable
attorneys’ fees” (emphasis added).

74.  Ditech demanded Plaintiff pay these illegitimate fees despite also operating under
a Consent Order with the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. The Consent Order is attached
as Exhibit “H.”

75. The Order prohibits Ditech, Ditech’s officers, agents, and employees, and all other
persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order,
whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently restrained and enjoined from:

Making any material misrepresentation or assisting others in making any material

misrepresentation, expressly or by implication, including but not limited to
misrepresentations ...[t]hat consumers’ loans have certain unpaid balances,

11
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payment due dates, interest rates, monthly payment amounts, delinquency
statuses, and unpaid fees or other amounts due;

(Id. at 39-40).

76.  And further, the Order prohibits Ditech, Ditech’s officers, agents, and employees,
and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual notice
of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with collecting on past-due debt,
are permanently restrained and enjoined from:

Using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means, including but

not limited to falsely representing, directly or indirectly, expressly or by

implication: (1) the character, amount, or legal status of any debt... [and] [u]sing

any unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect any debt,

including but not limited to collecting any amount unless such amount is

expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law....

(Id. at 46-47).

77. Ditech’s President, Thomas J. Franco, signed the Order.

78.  Despite the Order’s specific prohibitions, Ditech knowingly, and deceptively,
demanded Plaintiff pay illegitimate amounts not due and owing.

79.  Additionally, the CFPB has received hundreds of complaints about Ditech’s

improper loan servicing practices, many involving similar complaints on requests for debt not

actually owed. https://www.consumerfinance.gov/data-research/consumer-

complaints/search/?company=Ditech%20Financial%20LLC&from=0&has narrative=true&sear

chField=all&searchText=&size=25&sort=created date desc

80.  Ditech’s knowledge can be imputed to Fannie Mae through agency theory. See,
e.g., Compass Bank v. Tania Lynn Vanpelt, No. CA10-1624 (Fla. Cir. Ct. April 2, 2015) (finding
knowledge under the FCCPA could be imputed from agents to the owner of the mortgage note and

holder through principles of agency).

12
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81.  Ditech and Fannie Mae have a pattern and practice of demanding illegal fees, and
disguising those fees, because Plaintiff received a form letter from Ditech that has routinely
generated line-items that included unlawful amounts.

82.  Ditech’s letters are form letters as shown by the identification code: “W FL
DEMAND.” Id.

83. On or about December 5, 2017, Plaintiff, through counsel, sent a cure letter to
Ditech and Fannie Mae, attaching a draft of a class action complaint with the same allegations
contained herein. See the letter attached as Exhibit “1.”

84.  After a reasonable amount of time, the Plaintiff filed this lawsuit because Ditech
and Fannie Mae didn't cure the breach of its violations of state and federal law.

85.  After Plaintiff made a demand and Defendant’s failed to cure, Defendant Ditech
sent another dunning letter to Plaintiff dated February 15, 2018. See Exhibit “J.”

86.  The February 15, 2018 letter stated:

If you wish to dispute the delinquency, or if you dispute the calculation of amount of the

delinquency and reinstatement amount, you may contact us by calling 1-800-643-0202.

Or call us via TDD at 1-800-643-0202 #711.

Id. at 2-3.

87.  The letter further advised:

Ditech Financial LLC is attempting to collect a debt, and any information

obtained will be used for that purpose. Unless you notify us within thirty (30)

days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or

any portion thereof, we will assume this debt is valid. If you notify us within

thirty (30) days from receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this

debt or any portion thereof, we will obtain verification of the debt or obtain a

copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification.

Upon your written request within thirty (30) days after the receipt of this

letter, we will provide you with the name and address of the original creditor,

if the original creditor is different from the current creditor.

Id. at 3 (emphasis in original).

13
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88.  Ditech acted as a debt collector by attempting to collect amounts on behalf of its
principal, Fannie Mae.

89.  Ditech chose not to follow the FDCPA’s notice requirements because it didn't
inform Plaintiff that any dispute of a debt must be in writing. See 15 U.S.C. § 1692g.

ADDITIONAL FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS REGARDING PLAINTIFF’S
INJURY CAUSED BY DEFENDANTS’ FCCPA, FDCPA, AND TILA VIOLATIONS

90. Plaintiff has a statutory right to receive accurate and timely information from
Ditech on his monthly mortgage statements. Also, Plaintiff has a statutory right to receive a clear
and conspicuous disclosure from Ditech about the fees and costs he is required to pay on his
mortgage loan.

91. By failing to respond with accurate information about the amounts owed under the
mortgage loan, Ditech deprived Plaintiff of his statutory right to accurate information under the
FDCPA, FCCPA, and TILA.

92. By failing to send clear and conspicuous disclosure on the Plaintiff’s periodic
statements about the amounts owed by Plaintiff on his mortgage loan, Ditech deprived Plaintiff of
his statutory right to clear and conspicuous disclosure under TILA.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
Florida Class 1

93.  Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by Ditech’s TILA violations
(the “Florida Class 1), subject to modification after discovery and case development:

All Florida residents to whom Ditech sent a periodic statement that

charged, collected, or attempted to collect a $15.00 “Corp Adv Disb” fee
for a property inspection during the applicable statute of limitations.

14
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Florida Class 2
94.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by Ditech’s
FCCPA and FDCPA violations (the “Florida Class 2”), subject to modification after discovery and
case development:
All Florida residents to whom Ditech charged, collected, or attempted to
collect a fee for a property inspection performed more frequently than
twenty days apart during the applicable statute of limitations.
Florida Class 3
95.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by Ditech’s
FDCPA violations (the “Florida Class 3”), subject to modification after discovery and case
development:
All Florida residents to whom Ditech sent a periodic statement that charged,
collected, or attempted to collect a $15.00 “Corp Adv Disb” fee during the
applicable statute of limitations.
Florida Class 4
96.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by Ditech’s
FDCPA violations (the “Florida Class 4”), subject to modification after discovery and case

development:

All Florida residents to whom Ditech sent a “W FL DEMAND” that
failed to notify the debtor that any dispute of the amount owed must be
“in writing” during the applicable statute of limitations.

97.  Class members are identifiable through Ditech’s records and payment databases.

15



Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1 Filed 05/10/18 Page 16 of 23 PagelD 16

98.  Excluded from the Class are Ditech; any entities in which it has a controlling
interest; its agents and employees; and any Judge to whom this action is assigned and any member
of such Judge’s staff and immediate family.

99.  Plaintiff proposes that he serve as class representative for the Class.

100. Ditech’s actions have harmed Plaintiff and the class members.

101. Numerosity is satisfied. There are likely thousands of class members. Individual
joinder of these persons is impracticable.

102. There are questions of law and fact common to Plaintiff and to the Class, including,
but not limited to:

a. Whether Ditech is liable for its failure to comply with TILA by failing to provide
accurate, clear, and conspicuous information in periodic statements;

b. Whether Ditech violated the FCCPA by charging monies not due;

c. Whether Ditech violated the FDCPA by charging monies not due;

d. Whether Plaintiff and class members are entitled to actual or statutory damages as
a result of Ditech’s actions;

e. Whether Plaintiff and class members are entitled to attorney’s fees and costs; and

f. Whether Ditech should be enjoined from engaging in such conduct in the future.

106. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Classes.

107. Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the Classes because his interests do not
conflict with the interests of the Classes, he will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the

Classes, and he is represented by counsel skilled and experienced in class actions.

16
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108. Common questions of law and fact predominate over questions affecting only
individual class members, and a class action is the superior method for fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy.

109. The prosecution of separate claims by individual class members would create a risk
of inconsistent or varying adjudications concerning individual class members.

COUNT I AS TO FANNIE MAE’S VIOLATION OF THE
THE TRUTH IN LENDING ACT 15 U.S.C. § 16392,
‘ (Florida Class 1)

110. Fannie Mae is a creditor under TILA that can be held vicariously liable for Ditech’s
TILA violations. See 15 U.S.C. § 1641(e); Lucien v. Fed. Nat. Mortg. Ass'n, 21 F. Supp. 3d 1379,
1388 (S.D. Fla. 2014).

111. TILA, requires that the creditor, assignee, or servicer provide a periodic statement
to the borrower setting forth certain disclosures like, inter alia: the amount due, explanation of
amount due, past payment breakdown, etc. 15 U.S.C. § 1638 ef seq., 12 CFR § 1026.41 ef seq.

103. TILA requires the creditor, assignee, or servicer to make the disclosures in a clear
and conspicuous manner and the information “shall reflect the terms of the legal obligation
between the parties.” 12 CFR §§ 1026.31(b), (d)(1); 12 CFR § 1026.41(c).

112. Ditech sent periodic statements to Plaintiff and the class with information that
contained illegal property inspection charges disguised as generic “Corp Adv Disb” fees; that did
not accurately reflect the terms of the legal obligation between the parties; and that was inaccurate,
unclear, and inconspicuous concerning the amounts due and owing under the Mortgage.

113. Ditech failed to comply with TILA when it sent periodic statements that contained
information that was inaccurate, unclear, and inconspicuous, and that did not accurately reflect the

terms of the legal obligation between the parties.

17
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114. Ditech has a pattern and practice of using form periodic statements that contain
inaccurate, unclear, and inconspicuous information.

115. Ditech’s failure to comply with TILA harmed Plaintiff and the class by depriving
them of the statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning their
mortgage loans.

116. As a result of Ditech’s failure to comply with TILA, Fannie Mae is liable to the
Plaintiff and class members for actual damages, plus statutory damages, together with reasonable
attorney’s fees and costs. 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a).

COUNT II AS TO DITECH’S VIOLATION OF
THE FLORIDA CONSUMER COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT § 559.72(9)
(Florida Class 2)

117. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(8) when he purchased
his home by mortgage.

118. Ditech is a “person” as defined under the FCCPA.

119. Ditech attempted to enforce, claimed, and asserted a known non-existent legal right
to a debt as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(6) when it attempted to collect and collected property
inspection fees not owed. Id. § 559.72(9).

120. Ditech knew it could not charge these property inspection fees because Fannie
Mae’s Guidelines specifically prohibit them from being charged more frequently than twenty days.

121. Ditech was also put on notice about charging fees not owed by agreeing to the
Consent Order.

122. By charging illegal fees, and failing to provide information in an accurate, clear and

conspicuous manner, Ditech attempted to collect an amount from Plaintiff and the class that they
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didn’t owe, and threatened to enforce the existence of a legal right (charging the fees) that didn’t
exist.

123. As a result of Ditech’s violation of the FCCPA, Plaintiff and class members are
entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages under § 559.77(2) of the FCCPA, together with
reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.

COUNT III AS TO DITECH’S VIOLATION OF
THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT § 1692¢
(Florida Class 3)

124. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) when he purchased a
home in Florida by mortgage.

125. Ditechis a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) because its principal
business purpose is the collection of debts, it was assigned Plaintiff’s mortgage loan while it was
in default, and it uses the United States mail for its principal business purpose: collecting debts.

126. Ditech engaged in “communications” with Plaintiff as defined by 15 U.S.C. §
1692a(2) when its sent periodic statements to Plaintiff and the class demanding payment of debts
not owed.

127. Ditech violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e when it used deceptive and misleading to collect
debts contained in periodic statements sent to Plaintiff and the class and when it threatened to take
an action (charging illegitimate property inspections) that could not be legally taken.

128. Ditech also used the deceptive and misleading “Corp Adv Disb” description to
disguise the property inspection fees so borrowers would not dispute the fees legitimacy.

129. Ditech’s violation of the FDCPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving him of the statutory

right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning amounts due and owing under his

mortgage loan.
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130. Asaresult of Ditech’s violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, Plaintiff and class members
are entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1692(k), together with

reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.
COUNT IV AS TO DITECH’S VIOLATION OF
THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT § 1692f
(Florida Class 3)

131. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) when he purchased a
home in Florida by mortgage.

132. Ditech is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) because its
principal business purpose is the collection of debts, it was assigned Plaintiff’s mortgage loan
while it was in default, and it uses the United States mail for its principal business purpose:
collecting debts.

133. Ditech engaged in “communications” with Plaintiff as defined by 15 U.S.C. §
1692a(2) when its sent periodic statements to Plaintiff and the class demanding payment of debts
not owed.

134. Ditech violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692f when it used unfair and unconscionable means
to collect debts contained in periodic statements sent to Plaintiff and the class and when it charged
and threatened to charge late fees not expressly authorized by agreement.

135. Ditech also used the deceptive and misleading “Corp Adv Disb” description to
disguise the property inspection fees so borrowers would not dispute the fees legitimacy.

136. Ditech’s violation of the FDCPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving him of the statutory

right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning amounts due and owing under his

mortgage loan.
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137. Asaresult of Ditech’s violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692f, Plaintiff and class members
are entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1692(k), together with

reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.

COUNT V AS TO DITECH’S VIOLATION OF
THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT § 1692f
(Florida Class 4)

138. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) because he is a natural
person allegedly obligated to pay a debt in connection with the purchase of a home.

139. Ditech is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) because its principal
business purpose is the collection of debts, it was assigned Plaintiff’s mortgage loan while it was
in default, and it uses the United States mail for its principal business purpose: collecting debts.

140. The letter Ditech sent to Plaintiff is a “communication” as defined under 15 U.S.C.
§ 1692a(2).

141. Ditech attempted to collect a consumer debt as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5)
because Plaintiff was allegedly obligated to pay a debt in connection with the purchase of a home
for personal, family, or household purposes.

142.  The February 2, 2018 letter Ditech sent to Plaintiff violated the FDCPA because it
excluded the statutorily required disclosures. The letter failed to state that any dispute of the debt
must be in writing, a disclosure required by 15 U.S.C. § 1692g.

143.  As a result of Ditech’s FDCPA violation, Plaintiff suffered substantial damage,
including but not limited to the deprivation of his statutory right to dispute the debt, the deprivation
of the right to basic information needed to assess the legitimacy of the debt, and deprivation of the

statutory right to information needed to dispute the accuracy of the debt.
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144.

JURY DEMAND
Plaintiff is entitled to and respectfully demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable.

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE. Plaintiff, himself and on behalf of the Classes, respectfully requests this

Court to enter judgment against Ditech for all of the following:

a.

b.

That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded actual damages, including but not
limited to forgiveness of all amounts not owed;

That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded statutory damages for each of

Plaintiff’s claims;

C.

d.

That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded costs and attorney’s fees;

That the Court enter a judgment permanently enjoining Ditech from charging
and/or collecting debt in violation of the FCCPA;

That the Court enter a judgment permanently enjoining Ditech from charging
and/or collecting debt in violation of the FDCPA;

That the Court enter a judgment permanently enjoining Ditech and Fannie Mae
from providing borrowers inaccurate, unclear, and inconspicuous information in
violation of TILA;

That, should the Court permit the continued charging and/or collecting debt, it enter
a judgment requiring the adoption of measures ensuring FDCPA, TILA, and
FCCPA compliance, and that the Court retain jurisdiction for a period of six months
to ensure that compliance with those measures;

That the Court enter a judgment awarding any other injunctive relief necessary to

ensure compliance with the FDCPA, TILA, and the FCCPA;
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(

i. That the Court enter an order that Ditech and Fannie Mae and its agents, or anyone
acting on their behalf, are immediately restrained from altering, deleting or
destroying any documents or records that could be used to identify class members;

j- That the Court certify Plaintiff’s claims and all other persons similarly situated as
class action claims under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure; and

k. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: May 8, 2018 Respectfully Submitted,

s/ James L. Kauffman

James L. Kauffman (Fla. Bar. No. 12915)
1054 31st Street, Suite 230

Washington, DC 20007

Telephone: (202) 463-2101

Facsimile: (202) 342-2103

Email: jkauffman@baileyglasser.com

Darren R. Newhart, Esq.

Florida Bar No.: 0115546

E-mail: darren@cloorg.com

J. Dennis Card Jr., Esq

Florida Bar No.: 0487473
E-mail:DCard@Consumerlaworg.com
Consumer Law Organization, P.A.
721 US Highway 1, Suite 201
North Palm Beach, Florida 33408
Telephone: (561) 692-6013
Facsimile: (305) 574-0132

Counsel for Plaintiff and the Putative Class
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“We're now at the point of maximum vulnerability. People’s
emotional attachment to their property is melting into the air.”

Sam Khater, deputy chief economist at CorelLogic, February 2010

“No one remained untouched [during
the foreclosure crisis], not homeowners,
Wall Street, investors or the government...”

Sam Khater, deputy chief economist at Corelogic, May 2011

“We are seeing an ongoing stréngthening of the residential
housing market...”

Anand Nallathambi, president and CEO of Corelogic .December 2012

“The housing market is clearly on the mend,
but we expect the ultimate conclusion of the
present housing down cycle to be another
several years away...”

Anand Nallathambi, president and CEO of CorelLogic . June 2013

“The pathway to a full recovery in housing is proving to
be a very long one, but lower distressed stock levels are
one clear indicator that we continue to make slow-but-
steady progress...”

Anand Nallathambi, president and CEO of CoreLogic , April 2014

“Job market gains and home-price appreciation help to push serious delinquency
and foreclosure rates lower. The Corelogic national HPI showed home prices in
July rose 6.9% from a year earlier, building equity for homeowners...”

Frank Nothaft, chief economist at Corelogic, September 2015

“Foreclosure inventory fell by 30 percent from
the previous year, the largest year-over-year
decline since January 2015.”

Frank Nothaft, chief economist at CorelLogic, October 2016
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State Foreclosure Data

Peak year, peak month, peak number, unemployment rate in that state in the
peak month, total foreclosures for each state from 2007-2016

FORECLOSURE TOTAL FORECLOSURES BY
neeveom® | owemeawrt | Twvewomy | eNEPLOWENT | S sonr o veans
PEAK YEAR PEAK MONTH IN THOUSANDS PEAK MONTH N THOU&SAND'S
Natlonal 20M January 1,563 9.0% 7,783
Alaska 201 January 1 8.7% 9
Alabama 20M January 10 1M.0% 81
Arkansas 2013 February 7 8.1% 56
Arizona 2010 December 49 9.9% 399
California 2008 October 193 11.6% 1M
Colorado 2010 December 8 8.8% 159
Connecticut 2012 April 22 8.0% 38
District of Columbia 201 October 3 10.1% 5
Delaware 20Mm January 5 8.5% 16
Florida 2010 December 394 10.7% 960
Georgia 20 January 42 10.8% 473
Hawaii 2012 April 8 6.2% n
lowa 2010 December 9 5.9% 46
idaho 2010 December 7 9.0% 48
Ninois 2012 February 106 9.6% 267
Indiana 2012 January 33 9.2% 183
Kansas 20M February 6 7.2% 45
Kentucky 2012 January 13 2.0% 35
Louisiana 20m January 14 8.8% 79
Massachusetts 20m March 20 7.7% 65
Maryland 2012 August 45 7% 109
Maine 2012 January 7 8.7% 7
Michigan 201 January 42 1.5% 553
Minnesota 2010 December 19 7.0% 103
Missouri 2010 December 13 9.2% 170
Mississippi 2010 December 7 10.3% 20
Montana 201 January 2 8.6% 12
North Carolina 2012 January 35 10.0% 231
North Dakota 20Mm February <1 4.3% 4
Nebraska 2010 December 3 4.3% 23
New Hampshire 2010 December 4 5.3% 26
New Jersey 2012 September 89 9.0% 85
New Mexico 2012 April 9 6.6% 24
Nevada 2010 December 43 13.6% 219
New York 2012 August 101 8.5% 98
Ohio 20M February 56 9.8% 326
Oklahoma 201 February n 6.4% 94
Oregon 2012 April 20 8.9% 79
Pennsylvania 2012 August 47 8.3% 162
Rhode Island 201 February 5 N.7% i9
South Carolina 2012 February 25 10.0% 1o
South Dakota 2012 January 1 5.0% n/a
Tennessee 20m January 17 10.1% 210
Texas 20N August 47 8.0% 529
Utah 2010 December n 7.3% 59
Virginia 201 January 21 71% 163
Vermont 2012 January 2 5.8% n/a
Washington 2013 January 29 8.4% 155
Wisconsin 20M January 20 8.8% 89
West Virginia 20m February 2 9.6% 8
Wyoming 2010 December 1 6.2% 7

Source: Coret.ogic
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Ten States with the Highest Peak
Foreclosure Rate

06/20M [ | Peak Foreclosure %

12/2010 December 2016

Foreclosure %

03/2013

02/2012

08/2012

cT 04/2012E
ME 01/2012
MD 08/2012

HI 08/2012
AZ 12/2010

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14%

Source: CoreLogic

Foreclosure Crisis Chronology
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Peak Foreclosure Rate for
the Largest Ten CBSAs

y | Peak Foreclosure %
Miami P ' 02/201
Las Vegas :’-2/2010 December 2016
‘ Foreclosure %
Chicago F 107201
New York 09/2012
Los Angeles S 10/2009
Washington DC 08/202
Boston 12/20\0%
Denver [ 01/zo0n
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San Francisco M 05/zon :
0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25%
Source: CoreL.ogic
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Delinquencies - A Leading Indicator

Early stage delinquencies may be a leading indicator of future

loan performance.

: " 6 /o NATIONAL DECEMBER DECEMBER DECEMBER DECEMBER

2013 2014 2015 20186

CORELOGIC REPORTS THE
NUMBER OF MORTGAGES

IN SERIOUS DELINQUENCY, DELINQUENCY RATES

DEFINED AS 90 DAYS OR

MORE PAST DUE INCLUDING 30 to 59 Days Past Due 2.6% 2.4% 2.3% 2.2%
LOANS IN FORECLOSURE o . o o

OR REO. THE DELINGUENCY 60 to 89 Days Past Due 1.0% 0.9% 0.8% 0.8%
RATE (PAYMENTS PAST 90 119 Days Past Due 0.5% 0.4% 0.4% 0.4%
DUE BY 30, 60 OR 90

DAYS) CONTINUES TO BE 90+ Days Past due and in Foreclosure 5.2% 41% 3.3% 2.6%
A LEADING INDICATOR

OF TROUBLED MARKETS. In Foreclosure 2.2% 1.5% 1.2% 0.9%
AT THE END OF 20186,

PMILLIGN MO5 TGAGES. G TRANSITION RATES

a?Tzsic:g;TZZSSIﬁ:RE current to 30 1.2% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0%
IN SERIOUS DELINQUENCY, 30 to 60 18.1% 15.3% 16.2% 16.9%
COMPARED TO THE SERIOUS

DELINQUENCY PEAK OF 60 to 90 30.3% 28.3% 27.9% 28.5%
37 MICION IN JANCARY

2010. IN RECENT YEARS Source: CoreLogic
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e e v Current-to-30 Day Roll Rates
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National Foreclosure Report Methodology

The data in this report represents foreclosure activity reported between January 2000 and December 2016.

This report separates state data into judicial versus non-judicial foreclosure state categories. In judicial foreclosure states, lenders must provide
evidence to the courts of delinquency in order to move a borrower into foreclosure. In non-judicial foreclosure states, lenders can issue notices
of default directly to the borrower without court intervention. This is an important distinction since judicial states, as a rule, have longer
foreclosura t:mel nes. thus =ffecting foreclosure statistics.

A completed foreclosure occurs when a property is auctioned and resuits in the purchase of the home at auction by either a third party. such
as an investor, or by the iender. If the home is purchased by the iender, it is moved into the lender’s real estate-owned (REO) inventory. In
“foreclosure by advertisement” states, a redemption period begins after the auction and runs for a statutory period, e.g., six months. During
that period, the borrower may regain the foreclosed home by paying all amounts due as calculated under the statute. For purposes of this
Foreclosure Report, because so few homes are actually redeemed following an auction, it is assumed that the foreclosure process ends in
"foreclosure by advertisement” states at the completion of the auction.

The foreclosure inventory represents the number and share of mortgaged homes that have been placed into the process of foreclosure by

the mortgage servicer. Mortgage servicers sta-t tihe foreclosure process when the mortgage reaches a specific level of serious delinguency

as dictated by the investor for the mortgage loan. Once a foreclosure is "started,” and absent the borrower paying all amounts necessary to
halt the foreclosure, the home remains in foreclosure until the completed foreclosure results in the sale to a third party at auction or the home
enters the lender’s REQ inventory. The data in this report accounts for only first liens agamst a property and does not include secondary liens.
The foreclosure inventory is measured only against homes that have an outstanding mortgage. Generally, homes with no mortgage liens are not
subject to foreclosure and are, therefore, excluded from the analysis. Approximately one-third of homes nationally are owned outright and do
not have a mortgage. CoreLogic has approximately 85 percent coverage of U.S. foreclosure data.

SOURCE: CORELOGIC

The data provided is for use only by the primary recipient or the primary recipient's publication or broadcast. This data may not be re-sold,
republished or licensed to any other source, including publications and sources owned by the primary recipient’s parent company without prior
written permission from CorelLogic. Any CorelLogic data used for publication or broadcast, in whole or in part, must be sourced as coming from
Corelogic. a data and analytics company. For use with broadcast or web content. the citation must directly accempany first reference of the
data. if the data is illustrated with maps, charts, graphs or other visual elements, the CoreLogic logo must be included on screen or website.
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NOTE -

(For Electronic Signature)

miN: 1001625000
January 08, 2009
[Date)
Winter Park , Fl.
[City) , [State}

3970 Od Punn Rd
Anopka . F1, 32712

{Property Address)
1. BORROWER'S PROMISE TO PAY

In retumn for a loan that | have received, | promise to pay U.S. $174,000.00 (this amount is called "Principal”), plus interesl, to the
order of the Lender. The Lender is AmTrust Bank . § will make all payments under this Note in the form of cash, check or money
order.

| understand that the Lender may transfer this Note. The Lender or anyone who takes this Note by transfer and who is entitled to
recelve payments under this Note is called the “Note Holder."

2. INTEREST .
Interest will be charged on unpaid principal until the fufl amount of Principal has been paid. | will pay interest at a yearly rate of

The interest rate required by this Section 2 is the rate | will pay both before and after any default described in Section 6(B) of this
Note.

3. PAYMENTS

{A) Time and Place of Payments

| wil pay principal and interest by making a payment every month.

| will make my monthly payment on the 15t day of each month beginning on March 01, 2609 . | will make these payments every
month untll | have paid afl of the principal and Interest and any other charges described below that | may owe under this Note.
Each monthly payment will be applied es of its scheduled due date and will be applied to intarest befcre Principal. If, on

Eebruary 01, 2039 , | stifl owe amounts under this Note, | will pay those amounts in full on that date, which is called the "Malurity
Date”

| will make my monthiy payments al P.O Box 780376 , St Louis , MO 831780376 or at a different place If required by the Note
Holder.

{B) Amount of Monthly Payments

My monthly payment will be [n the amount of U.S. $860.83 .

4. BORROWER'S RIGHT TO PREPAY

i have the right to make payments of Principa! at any time before they are due. A payment of Principal only is known as a

*Prepayment.” When | make a Prepayment, | will tell the Note Holder in writing that  am doing so. | may not designate a
payment as a Prepayment if | have not mads all the monthly paymentis due under the Note.

EX}EIBIT
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1 may make a full Prepayment or partial Prepayments without paying a Prepayment charge. The Note Holder will use my
Prepayments to reduce the amount of Principa! that | owe under this Note. However, the Note Holder may apply my Prepayment
to the accrued and unpaid interest on the Prepayment amount, before applying my Prepayment to reduce the Principal amount
of the Note. If  make a partial Prepayment, there will be no changes in the due date or in the amount of my monthly payment
uniess the Note Holder agrees in writing to those changes.

5. LOAN CHARGES

if a taw, which applles to this loan and which seis maximum loan charges, is finally interpreted so that the interest or other toan
charges collected or to be collected in connaction with this losn exceed the permitied ilmits, then: (a) any such toan charge shall
be reduced by the amount necessary to reduca the charge to the penmitted imit; and (b) any sums already collected from ms
which exceeded permitted imits will be refunded to me. The Note Holder may choose to make this refund by reducing the
Principal | owe under this Note or by making a direct payment to me. if a refund reduces Principal, the reduction will be treated

as a partial Prepayment.
6. BORROWER'S FAILURE TO PAY AS REQUIRED
(A) Late Charge for Overdue Payments

If the Note Holder has no! raceived the full amount of any monthly payment by the end of Fifieen calendar days after the date it
is dus, | will pay a late charge to the Note Ho!dsr. The amount of the charge will be 5,000% of my overdue payment of principal
and interest. | will pay this late charge promptly but enly once on each late payment.

(8) Defauit
If 1 do not pay the full amount of each monthly payment an the date it is due, | will be in defauit.
(C) Notice of Deofault

If 1 am in defaull, the Note Holder may send me a wrilten notice telling me that if | do not pay the overdue amouni by a cerlain
dale, the Nota Holder may require me to pay immediately the full amount of Principal which has not been pald and all the
interest that | owe on thal amouni. That date must be al least 30 days after the date on which the notice is mailed to ma or
dglivered by other means. ,

(D) No Waiver By Note Holder

Even if, a1 a time when | am in default, the Note Holder does not require me to pay immediately in full as described above, the
Note Ho!der will st} have the right {o do so if | am In default at a later Eme.

{E) Payment of Note Holder’s Costs and Expenses

If tha Note Ho!der has required me to pay immediately in full as described above, the Note Holder will have the right to be pald
back by me for afl of its costs and expenses in enforcing this Note to the extent not prohibited by applicable law. Those
expenses include, for example, reasonable attomeys’ lees.

7. GIVING OF NOTICES

Uniess applicable law requires a different method, any notice that must be given to me under this Note will be given by defivering
it or by malling It by first class mail to me at the Property Address above or at a different address if | give the Note Holdera
notice of my different address. .

Any notice that must be given to the Note Holder under this Note will te given by delivering &t or by malling it by first class mall to
the Note Holder at the address stated in Section 3{A) above or at a different address if | am given a notice of that different
address.

8. OBLIGATIONS OF PERSONS UNDER THIS NOTE

If moro than one person signs this Note, each person is fully and personally cbligated to keep all of the promises made In this
Note, incluging the promise to pay the full amount owed. Any person who is a guarantor, surely or endorser of this Note is also
cbiigated to do these things. Any person who takes aver these obligations, including tha obligations of a guarantor, surely or
endorser of this Note, is also obligated to keep all of the promises made in this Note. The Note Holder may enforce its rights
under this Note against each person individually or against all of us togsther. This means that any ane of us may be required to
pay all of the amounts owed under this Note.
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9. WAIVERS ‘.

| and any other person who has obligations under this Note waive the rights of Presentment and Notice of Dishonor.
“Presentment® mgans tha right to require the Note Ho!der to demand payment of amounts due. “Notice of Dishonor” means the
right to require the Note Holder to give notice to other persons that amounts due have not been paid.

10. UNIFORM SECURED NOTE

This Note is a uniform Instrument with [imited vasiations in some jurisdictions. In addition to the protections given to the Note
Hotder under this Nole, a Mortgage, Deed of Trust, or Security Deed (the "Security Instrument”), dated the same date as this
Note, protects the Nots Holder from possible logses which might result if | do not keep the promises which | make in this Note.
That Security Instrument describes how and under what conditions ) may be required to make immediate payment in full of afl
amounts | owe under this Note. Some of those conditions are described as follows:

if all or any part of the Property or any Interest in the Property is sold or transferred (or if Borrower is not a natural person and a
beneficial interest in Borrower is sold or transfemed) without Lender’s prior written consent, Lender may require immediate
payment in full of elt sums secured by this Security Instrumsnt. However, this option shall not be exercised by Lender if such
exercise is prohibited by Applicable Law.

if Lender exercises this option, Lender shall give Borrower notice of acceleration. The notice shall provide a period of nol tess
than 30 days from the date the notice is given in accordance with Section 15 within which Borrower must pay &ll sums secured
by this Security Instrument. If Berrower falls to pay these sums prior to the expiration of this period, Lender may invoke any
remedies permitled by this Security Instrument without further notice or demand on Borrower.

11. DOCUMENTARY TAX
The state documentary tax dug on this Note has been patd on the morigage securing this indebtedness.

12. ISSUANCE OF TRANSFERABLE RECORD:; IDENTIFICATION OF NOTE HOLDER;
CONVERSION FROM ELECTRONIC NOTE TO PAPER-BASED NOTE

{A) | expressly state that | have signed this electronically created Nota (the "Electronic Note™) using an Electronic Signature. By
doing this, 1 am indicating that § agree to the terms of this Electronic Note. | also agree that this Eleclronic Note may be
Authenticated, Stored and Transmitted by Electronic Means (as defined in Section 12 (F)), and will be vatid for all tegal
purposes, as set forth in the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, as enacted in the Jurisdiction where the Property is located
{"UETA"), the Electronic Signatures in Global and Natignal Commerce Act ("E-SIGN"), or both, as spplicable. In addition, | agree
that this Electronic Note will bs an effective, enforceabls and vatld Transferable Record (as defined in Section 12 (F)) and may
be created, authenticated, stored, transmitted and transforred In a manner consistent with and parmitted by the Transferable
Records sections of UETA or ESIGN.

(B) Excep! as indicated in Sections 12 (D) and (E) below, the identity of the Note Holder and any person to whom this Electronic
Note is later transferved will be recorded In a registry maintained by MERSCORP, Inc., a Delawara comoration or in another
registry to which the records are later transferred (the "Note Holder Registry”). The authoriiative copy of this Electronic Note wil
be the copy ldantified by the Nate Holder after toan closing but prior to registration in the Note Holder Registry. If this Electronic
Note has been registered in the Note Holder Registry, then the authoritative copy will be the copy identified by the Note Holder
of record in the Note Holder Registry of the Loan Servicer (as defined in the Securily Instrument) acting at the direction of the
Note Holder, as the authoritative copy. The current identity of the Note Holder and the location of the authoritative copy, as
refectad in the Note Holder Registry, will be available fram the Note Holder or Loan Sesvicer, as applicable. The only copy of
this Electronic Note that is the authoritative copy is the copy that is within the control of the person identified as the Note Holder
in the Note Holder Reglstry (or that person's designee). No other copy of this Electronic Note may be the authoritative copy.

(C) If Section 12 (B) fails to identify a Note Holder Regisiry, the Note Holder (which inciudes any person lo whom this Elaclm{nic
Note is later transferred) will be established by, and identified in accordance with, the systems and processes of the elsctronic
storage system on which this Electronic Note is stored.
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(D) 1 expressly agroa that the Note Holder and any persen to whom this Electronic Note is later transferred shall have the right to
convert this Electronic Note at any time into a paper-based Note (the "Paper-Based Note"). In the event this Electronic Note is
converied into a Paper-Based Note, | further expressly agree that: (j) the Paper-Based Note will be an effective, enforceable and
valid negotiable Instrument governed by the applicable provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code In effect in the jurisdiction
where the Property is located: (if) my signing of this Electronic Note will be deemed issuance and defivery of the Paper-Based
Note: (ifi) | intend that the printing of the representation of my Elecironic Signature upon the Paper-Based Note from the system
In which the Electronic Note is stored will be my original signature on the Paper-Based Note and will sesve to indicate my
present intentian to authonticate the Paper-Based Note; (iv) the Paper-Based Note will be 8 valld original writing for all legal
purposes; and (v) upon conversion to a Paper-Based Note, my cbligations in the Electronic Note shall automatically transfer to
and be contained In the Paper-Based Note, and | intend to be bound by such cbligations.

{E) Any conversion of this Electronic Note to a Paper-Based Note will be made using processes and methods that ensure that:
(i) the information and signalures on the face of the Paper-Based Note are a complete and accurate reproduction of those
reflected on the face of this Electronic Note (whather criginally handwritten or manifested in other symbotic form); (@) the Note
Holder of this Electronic Note at the time of such conversion has maintained control and possession of the Paper-Based Note;
(i) this Electronic Note can no longer be transferred 1o a new Note Holder; and (iv) the Note Holder Registry (as defined above),
or any system or process identified in Seclion 12 (C) above, shows that this Elsctronic Note has been convertedto 8
Paper-Based Note, and dslivered to the then-current Nate Halder.

(F) The following terms and phrases are defined as follows: (i) *Authenticated, Stored and Transmitted by Electronic Means®
means that this Electronic Note will be identified as the Note that | signed, saved, and sent using electrica), digial, wireless, or
similar technology; (i) "Elecironic Record” means a record crealed, generated, sent, communicated, received, or stored by
electronic means; (ill) “Electronic Signature™ mesns an electronic symbol or process attached to or logically assoclated with @
record and executed or adopted by a parson with the intent to sign a record; (iv) "Record® means information that is inscribed on
a tangible medium or that s stored in an electronic or other medium and is retrievable in perceivable form; and (v) "Transferable
Record” means an elactronic record that: (a) would be a note under Articte 3 of the Uniform Commercial Code if the electronic
record were in writing and (b) |, as the issuer, have agreed is a Transferabls Record.

WITNESS THE HAND(S) AND SEAL(S) OF THE UNDERSIGNED
Electronically signed by Charles S Rodriguez on 1/9/2009 4:03:25 PM ET

[Sign Original Only)
Florida Fixed Rate eNoto — Single Family — Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac UNIFORM INSTRUMENT Form 3210e S/05
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-~ This docunent prepared by: .
vt ARS Funding Group, Inc
. {Company Neme]

[Nems of Natural Person]
300 Wilshire Bivd
[Strect Address]
Cassclberry, FL 32707
[City, State Zip Code]
JSpace Above This Line For Recording Data].
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MORTGAGE
DEFINITIONS

Wmdsuxdbmutﬁplcwcﬁomoﬂbh@marsdeﬂmdwowmdo&wwoﬁsmdeﬁmdh Sections 3, 11,
13, 18,20 and 21. Cmdnmlsmdhsﬁnmeofmwhthhdomaealwmﬁddhsmm

(A) mmmwmwdmmwuwxm&m.wmwmmw
this document.

®) “Borrower” is  Charles Rodriguez and Belinda Rodrignez, husband snd wife. Bomower Is the

© “mhmmmmwmmmmnwmekmm
solely as a nominee for Lender and Leader’s successors and assigns, MERS &s the mortgagee under this Security
Instrument, m&mmmmmmofwmmm“mmum
number of P.O. Box 2026, Filnt, MI 48501-2026, tcl. (888) 679-MERS,

4 ender” i3 AmTrust Bank. Lender is 8 Federa) Savings Bank organized and existing under the faws of
The Untted States of America, Lender's address is 1801 East Ninth Street Sulte 260, Cleveland, OH 44114,

®) “Note” meens the promissory note signed by Borrower and dated January 8, 2009. Tho Note states that
Bormower owes Lender One Handred Seveaty Four Thousend and 00/100tks Dollars (U.S. $174,000.60) plus
interest, mwmmwmmbmmmmmmmwwwcd&thﬂmmm

than February 1,2039.

mmwm—mmmmumw Rorm 3010 101
Ine Tofi4  Medificd by Col Source 14301FL 11/04 Rev, 0483

The Complisnce Source, Pagelo by Complisnte e | 4w
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® Wmmwwwnmmabemmmmmwmmm
(G)  “Loan™ means tho debt evidenced by the Nots, plus interest, eny prepayment charges and late charges due
under the Nats, and el sums duo under this Sesurity Instsument, plus interost,

(H)  *Riders” means all Riders to this Security Instrument that are executed by Bomower. The following Riders
ave to be executed by Borrower [cheok box as applicable]:

[] Adjustable Rate Rider ] Condomintum Rider Second Home Rider

[] Bailoon Ridor X} Planned Unit Development Rider Biweekly Payment Rider
] 1-4 Pamily Ridor [] Revocable Trest Rider

[] Othes(s) [specify]

® “Applicable Law” means all controliing applicable federal, state and local statutes, regulations, ordinences
and administrative rules and orders (that bave the effect of law) s well as all applicable final, non-gppealable

Judiclal opinions.

) “Community Association Dues, Fees, and Assessments™ means all ducs, foes, assessmonts and other
wmmmwmmmmmmwammm“mmmmm
8!

g (K)  “Electronic Funds Transfer” means any transfer of funds, othor than a transaction criginatod by check,

draft, or similar paper instrumeant, which i initiated through an clestronio terminal, telephonic instrument, computer,
@. ' or magnetio tape 80 83 o order, nstruct, or puthorize a financial institution to debit or credit an account, Sush term
includes, but is not limited to, point-of-salo transfurs, entomated teller machine transactions; transfers initlated by
telephone, wire transfers, end automated clearinghouse transfers.

(i ] “Escrow Items” means those items that are described In Secilon 3.

(1)) 'mmmummememxmmofmmammw
wmwm(mummmMpﬂdMummmhmﬂm (i) demage to,
or destruction of, the Property; ({1) condemnation or other teking of all or any past of the Property; (iif) couvoyanoe
in licu of condesnnation; or (iv) misrepresentations of, or omissions as to, the value end/cr condition of the Propesty.

M) “Mortgage Insurance™ means insurance protecting Lender against the nonpayment of, or defhult on, the
Loan.

oates s geneon

A LR

(0)  “Periodic Payment” means the reguluily scheduled amount dus for (f) principal and interest under the
Nots, plus (1) any amounts under Section 3 of this Security Instrument.

®) “RESPA® means the Real Estate Settloment Procedures Act (12 US.C. §2601 et seq) and its
!mplthswgulﬂlmnqulaﬂanxmcr.&mxmxasﬁwymlghtbemdedﬁomdmcmdme,orany
additional or successor legistation or regulation that govems the samo subject matter. As used in this Secusity
xmmmnswmmmmmsmmwmmumwhmmwm
mwmﬂmsfmmaamwgmwmmwwmmm

Q uSuccessor o Tuterest of Borrower™ means any party that hes taken title to ths Property, whether ot ol
mmwmwsm's»ngﬁmmmmwwmmmmm

iy

,,g Florida Mortgage—Stagle Family—Vasule Mae/Freddic Mac Unlform Instrument Form 3010 1/03
MERS Mod!
mmmm Page2ofl4 memtn:mnniwmm
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TRANSFER OF RIGHTS IN THE PROPERTY

9 Tho beneficlary of this Secwrity Instrumont is MERS (solely ss nominee for Lender and Lender's
8 sucoessors and assigns) and the successors and assigns of MERS, This Securlty Instrumént secures to Lender: (1)
the repayment of the Lozn, and all renewals, extensions and modifications of tho Note; and (1) the pesformance of
Bomower's covenants end agreements undst this Security Instrument and the Noto, For this purposs, Borrower
irrevocebly grants and conveys to Trustee, in trust, with power of sale, the following described property located in
mc . [ 2

recorded in Plat Book 55, Pages 103 through 105, inclusive, of the Pdblic Records of
which currently has the eddress of 3970 Old Duna Rl range County, Florida.

,Florida 32712 (“Property Address™):
[City) [Zip Code)
Tixx Parcel ID No.: 172028742406870

- TOGETHER WITH all the improvemeats now or hereafler erected on the property, snd all casaments,
appurtenances, and fixtures now or hercaficr a past of the property. All replacements and additions ‘shall also bo
f\ covered by this Security Instrument. All of the foregolng is referred to In this Security Instrument as tho “Property.”
, Borrower understands and agrocs that MERS holds only legal title to the Interests granted by Borrower in this
Security Instrument, but, if necessary to comply with law or custom, MERS (as nominee for Lender and Lender's
sucoessors and assigns) has the right: 1o exercise any or all of those interests, including, but not limited to, the right
to foreclose and sell the Property; and to take any action required of Lender including, but not Himited to, releasing
and canceling this Security Instrument.

BORROWERCOVBNANRMWMW&W&M&MWW@;:WMM%
right to mortgage, grant and convey the Property and that the Property is uncneumbered, exocpt for cacumbrances
record. Borrower watrants and will defend gonerally the title to the Property agalnst all clalms and demands, subject
to any encumbrances of record.

THIS SECURITY INSTRUMENT combines uniform covenants for natlonal use and non-uniform
covenents with Emited variztions by jurisdiction to constitute a untform security instrument covering real propesty.

UNIFORM COVENANTS, Bormrower and Lender covenant and agres as follows:

1. Payment of Principsl, luterest, Escrow Items, Prepayment Charges, and Late Charges,
Bomower shall pay when dus the principal of, and interest on, the debt evidencod by the Note and any prepayment
charges and late charges due under the Note, Bosrower shall also pay fimds for Escrow Hems pursuznt to Section 3.

duo undez the Note and this Security Instroment shall bo mads in U.S, cunrency. Howover, if any check or
other Instrument received by Leader as paymest under the Noto or this Seourity Instrument is returned to Lender
unpaid, Lender may require that any or al) subsequent payments due under the Note and this Scourlty Instument be
made in one or more of the following forms, as selested by Lender: (a)eash;t(,b)mcyowu:(o)cmlﬁeddmk,

=

SN FOLE T s g

bank checlr, treasurer’s check or cashler's check, provided any such check upon an institution whoso
dsposits are insured by a foderal agency, instrumentslity, os entlty; or (d) Eleotronic Funds Transfer.

Florida Mortgago—Siogle Pamily—Fanole Mac/Freddie Mac Unorm Instraxest Form 3010 101
MERS Modificd
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Psyments are docmed reocived by Lender when recelved at the location desigoatod [n the Noto or at such
other location as may be designated by Lender in accordance with the notice provisions in Seotion 15. Lender may
vetayn any payment or partial payment if the payment or partial payments ere insufficlent to bring the Loan current,
Lender may accept any psyment or putial payment insufficient to bring the Loan current, withoul waiver of any
rights hereunder or prejudics to Hs rights to refuso such payment or partial payments in the fiiture, but Lender is not
obﬁgﬁedtoayﬁ:mbwymmheﬁmemhpaymeutsmm 1t each Periodic Payment Is applied as of
its scheduled dus date, then Lender need not pay interest on unapplied finds, Lender may hold such unapplied
funds unti} Borrower makes paymeat to bring the Loan curmreat. If Borrower does not do so within a reasonable
period of time, Lender shall either apply such funds or return them to Borrower. If not applied earller, such funds
will be applied-to tho cutstanding principa! balance under tho Note Immediatoly prior to foreclosure, No offict or
claim which Borrower might have stow or in tho future egainst Lender shall rellove Borrower from making payments
mwmmmm&smmmwwmhgummwmwm

. Security Instrument,
2. Apptication of Payments or Proceeds, Except as otherwise described In this Scction 2, all payments
accepted and epplied by Lender shall bo applied in the following order of priority: (g) interest due under the Note;
(b) principal duc under the Note; (c) amounts duo under Section 3. Such payments shall bo epplied to eash Periodic
Payment in tho order in which it becams dus. Any remaining amounts shall be applied first to late charges, sccond
to any other amounts due under this Sccurity Instrument, and then to reduse the principal balence of the Nots,
. If Lender roccives a payment from Borrower for a delinqueat Periodic Payment which includes a sufficient
- wwwwmmmmmmwuwwwmmmmmmmm i 4
. moro than ons Periodic Payment is outstanding, Lender may apply any payment received from Borower to the
¥ repaytwnoflhcl’aiodfcl’aymmmdbdwmn&m.mabwmmhpddhmwmmm
wmmmmwhm&dbmmnwdmammh@ﬁcwm«m
: may be epplied to any late charges due. Vohumtary propayments shall be applied first to eny prepaymsat charges and
g then as desoribed in the Note.
@ Any application of payments, insurnce proceeds, or Miscellaneous Proceeds to principal due under the
Note shall not extend or postpone the dus dats, or change the amount, of the Periodic Payments. .
. 3. Funds for Bserow Items. Bomrower shall pay to Leades on the day Periodic Paymeats are dus under
y tthozc,umllmNoahpﬂdhmlkam(ﬁs“PM”)hmwiaefwwmmlofmmmfm {a) taxcs and
. essessmonts and other items which can ettaln priority over this Security Instrunsont 85 8 Hon or encumbrance on the
m@)muwmmmmdmmmmwm@mmwmymmmu
mwmwms;mmmmmmmwmmwmmmw
Borrower to Lender in lisu of the payment of Mortgege Insurance premiums in accordance with the provisions of
Seciion 10. Thesc items are called “Bscrow Items.” At origination or at any time during the term of tho Loz,
Lender may thet Community Association Ducs, Fees, and Assessments, if any, be escrowed by Bosrower,
md sech dues, foes and assessments shall be an Bscrow Jtem, Bomower shall promptly furish to Lendsr all notices
of amounts to be paid under this Section, Bomower sha!l pay Lender the Punds for Escrow Items unless Leader
walves Botrower's obfigation to pay the Funds for sny or all Escrow ltems, Lender may walve Borower's
obligation to pay to Lender Punds for any or all Escrow Items ot any time. Any such waiver may only bs in writing,
b In the cvent of such waiver, Bomowes shall pay directly, when and where payable, the amounts due for any Escrow
) !mmwhl&mothmwabdeuMﬂmdummmnaunishtol.u:&u
i receipts evidencing such payment within such timo period as Lender may require. Borrower’s obligation to make
] mdlmmkmd&mﬂ&mdpﬁshﬂlhaﬂmmubwwhamwwmh
y . mww!nmummﬂmmwkmmmm If Borrower is cbligated to
pay Bsorow Items dircotly, pursuant to a waiver, end Borrower fails to pay the amount due for an Escrow Item,
mwmmmmm9mmnmﬂmmammmuwnwm«
Section 9 10 repay to Lender any such amount. Lender may revoke the walver as to any or all Bscrow Items at any
ﬁmebyanoﬂocsivwhmﬁmwnhsmlSMmmm,WﬁmmbMuﬂl
Funds, and in such amounts, that are then required under this Scction 3.
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Leader may, &t any time, collect and hold Punds in an amount (a) sufficient to permit Lender to epply the
Funds &t the time spesificd under RESPA, and (b) rot to cxceed the maximum amount a lender can require under
RESPA. Lender shall estimats the amount of Punds duz.on the basis of current data and reasonable estimates of

of future Escrow Items or otheswise in accordance with Applicabls Law.

The Funds shall be held in an institution whose doposits are insured by a federal agency, instrumentality, or
entlty (including Lender, if Lender Is an Institution whose deposits are so Insured) or in any Pederal Home Loan
Bank, Lender shall apply the Punds to poy the Escrow Itoms no Ister than the time specified under RESPA. Lender
shall not charge Bosrower for holding and spplying the Funds, anglyzing the escrow 2ocount, or verifylng
the Escrow Items, unless Lender pays Borrower interest on the Funds end Applicable Law permits Lender to meke
such a charge. Unless an agreement is made in writing or Applicable Law requires interest to be pald an the Funds,
Lender shall not be required to pay Borrower any intevest or camings on the Funds, Borrower and Lender can agree
in writing, howover, that Intorest shall bo paid on the Funds, Lender shall give to Borrower, without charge, an
annual acoounting of the Funds as required by RESPA.

1f there Is a surplus of Funds held In escrow, as defined under RESPA, Lender shall account to Borrower for
the excess funds In accordance with RESPA. If there [5 a shortage of Funds held in escrow, as defined under
RESPA, Lender shall notify Borower 8s roquired by RESPA, and Borrower shall pay to Lender the emount
necessery to make up tho shortage in ascordance with RESPA, but in oo morc than 12 monthly payments, If there is
8 deficiency of Funds held in escrow, as defined under RESPA, Lender shall notify Borrower 8s required by RESPA,
and Borrower shall pay 10 Lender the amount necessary to make up the defiolency in accordance with RESPA, but in
no more than 12 montkly paymeats,

Upon payment In full of all sums secured by this Security Instrument, Lender shall promptly refund to
Borrower any Funds held by Lendsr,

4, Charges; Liens, Borrower shall pay =ll taxes, sssessmeuts, chasges, fincs, and impasitions
attributable to the Propesty which can ettain priority over this Security Instrument, loaschold payments or ground
rents on tho Property, if any, and Community Association Ducs, Fees, and Assessmeats, if any. To the extent that
these items are Escrow Items, Borrower shall pay them in the manner provided in Seotien 3,

Borower shall promptly dischargo any Hen which has priority over this Sccurity Instrumeat unless-

Borrower: (a) agrees in writing to the paymeat of the obligation secured by the lien in a manner acccptabls to
Londer, but enly 50 long as Borrower is performing such agreement; (b) contests the lien in good Galth by, or definds
wmw«mmmmmmmwmmmmmm
of the Ben while those proceedings are pending, but only until such & concluded; or (o) secures from
the holder of the fien an agreement satisfuctory to Lender aubontinating tho lien to this Security Instrument. If
Lender detommines that eny part of the Property is subject to a lien which can attain priority over this Security
Instrumest, Leader may give Bosrower a notice identifying the lien. Within 10 days of the dato on which that notice
kmmmmmlienortahemamefﬁeecﬁommfwtbabowhﬂmswbad.

m'mmhmmmmamﬂmmmammmwiﬁuﬂmwwm
service used by Lender in connoction with this Loan.

§. Propesty Insurance. Bomower shall keep the improvements now existing o hescafter evected on the
memwmmwmmwwm"mmmum
including, but not limited to, carthquakes and Boods, for which Lender requires insusance. ‘This insurance shall be
malntained in the amounts (insluding deductible levels) end for the pericds that Lender requires. What Londer
requires pursuant to the preceding seatences can change during the twrm of the Loan. The Insurance carricr

the tnsurence shall be chosen by Bomower subject to Lender's right to disapprove Borrower's choice,
which right shall not bo exercised unreasonsbly. Leuder may require Borrower to pay, in conniection with this Loan,

. eithen: (a)amﬂmdﬂscﬁrﬂmdmdmmqwﬂﬁmmmgmmw@)am&m

might cestification.
responsible for the payment of any fees WWWPMWMMMAmhMmW
the reviow of any flood zone determination resulting from an objection by Borrower.
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If Borrower fails to maintain any of the coverages described above, Lendor may obtain insurance coverage,
&t Lender's option and Borrower’s expense. Lender is under oo obligation to purchase any particular typo or amount
of coverage. Therefors, such coverage shall cover Lender, but might or might not protect Bomrowes, Borrower's
equity in the Property, or the contents of the Property, against any risk, hazard or iability and might provide greater
or lesscr coversge than was previously in cffect. Borrower acknowledges that the cost of the insurance coverage so
obtained might significantly exceed the cost of insurance that Bomower could have obtained, Any emounts
disbursed by Lender under this Section S shall bocoms additional debt of Borrower secured by this Security
Instrument. These amounts shall bear Inferest at the Note rate from the date of disbursement and shall bo payablo,
with such interest, upon aotice from Lender to Borower requesting payment,

All insurance policics required by Leonder and renowals of such policies shafl be subject to Londer’s right to
disapprove such policies, shall include a standard martgage clause, and chall name Lender as morigagoe end/or as an
additional loss payee. Lender shall havo the right to bold the policies and renowal cestificates. If Lender requires,
Bomrower shall promptly give to Lender all recelipts of paid premiums end renewal notices. If Barrower obtains any
form of Insurence coverage, not otherwise required by Lender, for dsmage to, o destruction of; the Property, such
policy shall include a standard imortgago clause and shall namo Leader as mortgagee and/or as an additional loss

In the event of loss, Borrower shal) give prompt rotice to the tnsurance carrier and Lender. Lender may
make proof of loss If not mads promptly by Borrower, Unless Lendor and Borrower otherwise agree in writing, any
insurance procecds, whether or not the underlying insurance was required by Lender, shall be &pplicd ¢o restoration
or repair of the Property, if the restoration or repair is cconomicelly feasfble and Lender's security is not lessened,
During such repair and restoration pericd, Lender shall have the right to kold such insurance proceeds until Lender
fas had an oppostunity to Inspect such Property to easuro the work has been compteted to Lender’s satisfaction,
provided that such Inspection shell be undertaken promptly. Lender may disburso proceeds for the repairs and
restoration in a single payment or In 8 serles of progress payments as the work is completed, Unless an sgreement is
made in writing or Applicabls Law roguires interest to be pald on such insurance proceeds, Londer shall got be
required to pay Borrower any interest or camings on such proceeds. Fees for public adjusters, or other third partics,
retained by Borrower shall not bo paid cut of the Insurance procosds and shall be te sole obligation of Bosrower. [T
the restoration or repalr is not economically feasible or Lender’s security would bo lossened, the Insurance proceeds
shall be applied to the sums socured by this Security Instrument, whethes or not then due, with the excess, if any,
pald to Borrowor. Such inscranoo proceeds shall bo applied in the crder provided for In Section 2.

If Borrower ebandons the Property, Lender may file, negotiate end settle any avallable insurance claim and
related mattess. If Bomrower does not respond within 30 days to 8 notivs from Leader that the insurance casvier has
offered to sestle a claim, then Lender may negotiste and settle the claim. The 30-day period will begin when the
notice is given. In either event, or If Lender acquires the Property undor Scction 22 or otherwise, Bormower hereby
assigns to Leader (a) Borrower's rights to any insurance proceeds In an amount not to exceed the amounts unpald
under the Note or this Sccurity Instrument, and (b) any cther of Bomower's sights (other than the right to any refund
of tneamned premiuas pald by Bomower) under all Insuranco policles covering the Property, insofur as such rights
are epplicable to the coverage of the Property. Lender may use the insuranco proceeds cithes to repair or restore the
Property or to pay amounts tnpaid under the Note o this Sccurity Instrument, whether or not then dus.

6 » Borrower shafl occupy, cstablish, and use the Property as Bomrower's principal sesidence
within 60 days after the execution of this Security Instnmment and shall contisue to occupy the Property as
Bormower's principal residence for ot least one year after the dato of occupanoy, unless Lendsr otherwise agrees in
mumwwmwlmuwymwnwmmmwmwwm
beyond Borrower's control.

7, Preservstion, Maintenancs and Profeetion of tho Property; Inspections. Bomower shall rot
m.m«wmm.mmmmmmwmhmmmm. ‘Whether
or not Borrower is residing In tho Property, Borrower shall maintain the Property in erder to prevent the Property
from deteriorating or decreasing in value due to its condition. Unless it is determined pursuant to Section S that

sepalr or restoration is not feasibls, Borrowar shall promptly repalr the Property if damaged to avoid
further detoriorstion or damage. If insurance or condemnation proceeds are peid in connection with damsge to, or
“Fiorids Morigago—Siaghc Family—¥anile MaoFroddic Mac Uriform Instromst Form 3010 101
MERS Modificd
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the taking of; the Property, Borrower shall b responsible for repairing or restoring the Proporty only if Lender has
released proceeds for such purposes. Lendor may disburse procecds for the ropairs and restoretion in o single
paymont or in a serics of progress payments as the work i completed, If the Insurance or condsmnation proceeds
are not sufficlent to repair or restore the Property, Bomower is not relieved of Borrower's obligation for the
completion of such repalr o restoration. :

Lender or Hs agent may make seasonabls eatries upon and tnspections of ths Property. If it has reasoneble
czuse, Lendsr may inspost the interior of the improvements on the Property. Lender shall give Borrowes notico &t
the timo of or prior to such an interior Inspection specHying such reesonable cause.

8, Borrower's Loan Application, Borrower shall be in defimlt if, during the Loan spplication process,
Bomower or any persons oe catitles acting at the direction of Borrower or with Benower's knowledge or consent
mmmmmmwmmwmawmm(ummmm
wiith material information) tn connection with the Loan, Materisl representations include, but are not limited to,
mmmmsm’somyﬁm&wsm%wm

9, Protection of Lender’s Intevest In the Property and Rights Under this Security Instrumest, If
. (a)&m%mﬁm%mmwwmhmmwmmmmm
E Mmmm;mmmmmmmmmmw«nmmmwu
] mm(mﬂawg-mw,mmmmmﬂmmmmm
: Mwm&hvﬁoﬂvmﬁbwlm“bmfmmormhﬁm)or(c)nonmhas
mdmm.mmwdomdwforwhmvuism»nablcwapmpﬂstuowmmdﬂ's
mhmcmmmmmwmmmmmmmWwWMvmd
the Property, and securing andlor repairing the Property, Lender’s actions can include, but ere not Umited to:
(a)paytngmymmedbynummmmwmwwww&)mmmm
(c)mmmwhbmm'fmbmmminthe?mpalyandlorﬁgmsundutbisww
Instrument, including Hts secured position in a bankruptcy proceeding. Securing the Property includes, but is nol
MMMM“M&WMWMWumdeNWMW
fmmplpu.th%gwmmwwwwmmmwwwgwmwoﬂ:
Mmoughbmdumaymwonmdumbsmzmdummm»dommhnotlmdwanydmyor
obligation to do so. nkwmmmmmuwfwmmwwwmmmumwm
Sectlon 9.

mmmmwmmwwm9mmmwanmm
by this Security Instrument. These amounts shall bear intercst at the Note rate from the date of disbursement and
mumm»am.wmmmwammmmm

lfﬁksmvhmhonewamashhmwmmanﬁcmv&mofﬁam I
mmmmwhm,mwm&oﬁommmwmmmmm

mguinwﬂﬁp

10, Mortgage Insarance. M Lender required Morigage Insurance as a condition of making the Loan,
WMmmmmﬂMbm&oMme!umwhm If, for eny reason, the
mwlmmmwmammumommmmmm
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for Martgage Botrowes ehall pay the prezmlums required to obizln coverage equivalett to tho
Mmmumm&mvammwu ¥ to the cost to Borvower of the Mortgage
Insurance in effect, from an altemato Tnsurer selected by Lender, 1f substantially t
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Borrower was required to make scparetoly designated payments toward the premiums for Mortgage Insurance,
Borrower shall pay the premiums required to maintain Morigage Insurence in effect, or to provide a non-refundable
loss reserve, until Lendes’s requirement for Mortgage Insurance ends in accordance with any written agreement
betwoen Borrower and Lender providing for such termination or until termination is required by Applicable Law.
Nothing In this Section 10 affects Borrower's obligation to pay interest at the rate provided in the Note,

Mostgage Insurance reimburses Lender (or any entity that purchases the Noto) for certaln losses it may
incur if Borrower does not repay the Loan as agreed, Bomower Is ool a party to the Morigage Insurance,

Mortgage Insurers evaluate thelr total risk on all such insurance in force from tims to timo, and may cuter
Into agreements with other parties that share or modify thelr risk, ar reduce tosses, These agreements ave on terms
and conditions that are satisfictory to the mortgage inswer end the other party (or parties) to thess agreements.
Theso agreenents may requirs the insurer to meke payments using any sourcs of funds that tho morigago
insurer may have available (which may tocludo funds obtalned from Mortgage Insurance premiums).

As 8 result of these agresments, Lendes, any purchaser of the Note, another insures, any relnsurer, any other
entity, or any affiliate of any of the foregolng, may secelve (directly or indirectly) amounts that desive from (or
mwuwmm)apdeswmﬁszlmmhmﬁrmu
modifying the mortgage tnsurer’s risk, or reducing losses. M such agreement provides that an affilate of Lender
i takes a share of the insurer's risk kn exchange for a share of the premiums pald to the insurer, the amangement i3
v often termed “captive relnsurance.” Purther:

. () Any such agreements will not affect the amounts that Borrower has agreed to pay for Morigage
5 Insarance, or any other terms of the Loan, Such agreements will not inerease the amount Borrower will owe
: for Mortgage Insurance, and they will sot entitle Borrower to any refund,
() Any such wuwﬂauaﬂm&:@u%whu-uuy-mmmm
Mortgage Insurance under the Homoowners Protection Act of 1998 or any other law. These rights may
) tnciude the right to recelve certaln disclosares, to request and cbtatn caneellation of the Morigage Insurance,
to have the Mortgage Insuranee terminated automatically, and/or to recelve a refund of any Mortgago
F Insarance premiums that were unearaed at the time of such eanceilation or termination.

11, Assignment of Miscellancons Proceeds; Forfelture. All Miscellaneous Proceeds ave hercby
assigned to and shall be paid to Lender

lfmmmhmmmwmunmmmmmmmmmwmorm
i M.lfﬁommﬂnwmbhmmﬂeaﬂykaibhmﬂhnﬂa’swﬁtyismlmﬁ. During such
3 mmmmmmmmawwmdmuwmwmﬂlmmw
: meMMM»mMMMMm]@%W&MmMM
that such inspeotion shall be enderteken prompily, Lender may pay for tho sepairs and restoration in a single
3 disbursement or in a series of progress payments as the work is comploted. Unless an agreement is mado in writing
S or Applicable Law requircs interest o be paid on such Miscollznoous Procesds, Lender shall ot be required to pay
8 Bowower any kiterest o7 eamings on such Miscellaneous Proceeds. If the restoration or repair 1s not coonomically
i mummwmmmumuwmwmmmmmmemmw
mwwlmmwmwmmmmmmummuam Such Miscellancous
Proceeds shell be eppiled in the order provided for In Section 2,

mmmaawmmwhubmdmw.ummmm
beappﬂndtoﬂwmsmwdbythbsmtymmuu.wbﬂhuornowmdu.wlthmuxmifmy,pﬁdw
Bormrower.

hﬁamdawdalnkbs.m«!mhvdmofﬂwhcmhwbhhﬂnﬁkmarkavalwof
mmlmmmmmmthmhmmammmm
d&ommﬂh%MlﬁMWh&eﬁewmm&wmwmh
mmmdmmmmmmmmwmmmmmu
s mwmmwmmmmnmmmﬁpwuymmmm@ (a) the total amount of
i the sums socured immediatoly beforo the partial taking, dostructicn, oz loss In valuo divided by (b) tho fair market
E valus of the Property kmmediately beforo tho partial teking, destructica, or loss in valus, Any batance shall be pald

TN LT

to Borrower.
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1n the event of a partial taking, destruction, o7 loss in value of the Property in which the fiir market vatue of
the Property immediately before the partial taking, destruction, or loss in valus is less than the amount of the sums
socured immediately before the partial taking, destruction, or foss in valus, unless Borrower end Lender otherwise
agree in writing, the Miscellaneous Proceeds shall be applied to the sums secured by this Security Instnment
whether or not tho sums are then due.

1f the Property is ebandoned by Borrower, or if, after notice by Lendsr to Borrower that the Party
{as definod in the next sentence) offers to make an award to scttle a claim for damages, Borsower falls to respond to

. Lender within 30 days after the date the notice is given, Londer is authorized to collect and apply the Miscellancous

Proceeds either to rostoration or repalr of the Propesty or to the sums secured by this Security Instrument, whether or
ool then dus. “Opposing Party” means the third party that owes Borrower Miscellsneous Proceeds or the party
egainst whom Bomower has a right of ecticn in regand to Miscellancous Procectds.

Borrower shall be in defsult if any ection or procecding, whether civil or criminal, is begun that, in
Lender's judgment, could result In forfeiture of the Property or other material impaimment of Lender’s Intarest in the
Property of rights under this Seourity Instrument, Bowower can cure such a defiult end, if acocleration has
occuerod, reinstate as provided in Section 19, by causing the actica or proceeding to be dismissed with a suling that,
in Leader’s judgment, preciudes forfeiture of the Property or other material impalrment of Lender’s intesest in the
Property or rights under this Scourity Instrument. The proceeds of any award or claim for damages that ere
attributable to the impairment of Lender's interest in tho Propesty are hereby assigned and shall be paid to Lender.

Af} Miscellanoous Proceeds that are not appiied to restoration or repair of the Property shall bo spplied In

: the order provided for in Section 2.

12. Barrower Not Released; Forbearance By Lender Not a Waiver, Extension of the time for payment
o¢ modification of emortization of the sums secured by this Sccurity Instrument granted by Lender to Borower or
eny Sucoessor in Intorest of Bomower shall not opesato to velease the Habllity of Bommower or any Successors fn
Interest of Bomrower, Lender shall not bs required to commence proceedings against any Successor in Interest of

Borrower or to refuse to extend time for payment or otherwiss modify emortization of the sums secured by this
F Security Instriment by reason of any demand made by the original Bomower or any Successors fn Interest of

Borower, Any forbearanco by Londer in excecising any right or remedy {noluding, without limitation, Lendes's
mofwmu&mﬁhﬂwu.uﬁﬁua&mmhmdmahmmmm
amount then due, shall not be a waiver of or precludo the exercise of eny right or rensedy.

13, Jolnt and Several Liadility; Co-signers; Successors and Assigns Bound, Bomower covenants end
agress that Bomrower's obiigations and lability shall be joint and several. However, any Borrower who co-sligns this
Security Instrument but does not execute the Note (a “oo-signer™): () is co-slgning this Sccurity Instrument osly to
martgage, grant and convey the co-sigrer's interest in the Proporty under the tesms of this Sccurity Instrument; (b) is
mmﬂuouwwwmmmdwwmmgm«)wmmmw
cther Borrower can 2groo to extend, modify, forbear or make any eccommodations with regard to the terms of thly

Tnstrunient or the Noto without the co-signer’s consent.

Subject to the provisions of Scction 18, any Successor in Interest of Borrower who assames Borrower's
wwmmmmnmmnwwmmmm«m&
rights and benefits under this Security Instrument, Borrower shall not be released from Borrower's cbilgations and
nwnwmmmwmwmmmmmmmm The covenants end
Mﬁ%%lmmﬂ%(mmmﬁuhmmmm&owm
assigns of Lender.

s 14. Losn Charges. Lender may charge Borower foes for services perfommed in connection with
memmammkmmmmmmsmwm
lmmmmwmm'mmmmmwmm In regard to any
omcfm.memammmmmwummmmawmwwmnm
be construcd as  prohibition on the charging of such fee. Lender may not charge fecs that are expressly prohibited
by this Scowrlty Instrument or by Appilcabls Law,

tfmmammammwmmmmmmkmmmmm
mm«mmmquwummmmmummmmm
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limits, then: (a) any such loan chargo shall be reduced by the amount nocessary to reduce the ohargs to the permitted
Himit; and (b) any sums already collected from Borrower which axceeded permitted Kmits will bo refinded to
Bomower. Lender may chicose to make this refisnd by reducing the principal owed under the Note or by meking a
direct psyment to Bormower. If a refund reduces principal, the reduction will be treated as o prepayment
without any prepayment charge (whether or not a prepayment chargo ks provided for under the Notc). Borower's

of any such rofimd made by direct payment to Bomrower will constitute @ watver of any right of action
Borrower might have arising out of such overcharge. .

15, Notices, All notioss given by Bomrower or Lender in connoction with this Security Instrument must be
in writing. Any notice to Borrower in connection with this Security Instrument shall be deemed to have been given
1o Borrower when matled by first class mail or when actuslly delivered to Borrower's notice address if sent by other
means. Notico to any ono Bomower shall constitute notice to atl Borrowers unless Applicsble Law expressly
requires otherwise. The notico address shall be the Property Address untess Bosrower has designatad a substitute
notice address by notice to Lender, Bomower shal promptly notify Lender of Borrower's change of address, If
Lender specifics a procedurs for reporting Borrower's chango of eddress, then Borrower shall enly report a change
of address through that specified procedure. These may be only ons designated ootics address under this Security
Instrument at any one time, Any notice to Lender shall be given by delivesing it or by mailing it by first class mail
to Lender's eddress stated heroin untess Lender bes designated ancther address by notice to Borrower. Any notice in
congection with this Security Instrument shall not be docmed to have been given to Lender unti] estually received by
Lender. If any notice required by this Security Instrument is also roquired under Applicable Law, the Applicable
Law requirement will satisfy the requirement under this Security Instrument.

16, Governing Law; Severability; Rules of Construetion. This Security Instrument shall be govemed
by federal law end the law of the Jurisdiction in which the Property is located. All rights and obligations contained
in this Seaurity Instrument are subject to any requirements and limitations of Appilcable Law. Applicabls Law
mtgtﬁemibhlyorhnplldﬂyaﬂw&epnﬂumuy&bymuaﬁmﬁwfz)uhsﬂemhnmhslhmwﬂlmtbe
construed as a prohibition agatnst agrocarcnt by contrast, In the event that any provision or clauss of this Security
Instrament ot the Note conflicts with Applicable Law, such sonfiics shall not affect other provisions of this Security
Instrument of the Note which can be given effect without the conflicting provision, :

As .used in this Security Instrument: (o) words of the masculine gender shall mean end include
mmmmwMormmmma)mhmmuMmmmmm
Mmdﬂw%md(o)hwﬂ“mf@msdcﬁwﬁwwﬁm&wcbummmmm

17. Borrower's Copy. Bomrower shall be given one copy of the Note and of this Security Instrument.

18, Transfer of the Property or a Beneficial Interest in Borrower. Asused in this Section 18, “Interest
in the Property” means any logal or beneficial interest in the Property, incliding, but not limited to, those beneficial
interests trensferred In 8 bond for deed, contract for doed, installment sales contrast oF esorow agroement, the intent
dwﬂﬁhﬁcm#ﬁmwmuammwam

lfa!loranypa:tcflhe?mpcvwmmmh&cmmthldwm&mﬂeﬁmomhma
mlmmdammwlmhmkmwwmmwwmm
Lender may require Immediste payment {n full of all sums secured by this Scourity Instrument, Howevey, this
option shall not be exercised by Lender if such excroise is prohibited by Applicable Law,

If Lender oxereises this option, Lender shiell give Borrowes notico of acceleration. The notice shall provide
aMﬁdmlm&mSﬂmmmmmmmkmmhmuwm&cﬂmlSwiﬂzhwblcb
Borrower must pay all sums secured by this Securlty Instrument, If Bosvower fuils to pay these sums prior to the
mmdwmmwmwmdlummwmhsm Instrument without further
notice or demand on Borrower. . . .

19, Borrowes’s Right to Relnstato After Aceeleration, If Borrower meets certain conditions, Borrower
Mlhmﬂndstutohvoen!ommdﬂﬂssmlnskmmtd&mnﬁnmdatwﬂmpﬂorto&eeaﬂl&oﬁ
(a)ﬁwdayabefowsabofﬁwhmwpwamttommdﬂom@neﬁhmwwmﬂm@)m
oﬁupﬁoduAppﬁcab!eLawnﬂmmformem!naﬂonofamwer’sﬂmwrdmte;w(c)mofa

this Security Instrument. Thoso conditions ave that Borrower: {2) pays Lender all sums which

judgment enforcing
thmwouldbedmmqummmdmm“ithmmmmmw

Fiorida Mortgage—Giagle Family—Fanac Mac/Freddis Mac Usiform Instramest ~ Form 3010101
The Conpliance Sonrcs, Rec. Page 100114 Wwwmn&mnummm
mw m‘.

A
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default of any other covenants or agreements; () pays all expenses incurred In enforcing this Security Instniment,
inctuding, but not limited to, reasonabls sttomcys’ fees, property inspection and valuation fees, end other foes
incurred for the purposs of protecting Lender’s interest in (he Property and rights under this Sccurlty Instrument; and
(d) takes such action as Leader may reasonzsbly require to assurc that Lender's intorest in the Property and rights
\mder this Security Instrument, and Bosrower’s obligation to pay the sums secured by this Security Instrument, shall
continve unchanged, Lender may vequire that Borrower pay such reinsistement sums and expeuses In one or more
of the following forms, as selested by Lender: (a) cash; (b) money order; (c) certified chock, bank chock, treasurer’s
check or cashler’s check, provided any such check fs drawn upon en institution whose deposits are Insured by 8
foderal agenoy, instrumentelity or entity; or (d) Electronic Funds Transfer. Upon roinstatement by Borrower, this
Security Instrument and cbligations secured heroby shall remaln fufly effective as if no acoelorstion had occusred.
However, this right to reinstato shall not spply in the case of acceleration under Section 18.

20, Sale of Note; Change of Loan Sexvicer; Notlee of Grievance, The Noto or a partial interest in the
Noto (togethor with this Security Instrament) can bs sold ono or more times without prior notice to Borrower, Asalo
mmhamhmm@mumws«mﬂmmmmwmmm
Nots and this Security Instrument and perfonns other mortgage loan servicing obilgations under the Note, this
Sccurity Instrument, and Applicable Law. There also might be ons or more changes of the Loan Servicer unrelated
to a sals of the Note, [f there is a chenge of the Loan Servicer, Borrower will bo given written aotico of ths change
wihich will stato the name and address of the new Loan Services, the address to which payments should be made and
mmmmmmmummmmamamm If the Noto is sold and
thereafler the Loan is serviced by a Loan Servicer other than the purchaser of the Note, the mortgage loan servicing
' ouwmmwmnmwmswwwummammsmmm
3 not assumed by the Note purchases unless otherwise provided by the Nots purchaser,

Neither Borrower nor Lender may commencs, join, or be Joined to any judiciel astion (as cither an
hd!v!dualllﬂsmtotmMﬁadm)mmmmmw%mmpmbmm
r Instrament o that alfcges that tho other party has breached any provision of, or eny duty owed by reason of, this

R e

Y TXXNU

smqmmwmsmamwmwﬁdmmm(mmmumm
wmmmwumm«mwmwmmmmma.
reasonable period after the giving of such notice to take corroctive sction. If Appliceble Law provides 8 fims pesiod
MdemmmmumwdmmamnMwumammm
of this pargraph. The notice of acceleretion and opportunity to curo given to Borrower pursuant to Section 22 and
mmdwmmwnmmwmlsmuMdmmmmmm
opportunity to teke corrective action provisions of this Bectlon 20,

2%, Hazardous Substences. As usod in this Soction 21: (a) “Hazardous Scbstances™ are thoso substances
defined as toxts o7 hazardous substances, polhutants, or wastes by Environmental Law and the following substances:
mnm,mmmhwmmxmmmwmmmwmmm
WMgMummuwmmWW@)wwwWw
mandmdmjmbucnmummhwmmwm&mamw

m(c)mmwmmmmmmm n, or removal action, as
WW&MMMM@MW«MW&WW&MMM@%MMﬂ

A5 300 sautiemd

SINF LA Lm0t s

eanup,

Bosower shall not cause or pormit the presence, use, disposal, storage, or releass of any Hazardous
Submwﬁmmmwﬂmmhmmmwhwm.Bnmwnslm!lnotdo.notallow
anyone clse to do, anything affecting the Property (a) that is in violstion of any Envirommental Law, (b) which
mmWMmcr(o)detoﬁomumdeaHmmsm
creates a condition that sdversely affects the valus of the Propesty. The preceding two seatences shall not apply to
mmmmmmmmamm«WWMmmu
mwmuwmmmm!mmuaammmmummammmumm
$imited to, hazardous substences in consumer products).

wmmmmmmma)mwmmmwa
other action by any govemmental or regulatory wwprlva&cpaﬁylwolvhgﬂw?mpmymdww

MERS Modificd
e, o114  Modifted by Compllance Source 143CIFL $1/06 Rev. 0408
The Compllzace Source, Page o004 Tho O

2
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Substenos or Environmental Law of which Bormower has actual knowledge, (b) any Envirommental Conditien,
including but not limited to, any spliting, leaking, discharge, reloase or threat of reloase of any Hazardous Substance,
and (o) any condition caused by the pressnce, use or release of a Hazandous Substance which adversely affocts the
valuo of tho Property. If Borrower leams, or is notified by any govermnmenta! or regulatory authosity, or any private
party, that eny removal or other remediation of any Hazardous Substanco affecting the Property i3 necessary,
Borower shafl promptly take all necessary remedial actions in ecoordance with Environmenta] Law. Nothing herein
shall create any objigation on Lender for an Eavirenmental Cleanup.

NON-UNIFORM COVENANTS, Bomower and Lender further covenant end egres as follows:

22. Accelerution; Remedles. Lender shall give notice to Borrower prior to aceeleration followiag
Borrower’s breach of any covensnt or agreement in this Secarity Instrument (but not prior to accelevation
under Section 18 unless Applicable Law provides otherwise). The notice shall specifyr (a) (he defsult; (b) the
sction reqatred to cure the default; (c) a date, not loss than 30 days from the date the notice Is glven to
Bammbywh&hﬁodn&nltmumhau&mﬂ(@&tﬁﬂmwmﬁade&mmwm&em
qunmmmnmamaMmmuthmmw
by judiclal proceeding and sale of the Property, Tho notice shall further Inform Borsower of the right to
relustate after accelerstion and tho right to assert In €he foreclosure preceeeding the non-existence of a default
or any other defense of Borrower to aceeleration and foreclosure, If (he default Is nat cared on or before the
mmmmmm@-ammmwmmmmmwmmm&aotaammby
fhis Security Instrument without furfbier demard and may foreclose this Seeurity Instrument by judiclal
procecding, Lender shall be entitled to collect all expenses incurred In pursuing the remedies provided in this
Seetion 22, ineluding, but not limited to, reasonsble attorneys’ foes and eosts of title evidouce.

23, Release. Upecn payment of all sums seoured by this Secusity Instrument, Lender shall release this
Scourity Instrumont. Bosrower shall pay any recordation costs. Lender may charge Borrower a foo for releasing this

Instrument, bt only if the foo is pald to a third parly for sesvices rendered and (e charging of the fee is

Security
permitted undes Applicabls Law.
24, Attorneys’

Fees, As used in this Security Instrament and the Note, attomeys’ fees shall include those:

awarded by an eppollats court and any ettorneys’ fecs incurred in & bankruptoy proocceding.

25, Jury Teis] Waiver.. The Bomrower hereby walves any right to & trial by jury In eny action, procoeding,
c!aim.orcommhhu,whst!:ahcontmtormt.atIawwheqzmy.arlsingmofwinmywnywmedtomls
Security Instrument or the Note,

The following signature(s) and scknow] 8) are incorporated into end made a part of this Florida
me&mmmwmmawqamemdﬁmm
AmTrust Bank.

mmwﬁwmwmmumc Form 3010 1/01
MERS Modilied

Comphazoe 120114 Modifled by Compiiance Source 14301FL §1/04 Rev, 04808
— sy Poe i ©2004, The Compliance Soures, Is
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BY SIGNING BELOW, Borrower accepis and agrees to the terms and covenants contained in this Security
Instrument and in any Rider excouted by Borrower and recorded with it.

) A =
L) W -Borrower

“TICHELE FREELAND (Prined, Trporite
Stamped Name})

Printed, Typewriiten, of Stemped Namo Post-Office Address: 3970 Old Duca Rd, Apopks, FL

"""'CJJ\’W-f' mu/; : (Sea)

B Belinda G Rodriguez -Borrower
LA [Prinied, b7 i
Stamped Name]

“Printed, Typewritien, of Siampod Name Post-Office Address:

Signed, sealed and delivered In the presence of:

Slmpede]
Post-Office Address: :
{Sea))

Typewrltten, o7,
prictedy Stamped Name)

Post-Office Address:

Mom—Ml"amIb—?nwb Maze/Freddie Mae Unlform Instrament Porm 3010 1104
nmm

13of4  Medifed Soureo 14361FL 11/04 Rev. 0403

The Compliause Source, Ise. Page by Complixacs potvpih Soame, tac.
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The foregoing Instrument was ecknowledged before meon~ \ \0‘\
by Charles S Rodriguez and Belinda G Rodriguex who is persomally to mo or who has produced

Tl Untnoe o kmfioaio.
Qhlshocon ]

o5, omy it SemclFda _ [CHELE FREELAND
i*,j M""’:‘“‘- 0 DO41052 Name Type, Printed or Stamped
4 Expoes 050172009 —
Title or Rank
Serial Numbes, if any:
(Seal) My Commission Expires:
MW&MHWWMMWW Rorm 3010 101
Tte Complisnce Souree, Ise. Page 10514 Madified by Complisnes Bouree 14301FL 1104 Rev, 04103
TWWLOBRISTOESOUIEL0m ©32004, The Cospila!

By
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AT TE B B M

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT RIDER

THIS PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT RIDER is mede this 8th day of January, 2069 , and is incorporated
into and shall be deemed to amead and supplement the Mortgage, Deed of Trust or Security Deed (the “Security
Instrument™) of the same date, given by the undersigned (the “Borrower™) to secure Borrowes’s Nots to AmTrust
Bank (the “Lendes”) of the same dats and covering the Propesty described in the Sccurity Instrument and located
at

3970 Old Dunn Rd, Apopka, FL. 32712
{Property Address]

Tho Property Includos, but is not limited to, 8 pare] of land improved with a dwelling, together with other such
parcels and certain common ereas and facilities, as described in Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and
F\ Restrictions (the *Declaration™), The Property is a part of a planned unit development imown as:

Rock Springs Ridge
{[Nazme of Planned Unit Development]
(the “PUD"). The Psoperty also Includes Borrower's interest in the homeowners association or equivalent entity
owning of managing the common areas and Eicilitles of tho PUD (ths “Owners Association”) and the uses,
benefits and proceeds of Borrower's intesest,

PUD COVENANTS. In addition to the covenants and agreements made in the Security instrument,
Borrower and Lender further covenans and agres as follows:

A. PUD Obligations. Bomower shall perform all of Bomower's obligations under the PUD's
Constituent Documents. The “Constltucat Dosuments® are the (i) Declaration; (if) astictes of incorporation, trust
immmmyemﬂvﬂmdmmwhlchmtheOwnmAssodaﬁon;and(ili)wby-!moroﬁmmhs
or regulations of the Owners Association. Bosrower shall prompily pay, when dus, all dues and assessments
Imposed pursuant to the Constituent Documents.

B. Property Insuraace, So fong a3 the Owners Association maintains, with a generally acoepted
immowﬂu.u“mmr”er“b!mkﬂ”policyhmhz&e?np@whkhbsaﬁsmymundumm

PR UL XYY - - TR

DERL XN

BCTE VLTS T IR SRR IR L B i B

mmm-mw—mmmm:mmm w:un:‘mg
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pmﬁda.bmawwhthsmma(mcmmsdeducﬁb!elwds).fwﬂwpuinda.mdaylnstlmbyﬁn,
hazards included within the term *extended coverage,” and sny other hazards, including, but not limited to,
and Roods, for which Lender requires insuranco, then:

0] Lender waives the provision {n Section 3 for the Periodic Payment to Lender of the yearly premium
Installments for property lsurance on the Property; end (1) Borrower’s obligation under Section 5 to maintain
Mwmmumlsdmmwwmmmmmwmuu
provided by the Owners Assosiation policy.

memkuuamdiﬂmofmiswamrandmgedmhgmmoft!wlcan.

wacshll@vehmdupmﬂmﬁuﬁwhmhmubedpmmhmmmvm
by the master or blanket policy. :

In the event of a distribution of property insurance proceeds in Heu of restoration or repair following a
lmstolbePropeny.onooommnmmmumofmrm.wpmmhwaommmw
nssigned and shall bo paid to Lender. Lender shall apply the proceeds to the sums secured by the Security
Instrument, whether or not then due, with the excess, if any, paid to Borrower.

C. Publlc Liability Insurance. Bomower shall take such actions as may be reasonzbles to insure that
the Owners Assoclation maintaing a public lishility insurance policy acceptebls in form, amount, and extent of
coverage to Leader, .

D. Condemnation. mcpmmdsofmyawdmdzimfctdamasu.dm«eomqumﬂnpsyabb
wBomulnmecﬁonwlﬂnmyuMmmﬂmwoﬂwuﬁngofdlwmypmofﬂwamotlhe
common areas and faollities of the PUD, or for sny in lew of condemnation, are hereby assigned and
shall bo paid to Lender, Sucbpmeedssha!lbaspplledbybenduwmsmmudbymmhylmmm
as provided in Section 11,

E. Lender's Prior Consent. Bomrower shall not, except after notico to Lender and with Lender’s prior
writien consent, elther partition or subdivide the Property or consent to: () the abandonment or termination of
the PUD, except for ebandonment or termination required by law in the casc of substantial destruction by fire or
other casualty or in the case of a taking by condemnation or eminent domein; (if) any smendment to any
wmamwwmmwummmmmummmamm termination
ofmmﬂmmmmdsﬂﬁmmtofmemmmlomwaﬂ any sction
whlehwm:!dhmmaeﬂctofmm;mopnblloliabﬂhyinstmuoovmgem!minedbymmvum
Association unacceptable to Lender,

F. Remedies. 1f Borrower does ot pay PUD dues and pssessments whea duc, then Lender may pay
them. Anymubdhbmdbykndumﬁu&isp&mh?slﬂlhmmaddmmal debt of Borrower
secured by the Socurity Instrument. Unless Borrower and Lender agres to other terms of psyment, these amounts
sballbearinwﬁ'omﬂwdateufdishmmnthemtemmdxhallbewahh.wl!hhwm.mnoﬁa
from Lender to Borrower requesting paymeant.

e e —————
Matiistate FUD Rider ~ Single Pemlly — Faosiie MaoPreddle Mae UNIFORM ENSTRUMENT Form 31500201
—ThE COMPLIANCE SCURCE, INC— Pagedofd USTIMUER0 Rew, 104

wanecopliswssowcann mmmmu.
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BY SIGNING BELOW, Borrower accepts and agrees to the terms and covenants contained in this PUD

Rider.

. L gimas

(Scal) (Seal)

o Seal) (Seal)

[Stgn Original Only)

P AP (BT € B

MuXtitate PUD Rider— Sigle Family — Fanale Mao/Froddic Mac UNIFORM INSTRUMENT Form 31500101
0690 Row. 14
~=TEE COMFLIANCE SOURCE, INC— Paged of3 'u::um 104

XN

450 LERAIRAL IR LT RN TINS S 4

B

e L St 0 A



Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1-5 Filed 05/10/18 Page 1 of 1 PagelD 54
‘ d t h BILLING STATEMENT
flecn. StatementDato | Dus Date | Amount Due
PO Box 6172, Rapid Cty, SD 57709-6172 coe2016 | 100120181 $400,102.14

8-776-05214-0032043-004-1-001-000-000-000 if payment is received after 10/16/2016,
el L esssgag gl hgpeebegbeatef fugetygenyelpe NI @ $48.04 tata foo will bo charged

@ CHARLES S ROBRIGUEZ AutoPay is Free Online at Ditech.com

CJO SCOTT A SMOTHERS ATTY
175 E MAIN ST STE 111 ) Mail your payment to
APOPKA FL 32703-3213 D] PO Box 660934
Dailas, TX 75266-0934
ﬁ Call 1-800-843-0202

Monday - Friday, 7a.m. - 8 pm. CST
Saturday, 7a.m. - 1 p.m. CST

Account information Past Payments Breakdown ¢ Explanation of Amount Due
Loan Number 0050588957 | Since Last Statement/Month Principal $286.92
Principa! Balance $170,054.80) :'""’W' :': Interest $663.91
Escrow Balance ($21,064.95) B (Fax &1 - $0.00 Escrow (Tax & insurance) $360.67
Advarce Balance A $8.763.18] vo101 Fees and Charges s000 || Regular Monthly Payment $1,321.50
Intorest Rato 6.250% | Funds in Suspense s0.00 { Tota! New Fees and Charges $48.04
Interest Type Actuarial] Total Patd s0.00 | Past Due Amount $88,732.60
Prepaymaont Penally No | Year to Date
Next Rats Reset N/A || Principal $0.00
Property Address: Interast $0.00

e B 3870 _OLD DUNN RD | Escrow (Tax & Insurance) $0.00
. 12 SowCaxShemned . .- e ——— e e e
APOPKATL 327 Total Fees and Charges $0.00
T This Is ot your payoff amount. Plesse
MyAccount st mmm-mm ® Funds in Suspense $0.00
- y byservicsrtopey | Total Peld Year to Date $0.00
taxen, d ary other due
that peart of en escrow

Transaction Activity Since Last Statement Total Anmiount Duse!; $100,102.14
Date  Description Charges  Payments |— : .
e
09/16/18 Lato Chargs Asmt 39004 3000 Delinquency Notice
0814/16 Corp Adv Disb §15.00 $0.00 mmwmmwmu Felweto
2‘1"‘!.7 dmmmzdw ™
oo st bacame dataquect o IR0,

L Caie: et ot 143129
Sages {More informatior he Back
Important Messages (aore information on the Back} o oIne, gty
-Payment Due 07/01/16: Unpaid amount of $1,331.28
1his gmount may not be sufficient to relnstate your account. Contact Ditech for the -Payment Due 0201/16:  Unpald amount of $1,321.50
exact amount requived for reinstatement. -Payment Due 09XI/16:  Unpekd amount of $1,321.50
<Totel: $100,102.14 dus. You must pay this amount
to bring your loan curent.
Your account I3 now severely delinquent and your immediate action s required. Contact your account
representative, Sonya P at 1-500-643-0202, extansion 85477 to make immediate payment amangements. Foralistof piysaipaiiiry

mﬂmwuw

E£TACH AND RETURN THISPORTION WITH YOUR PAYRENT
CHARLES S RODRIGUEZ H I i
CIOSCOTTA RS ATTY Loan Number ' StatementDate . DueDate : Amount Due
APOPKAFL 32703921 ? ? f

0050586057 . OBHEZ016 | 10012016  §400,102.14

Check box for address
changes on reverse side. If payment is recelved after 10/16/2016,
Make chacks payable to Ditech Financial. a $48.04 late foo will be charged

AmountDue § 1 o0 0o
Additional Escrow §
Additional Late $
Additional Principal $
Total Amount Enclosed $

1 0 2.1 4

' . Ditech
PO Box 660934
Datlas, TX 75266-0934

05058695 ? 00232150 00:0010214
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R ditech BILLING STATEMENT

Statement Dato | DueDate | Amount Due
PO Box 6172, Rapid City, SO 577096172

10172016 | 1110112018 | $101,471.68
0-776-05612-0014808-002-1-001-000-000-000 if payment is received after 14/16/2016,
L EL T TR T T B R T a$48.04 fato foo will be charged
4 CHARLES S RODRIGUEZ AutoPay Is Free Ontine at Ditech.com
C/0 SCOTT A SMOTHERS ATTY
175 E MAIN ST STE 111

Mail your payment to
PO Box 660934
Dallas, TX 75266-0934

APOPKA FL 32703-3213

Call 1-800-843-0202
Monday - Friday, 7a.m. - 8 p.m. CST
Saturday, 7a.m. - 1 p.m. CST

B X O

Account Information ‘ Past Payments Breakdown ; Explanation of Amount Due
Loan Number 0050586957 | Since Last Statement/Month Principal $208.22
Principal Balance t st70.08490] ™" ::ﬁ Interest $662.61
Escrow Balance ($21,064.85) Excrow (Tax & Insurance) $0.00 Escrow (Tax & Insurance) $360.67
Advance Balance * $8,778.18] 1o Fees and Charges soco | Regutar Monthly Payment $1,321.50
{nterest Rate 5.250% | Funds in Suspense s0.00 [ Tota! New Foes and Charges $48.04
Interest Type Actuarial§ Total Patd $0.00 ]PastDue Amount $100,102.14
Prepayment Penalty No | Year to Date
Next Rate Reset N/A | Principal $0.00
Property Address: Interest $0.00

- - 3870 OLD-DUNN-RD § Escrow (Tax & lnsurance) $0.00 - e -
'mhmmmmmﬂw“ Totai Foes and Charges $0.00
MyAccount 2t dtech.com for a payotY figurs. Funds in Suspense $0.00
* ssant money y servicsrtopay | Total Paid Year to Date $0.00
mummaméau;-m iy

Transaction Activity Since Last Statement

Total Amount'Due': $101,471.68

Date Description Charges Payments
10H7M8 Late Charge Asmt $48.04 $0.00 **Delinquency Notico**
08/30/16 Corp Adv Disd $15.00 $0.00 vmmmonm

WM Faikzo o
bring your loan custont may reslt in fees and
-hmdmhum. As of October 17 you are 2208
days definquent on fos. Your account

et Due 0201/16: Unpaid amount of $1,331.28
gyment Due 08/01/16;

Important Messages (More information on the Back) immwmna wﬁmg}ﬂﬁ:ﬁ
) T Semsies Rassdnes

PARTIAL PAYMENTS: Any partia! nts that you make are not epplied o your oyl ue : un
mw.mmmsmmmammgmmm youpny o -Payment Buo 18/01/16: Unpald smount o1 $1,321.50
batance of a partial payment, the funds will then be applied to your mertgage. gmmwm You st pay this amount
Your account is now definquent and your Immedite action Is required. Contact your Foratistof
Bocount Sonya P 011-800-643-0202, extension 85477 to make immediats %mw orcat
payment arangaments. ;
1This amount

may oot be sufficlent to reinstate your account. Contact Ditech
for the exact amount required for reinstatement.

AND RETURN THIS PORTION WITH YOUR PAYMENT

0 SEBT A SMOTHERS A Loan Numbor | Statement Date ' DueDate ' Amount Due
175 EMAIN STSTE 111
APOPRA FL 32703-3213 0050566857 10172016 11/012016 - $101,471.68

Chock box for address ‘

changes on roverse side. If payment Is recelved after 11/18/2016,

Make checks payable to Ditech Financial. a $48.04 [ato feo will be charged
AmountDue $ . .
Additional Escrow $ . . Ditech
Additional Late $ . . PO Box 660934

Dallas, TX 75266-0934
Additional Principal $

Total Amount Enclosed $

05058L95 7 00232150 0010%471kL8



PO Box 6172, Rapid City, SD 57709-6172

0-776-08178-0033835-004-1-001-000-060-000

CHARLES S RODRIGUEZ
175 E MAIN ST STE 111

APOPKA FL 32703-3213

Account Information

§ Past Payments Breakdown

Statement Date" Due Date :

. 05/01/2017

04/17/2017

asq 6:48-cv-00y21-CEM-TBS Document 1-7 Filed OS/lO/lBBiEq_e'NélgaFﬂﬁMENT
) a 'teCh ® ' ' ‘

Amount Due

AutoPay is Free Online at Ditech.com

Mail your payment to
PO Box 660934

Loan Number 0050586957 { Since Last Statement/Month
Principal $0.00
Principal Balance t $165,296.41 | |n1orest $0.00
Escrow Balance (825,358.27) | Escrow (Tax & Insurance) $0.00
Total Fees and Charges $0.00
Advance Balance * $5,374.28) £ nds in Suspense $0.00
Interest Rate 5.250% | Total Pald $0.00
.| Yearto Date
Interest Type Actuarial Principal $0.00
Prepayment Penaity No | Interest $0.00
Escrow (Tax & Insurance) $0.00
Next Rate Reset NIA L Total Fees and Charges $0.00
Property Address: Funds in Suspense $0.00
R 3870 OLD DUNN RDJ Totat Pald Year to Date $0.00
APOPKA FL 32712
! This is not your payoff amount. Please login to
MyAccount at ditech.com for a payoft figure.
* Ady P y ady d by servicer to pay
taxes, insurance and any other amounts currently due
that are not pert of an escrow account.
O A O £ &
Date Description Charges Payments
04/17/17 Late Charge Asmt $48.04 $0.00
03/31/17 Corp Adv Disb $15.00 $0.00

Dalias, TX 75266-0934

Call 1-800-843-0202

Monday - Friday, 7a.m. - 8 p.m. CST
Saturday, 7a.m. - 1 p.m. CST

Explanation of Amount Due
$306.14

Principal

Interest $654.69
Escrow (Tax & insurance) $360.67
Regular Monthly Payment $1,321.50
Total New Fees and Charges $48.04
Past Due Amount $79,974.63

“*Delinquency Notice**

You ar lats on your mortgage payments. Faikune o bring your
hsnmm?” %ﬂmw%w-mmnlm

home. As of Ap) are days on your mortgoge
kean. Your aocount ﬂtslmbec&ma Wmm‘z.

Important Messages (More information on the Back)

PARTIAL PAYMENTS: Any partial payments that you make are not apptied to your mortgage, but instead are held in
a separate suspense account. If you pay the balance of a partial payment, the funds will then be apptied to your

mortgage.

Your account is now severely delinquent and your immediate action i

Alisha M at 1-800-643-0202, extension 32358 to make immediate payment arrangements.

CHAR! £EQ @ DANDINIICY

s required. Contact your account representative,

Rocont Account History

-Payment Due 11/01/16: Unpaid amount of $1,321 50
-Paymert Due 12/01/16: Unpaid amount of $1,321.50
-Payment Dus 01/01/17; Unpaid amount of $1,321.50
-Payment Due 02/01/17: Unpaid amount of $1.321.50
-Payment Due 0301/17: Unpaid amount of $1,321,50
-Payment Due 04/01/17 Unpaid amount of $1,321.50

-Torl: $81,344.17 dus. You must pay this amount to bring your toan
current,

nmumemﬁmmmmzmmmhmm
piplngdre
]




Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS

fditech.

PO Bex 6172, Rapid City, SO 57709-6172

0-776-08376-0036375-004-1-001-000-000-000
CHARLES S RODRIGUEZ
175 E MAIN ST STE 111
APOPKA FL 32703-3213

L1 g Il nanfuafbecgbessas habostga fRogefgoot [fo el
I 1] (1R U R ]

Account information

5 Past Payments Breakdown

Document 1-8 Filed 05/10/18 Page 1 of 2 PagelD 57

BILLING STATEME

Amount Due
i $85,746.61

_ It payment Is recolved after 08/16/2017,
a $48.04 late fee will be charged

Due Date
08/01/2017

Statement Date
07/17/2017

AutoPay is Free Online at Ditech.com

Mail your payment to
PO Box 660934
Dallas, TX 75266-0934

Call 1-800-643-0202
Monday - Friday, 7a.m. - 8 p.m. CST
Saturday, 7a.m. - 1 pm. CST

EX;)lanation of Amount Due

Loan Number 0050586857 | Sinco Last Statementionth Principal $310.17
Pencipal 00
Principal Batance $165,208.91 | perens o Jinturest $550.66
Escrow Balance (825,358.27) | Escrow (Tax & tnsurance) $0.00 | Escrow (Tax & insurance) $507.58
A Tosai Fees and Charges 5000 | pogular Monthi $1,468.41
Advance Balance $5,619.28 | ¢unds tn Suspense soo00 JRoSU ly Psyment .
Interest Rate 5.250% [ Total Batd $080 | Total New Fees and Charges $48.04
Yaar to Date
tnterest Typo Actuarel | o, - $0.00 Past Dus Amount $84,230.16
Prepaymont Penally No | Interest $0.00
Escrow (Tex & insuranca) $0.00
Next Rato Reset NA Total Fess and Charges $0.00
Property Address: Funds in Suspense $0.00
——— ~—= ~—8970 OtD BUNN RD { Totsi-Pald-Yoar to-Date - $0.00 - - - -
APOPKA FL 32712
1Tnis Is ot your payolf smount, Plssss loginto
NyAccount &1 ditech.com for 0 payolt fgure.
* Ach y services to psy
taxos, end any other
that are not pert of an oscrow scoount.
Transaction Activity Since Last Statement Total Amount qu‘l; $85,746.61
Date Description Chargas Payments
07/17117 Lale Charga Asmt $48.04 $0.00 .
06/30/17 Corp Adv Disb $15.00 $0.00 “Dellnqw uency Notico* i
06726117 Corp Adv Disb $200.00 $0.00 mmﬂ;“;nm'g&?m.mm‘?#
oo b ARSI il -
ocowred. ok
sages Paymsnt Due 0201/17:  Unpeid amountof §1,321.50
p 2 Rt ks ) N  -Psymoni Due CS0117:  Unpeid emount of $1,321.50
This communication Is not an attempt to collact a debt with respect lo any portion of the Amount Due that is baing PaymentDus (UOINT:  Unpaid amountof $1,321.50
deniad engod. Paymsni Due 0S0IN7:  Unpeid emount of $1,321.50
dsputed, or chall <Paymont Duo 0601/17:  Unpaid amount of $1.321.50
PARTIAL PAYMENTS: Any pertial payments that you make aso not applied to your morgaga, but instezd are held in Paymont Due C701N7:  Unpeid emouns of $1,468.41
@ sepate suspensa accournt. if you pay the balance of a partial payment, the funds will then be appiled to your ity dae.
Your gecount is now severely dslinquent and your Immaediate action 8 raquired. Contact your sccount rapreseniative, e counmelig of seieirce.
Sheryl 8 at 1-800-843-0202, extension 85332 to make Immadiate paymen arrengsments.
1This amount may not ba sufficient to reinstate your account, Contact Ditach for the exact amount required for
relnstatement.
I oo oo ____ - >¢

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THIS PORTION WITH YOUR PAYIMENT

CHARLES S RODRIGUEZ
175 E MAIN ST STE 111
APOFKAFL 327033213
Check box for address
changas on reverse side.
Make checks payable to Ditech Financial.
AmountDue $ . .
Additional Escrow $ \ .
Additional Late $ . .
Addltiona! Principal $ . .
Total Amount Enclosed $ \ .
05058695 ? O0O0l4bBNH)

Loan Number 'smumma:e] DueDato | Amount Due

0050586957

|
071712017 losmlzoﬂl $85,746.61

It payment is recelved after 08/16/2017,
a $48.04 late fee will be charged

Ditech
PO Box 660934
Dallas, TX 75266-0934

0008574bb1
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lmportdnl informat;on ’

maisyourbimngmmmﬁunnmh Wumﬁﬁagﬁotouﬂm@mwmmlmmwmwmmm elong with other
vatuabletoo!stnhetpyoummmm%vﬁmmb@ummﬂwelmmemfeedhwkmInwmcantmpmveycurhommmb
experience. if you do not raceive your statement pricr to your due date, you ese still cbligated to make timsly payments. Postal delays do not constitute a
wdwdamtw&wammmmmammw.uemm&esmmmmnmberbwﬁummmdmkummmdmm
payment to the remittance address listed on the front of this statement. Payments made to locations other than thase supplied on the front of this
statement may cause a processing delay. Checks are not heid and will be processed upen recelpt.
-gdtanderbg,aymemlnmlluﬂsfacumofmsmﬂeasaeontact(:ustomers«v!aaforapaycﬁquo:eandfwwardramimtoﬂwPayoffChecks
ress below.

-m%mponm;nnﬁwmatbnaboutmammtmmditm.Lmapaymm&,mhaadpaymamacretmrdcfmmsonymrmmaybereﬂocmdln
your
*Ditsch services mortgage and non-mortgege loans and collacts debt on delinguent and non-cefinquent eccounts. To ensuro compliance with applicable
law, including the Fair Debt Collactions Practices Act (also known as the FDCPA) the following notice is being provided; this notice does not nacessarily
mean that your account is definquent:

This communication is from a dobt collector. It is an sttampt to collsct a debt, and eny information obtained will bo used for that purpese.

Housing Counselor Information: If you would ke counseling or assistance, you can contact the U.S, Department of Housing and Urban (KUD)
Fwallstdhomeownmﬂpwm!asawuwngommmmmgotoh‘lip:l/wwwfmd gwlcmmaglsthnwcﬂwscfmwcﬂwwzw

Othor Important Informat{on cha:qu Your Account

* Gustomor Service. L Femnewmmwmmmhma * o piyefighecks
- customerservice@ditecti.com oidabteoﬂaoﬁon and reqtitre that we treat! . Regular end USPSovamlgmm
mnumhwmgmpmd) B ' MPaycﬁDepmmmc
f &M . . © Attne
Fax & 1-886-870-9919 mﬁ %m”“ DeptCH8052.
Hours: Monday - FtBay7AM 8PM CST -m memmmmfm Palme.lLeouss-sosz

Seturday 7 AM - 1 PMCST-

. Telophone calis may be monitoredor - -
GUSTOMEHSBWWEDEPAR’TMEN‘I‘.
e or ety sssurenco and Ditach Financial LLC, RO, Box 6172,
mw,snmmnomaﬂmat
ustomer.servico@ditoch.com, or call
‘ p o Uotoiio s 14008
s . .HemMm~muay¥-mwmcsr .
Dltich has decgnetod thefolowing addess ety 7 AM -1 PMA G
where morfgago loan customers must send any mmmmcmnmtonmm
* - Qualiifed Written:Request, Notice.of Error or Censitmer Finanolal Protsotion Bureau enforce Attn: Clalma
Requesty for information: the Falr Dabt Gollection Practioes Act. Hyou RO, Box 6100
Ditach Financial LLC . : : aapwcuy.sosnmwo

POBox5184 . at-1658-4112372. or Ly mail at, Consumtof Attn: Insuriince; Processing
Rapid City, SD 67709-6154 : Finaricial Protaction Bureau RO, Box 4503, 440 Mount Rushmore hd
Talepliona Nimiber: 838-288-7785 _— fowa City, 1A.82244.. mﬂapld ?‘t‘.so 57701
o Correspondence P 2 b riued - Fax & 1-868-222-2108
Ditech Financlal LLG , %eﬂvwm-&ehw*”wmm PO #: 1-800-223-8284
. PO, Box 8172 -authorize ya efther to use information )
Rapid Clty, SD 677086172 Mtomkeame-ﬁmo{o dseﬁontefundm
Fax &1-866-670-8919 mﬁum‘”mw Process the.payment
www.ditech.com Moneygam - Western Union Crodit Card
Payments can be made at ditech.com free For a location near you, call l% For same day service from the
of charge. Sign up in your MyAccount to 1-800-668-3947. Ditech's receive convenisnce of your home,
make payments onfine or enrcll to have codo is 0314-Ditech call 1-800-325-6000.
your payment automatically debited from A procossing fee may apply. A processing fee may apply.
your bank account sach month.
(7=v) PayByPhone Wastera Unjon Quick Colloct
(@) Call 1-300-843-0202 raacy! A processing fee may apply.
Have your checkbock d
An electronic paymsnt fee of up to Paymans_J_Prot Opiema | Company Name] Code Gy
$19 may be required for this option. m"‘ Urgont pouech Drach:
ue
if not using any of the above-reft d options, please send pay to the address provided on this P: are not ptod at Ditech sito locations.
Address, Phone,and Name Changes
**Pleass remembor:
Name char oaod of
Type of change (check 2l that apply) ‘mmx;:mwgm;”wghﬁm
—._Address —Phone ___ Name** — Email Address documents are mariage hcensos and divocce docreos.
YourAccoum! : _ _ o e -
Old 8 Name: New B Name:
Oid Co-Borrower Name: New Co-Borrower Name:
B Sigr Co-Borrower Signature:

New Maiting Address:

New Phone Number:Oay(__ ) __ __ _- . ___ _ Evenng(_ _ _)_ _ _-_______ EmailAdd
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION and
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION
BUREAU,

15-cv-02064 (SRN-JSM)
Plaintiffs,
v.

GREEN TREE SERVICING LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company,

Defendant.

N N N N N Nt Nt Nt Nwtt ' Nwt ot st

STIPULATED ORDER FOR PERMANENT
INJUNCTION AND MONETARY JUDGMENT

Plaintiffs, the Federal Trade Commission (“Commission”) and the Consumer
Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), have filed their Complaint for a permanent
injunction and other relief in this matter. The Commission brought this action pursuant
to Sections 5(a) and 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C.
§§ 45(a) and 53(b). The Bureau brought this action pursuant to Sections 1031(a),
1036(a)(1), and 1054 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA™), 12
U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1), and 5564, and sought civil penalties pursuant to Section

1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). Defendant Green Tree Servicing LLC

Page 1 of 65
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(“Defendant” or “Green Tree”) waived service of the summons and the Complaint. The
Commission, Bureau, and the Defendant stipulate to entry of this Order for Permanent
Injunction and Monetary Judgment (“Order”).

THEREFORE, it is ORDERED as follows:

FINDINGS
1. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter.
2. The Complaint alleges a claim upon which relief may be granted under

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a); Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the
CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1); the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
(“FDCPA™), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692-1692p; the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”), 15
U.S.C. §§ 1681-1681x; and Section 6 of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12
U.S.C. § 2605, and its implementing regulation, Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. part 1024
(formerly codified at 24 C.F.R. part 3500) (collectively “RESPA”™).

3. For purposes of this settlement, Defendant neither admits nor denies any of
the allegations in the Complaint, except as specifically stated in this Order. Only for
purposes of this action, Defendant admits the facts necessary to establish jurisdiction.

4. All parties waive all rights to appeal or otherwise challenge or contest the
validity of this Order. Defendant further waives and releases any claim it may have
against the Commission or the Bureau, and their employees, representatives, or agents.

5. Defendant waives any claim that it may have under the Equal Access to
Page 2 of 65
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Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this action through the date
of this Order, and agrees to bear its own costs and attorney fees.

6. The Plaintiffs and Defendant, by and through their counsel, have agreed
that entry of this Order resolves all matters in dispute between them arising from the facts
and circumstances alleged in the Complaint in this action that have taken place as of the
Effective Date, except that the Bureau specifically reserves and does not release any
liability arising under any provision of the Bureau’s rules relating to mortgage servicing

(12 C.F.R. § 1024.30, et seq.) as of January 10, 2014.

DEFINITIONS

For purposes of this Order, the following definitions shall apply:

1. “Collecting on past-due debt(s)” means recovering or attempting to recover,
directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due, for which
consumers are currently in default, as default is defined in the loan agreement or
applicable document creating the debt obligation.

2. “Debt” means any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer to pay
money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance, or services
which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household
purposes, whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment.

3. “Defendant” means Defendant Green Tree Servicing LLC, and its

successors and assigns. For purposes of this definition, an “assign” means a person who
Page 3 of 65
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purchases all or substantially all of the assets of Green Tree Servicing LLC or of Green
Tree Servicing LLC’s division(s) or major business unit(s) that are engaged as a primary
business in customer-facing servicing of residential mortgage loans.

4. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Order is entered.

5. “Grace period” means the period between the date when a loan payment is
due and the date when Green Tree is permitted to assess a late fee under the related loan
documents.

6. “In-process loan modification” means a trial or permanent loan
modification offered by a servicer that was either accepted by the borrower or for which
the time for the borrower to accept the offer has not expired and the offer has not been
rejected, but is not finalized as a permanent modification before servicing rights on the
loan are transferred to another entity. It includes trial modifications in which the prior
servicer agreed to modify the loan payment terms unless Defendant has clear written
evidence that the borrower has failed to perform under the trial loan modification terms.
It also includes modifications in which the consumer completed making the trial
payments before the loan was transferred to Defendant, but the permanent modification
was not input into the prior servicer’s system before the transfer.

7. “Investigation” means objectively evaluating the circumstances and
considering information, including an assessment of the relevance, reliability, accuracy,

integrity, and completeness of such information, to determine whether a consumer owes a

Page 4 of 65
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debt in the amount asserted or to assess a borrower’s notice of error or qualified written
request. The information Defendant shall assess in an investigation, where applicable to
the dispute, shall include but not be limited to:

(a) the information that Defendant received from the credit originator or
any prior servicer or owner of the debt, such as: (i) the consumer’s
credit application, (ii) the credit contract between the consumer and
the credit originator, (iii) documents with the current or former
name, address, and telephone number of the consumer, (iv)
documents with the consumer’s account number, in whole or in part,
and periodic billing statements, (v) payment/transaction history, (vi)
documents with the date and outstanding balance, and (vii) servicing
notes;

(b) the information that Defendant received from data aggregators, data
brokers, consumer reporting agencies, skip tracers, and other third
parties, such as: (i) documents with the current or former name,
address, and telephone number of the consumer, (ii) documents with
consumer report information, including credit scores and updates to
the information in consumer reports, and (iii) the scoring of the debt
through the use of a predictive model;

(c) the information that Defendant created or maintained in collecting

Page 5 of 65
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on the debt, such as servicing notes and payment history from the
immediately preceding two years; and

(d) the information the Defendant received from the consumer denying,
disputing, or challenging the claim that the consumer owes the debt
or the amount of the debt, such as: (i) documents with the
consumer’s current or former name, address, and telephone number,
(ii) receipts or other evidence of payment from the credit originator
or any prior servicer or owner of the debt, or a debt collector, (iii)
canceled checks, bank account statements, credit card statements,
and other documents evidencing payment, and (iv) a consumer
dispute relating to the disputed amount.

8. “Involuntary transfer” means a transfer when the transferor servicer is in
breach of, or default under, its servicing agreement for loss mitigation related-servicing
performance deficiencies, or is in receivership, and is required to transfer servicing to
another servicer in thirty (30) days or less by an unaffiliated investor, or a court or
regulator with jurisdiction.

9. “Loss mitigation” means modified payment arrangements, trial, permanent
and in-process loan modifications, forbearance plans, short sales, deed-in-lieu agreements
and any other non-foreclosure home retention or non-retention option offered by the

owner or assignee of a mortgage loan that is made available to the consumer through a

Page 6 of 65
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prior servicer or Defendant.

10.  “Portfolio” means a group of loans for which the mortgage servicing rights
are transferred to or from Defendant pursuant to a single contract for the sale or transfer
of mortgage servicing rights.

11.  “Related consumer action” means a private action by or on behalf of
one or more consumers, or enforcement action by another governmental agency, entity,
or representative, brought against Defendant based on substantially the same conduct or
issues as alleged in the Complaint.

12.  “Servicing” means collecting, receiving and applying payments made on a
consumer’s account pursuant to the terms of the loan agreement, such as payments of
principal, interest, taxes, and fees; administering loan accounts; receiving and processing
data and documentation for loan accounts transferred from prior servicers; making loan-
related communications; responding to borrower notices asserting an error and qualified
written requests; providing periodic billing statements to consumers; maintaining records
of the status of consumers’ loan accounts; providing information to and resolving
disputes with consumers regarding loan accounts; disbursing payments from consumers’
escrow accounts; providing loss mitigation, including but not limited to loan
modifications and short sales; pursuing foreclosure; repossessing property; filing
bankruptcy claims; calculating deficiency judgments; using consumer reports and
furnishing information to consumer reporting agencies; and collecting or assessing fees in

Page 7 of 65
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relation to any of the foregoing.
13.  “Transfer,” as it appears in Sections IV, V, and VII of this Order, means the
transfer of mortgage servicing rights, or of servicing responsibilities, including through

subservicing or whole loan servicing arrangements.

I ORDER FOR EQUITABLE MONETARY RELIEF

IT IS ORDERED that:
A.  Judgment is entered in favor of the Commission and the Bureau against
Defendant in the amount of Forty Eight Million Dollars ($48,000,000) total as follows:
1. Eighteen Million Dollars ($18,000,000) for alleged violations of the
FTC Act, CFPA, and FDCPA with respect to Defendant’s alleged
misrepresentations relating to payment methods that entail a
convenience fee.
2. Thirty Million Dollars ($30,000,000) for alleged violations of the
FTC Act, CFPA, FDCPA, and RESPA with respect to Defendant’s
conduct relating to short sales and in-process loan modifications,
including Defendant’s alleged failure to timely respond to qualified
written requests relating to in-process loan modifications and with
respect to Defendant’s alleged misrepresentations about the time it
will take to review short sale requests.

B. Within ten (10) days of entry of this order, Defendant is ordered to pay to
Page 8 of 65
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the Bureau $48,000,000 dollars in full satisfaction of the judgment in favor of the
Commission and the Bureau as set forth in Paragraphs A.1 and A.2 of this Section. Such
payment shall be made by wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may
direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the
Bureau.

C.  All money paid to the Bureau pursuant to this Section shall be deposited
into a fund or funds administered by the Bureau or its agent in accordance with
applicable statutes and regulations to be used for consumer redress, including but not
limited to refund of moneys, restitution, or other monetary relief, and for any attendant
expenses for the administration of such redress.

D. If the Bureau, in consultation with the Commission, decides that redress to
consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate or funds remain
after redress is completed, the Bureau may apply any remaining money for such other
relief (including consumer information remedies) as it determines to be reasonably
related to Defendant’s practices alleged in the Complaint. Any funds not used for such
relief are to be deposited to the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Defendant has no right to
challenge any actions the Bureau, the Commission, or their representatives may take
pursuant to this Paragraph.

E. Redress provided by Defendant shall not limit consumers’ rights in any

way or prevent Defendant from asserting in a related consumer action that a consumer

Page 9 of 65



Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1-9 Filed 05/10/18 Page 10 of 67 PagelD 68
CASE 0:15-cv-02064-SRN-JSM Document 5 Filed 04/23/15 Page 10 of 67

should not recover for any amounts paid under this Order.
F. In light of the monetary relief to be paid to the Bureau, and to avoid double
payment, the FTC is subrogating its claim for equitable monetary relief to the Bureau’s

claim.

II. ORDERTO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES

A. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the
alleged violations of law in the Complaint, and taking into account the factors set forth in
12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Defendant shall pay a civil money penalty of Fifteen Million
Dollars ($15,000,000) to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth herein.

B.  Within ten days of the Effective Date, Defendant shall pay the civil money
penalty in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may
direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the
Bureau.

C.  The civil money penalty paid under this Order shall be deposited in the
Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau in accordance with Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12
U.S.C. § 5497(d).

D.  Defendant shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the
government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those funds,

Defendant shall not:
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1. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard
to any federal, state, or local tax for any civil money penalty that
Defendant pays under this Order; or

2. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or
indemnification from any source, including but not limited to
payment made pursuant to any insurance policy, with regard to any
civil money penalty that Defendant pays under this Order.

E. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any related
consumer action, Defendant shall not argue that Defendant is entitled to, nor shall
Defendant benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in the
related consumer action, because of the civil money penalty paid in this action (“Penalty
Offset”). If the court in any related consumer action grants such a Penalty Offset,
Defendant shall, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset,
notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a
payment shall not be deemed an additional civil money penalty and shall not be deemed
to change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action.

F. In light of the monetary relief to be paid to the Bureau, and to avoid double

payment, the FTC is subrogating its claim for civil penalties to the Bureau’s claim.

III. ADDITIONAL MONETARY PROVISIONS

A.  Inthe event of any default on Defendant’s obligations to make payment
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under this Order, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall
accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of
payment, and shall immediately become due and payable.

B. Defendant relinquishes all dominion, control, and all legal and equitable
right, title, and interest to the funds paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part
of the funds shall be returned to Defendant.

C.  The facts alleged in the Complaint will be taken as true, without further
proof, in any subsequent civil litigation by or on behalf of the Commission or Bureau in a
proceeding to enforce its rights to any payment or monetary judgment pursuant to this
Order.

D.  The facts alleged in the Complaint establish all elements necessary to
sustain an action by the Commission or Bureau pursuant to Section 523(a)(2)(A) of the
Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2)(A), and this Order will have collateral estoppel
effect for such purposes.

E. Defendant acknowledges that its Taxpayer Identification Number, which
Defendant previously submitted to the Commission or Bureau, may be used for collecting
and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order, in accordance with 31
U.S.C. § 7701.

F. For a period of three (3) years from the Effective Date, within thirty (30)
days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a related consumer
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action, Defendant shall notify the Bureau Enforcement Director of the final judgment,
consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification shall indicate the amount of
redress, if any, that Defendant paid or is required to pay to consumers and should
describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be

paid.

IV. INJUNCTION AGAINST UNSUBSTANTIATED CLAIMS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and
employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who
receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently
restrained and enjoined from:

A.  Making any representation, expressly or by implication, that a consumer’s
account has unpaid balances, payment due dates, interest rates, monthly payment
amounts, delinquency statuses, unpaid fees, or other amounts due, unless, at the time of
making the representation, Defendant can substantiate such a representation, including
but not limited to situations in which:

1. Defendant knows or reasonably should know that a consumer, at the
time the consumer’s loan was transferred to Defendant, was
performing or previously completed performance under a trial or
permanent loan modification with the prior servicer of the loan but

Defendant continues to attempt collection from the consumer under
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the original, unmodified mortgage loan terms. Defendant reasonably
should know that a consumer was performing or previously
completed performance under a trial or permal\lent loan modification
with a prior servicer once Defendant receives any information from
the prior servicer, the consumer, or any other source substantiating
that the consumer was performing or previously completed
performance under a trial or permanent loan modification; or

2. Defendant knows or reasonably should know that the information for
the account is facially unreliable, materially inaccurate, or missing
material information, but Defendant continues to attempt collection
on the account without commencing and completing an investigation
regarding the account.

3. Nothing in this provision shall be interpreted to preclude Defendant
from accurately representing for informational purposes contractual
amounts that remain due and owing until a permanent loan
modification has been finalized, provided that such representation
does not mislead a consumer regarding the amounts due under the
modification.

B. Failing, after a consumer orally denies, disputes, or challenges Defendant’s

claim that the consumer owes a debt or owes a debt in the amount asserted to: (i) provide
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the consumer orally and contemporaneously with instructions for submitting the dispute
in writing; and (ii) within 14 days of the consumer disputing Defendant’s claim, provide
the consumer clear and conspicuous written instructions on how to submit the dispute in
writing; and

C. Failing, after a consumer denies, disputes, or challenges, in
writing, the Defendant’s claim that the consumer owes the debt or owes the debt in the
amount asserted, to:

1. Within fourteen (14) days after the denial, dispute, or challenge, or
when the debt is next reported to a consumer reporting agency, if
earlier, report the debt as disputed; and

2. Promptly after the denial, dispute, or challenge:

a. Cease collection of any disputed amount, inform the
consumer that it has ceased collection of the disputed amount,
and, where the decision is within Defendant’s control, not
transfer servicing to any person or entity other than the
creditor to whom the debt is owed, until the Defendant
satisfies its obligations to conduct an investigation and
respond as set forth in Paragraphs (b) and (c) below or obtains

an agreement from the transferee servicer to conduct such an
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investigation and respond as set forth in Paragraphs (b) and
(c) below;

b. Commence and complete, within thirty (30) days after a
consumer denies, disputes, or challenges Defendant’s claim
that a consumer owes the debt or that he or she owes the debt
in the amount asserted, an investigation of the denial, dispute,
or challenge, unless the consumer provides information that is
relevant to the investigation during the 30-day time period, in
which case the investigation may be extended for no more
than fifteen (15) additional days. Provided that Defendant
shall not be required to investigate any denial, dispute, or
challenge if it reasonably determines that the denial, dispute,
or challenge is frivolous or irrelevant. A dispute qualifies as
frivolous or irrelevant if the Defendant does not have
sufficient information to investigate and the consumer does
not provide the necessary information when asked, or if
Defendant has previously complied with its obligation to
investigate and respond and the consumer does not provide to
Defendant or Defendant does not otherwise acquire or obtain

information, data, or documentation that was not considered

Page 16 of 65



Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1-9 Filed 05/10/18 Page 17 of 67 PagelD 75
CASE 0:15-cv-02064-SRN-JSM Document 5 Filed 04/23/15 Page 17 of 67

in any prior investigation. Defendant shall notify the

consumer within five (5) business days of Defendant’s

determination if the denial, dispute, or challenge is not
investigated under this proviso; and
c. If Defendant reasonably concludes after its investigation:

i That the consumer owes the debt in the amount
asserted, Defendant, within ten (10) days of reaching
its conclusion, shall provide verification of the debt to
the consumer, inform the consumer of its conclusion,
and provide the basis for it, aﬁel_' which it may resume
collection of the previously-disputed amount. If the
consumer continues to dispute the debt, nothing in this
order supersedes the requirement of § 623(a)(3) of the
FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)3, that Defendant
convey the dispute when furnishing information on the
debt to any consumer reporting agency.

ii. That the consumer does not owe the debt or the debt
cannot be verified, Defendant shall, within five (5)
days of reaching its conclusion: (a) inform the

consumer of its conclusion and the basis for it; (b)
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request that each consumer reporting agency to which
Defendant had reported the debt or caused the debt to
be reported, delete the item from the consumer’s credit
reporting file; (c) cease collection; and (d) where the
decision is within Defendant’s control, not transfer
servicing to any person or entity other than the creditor
to whom the debt is allegedly owed.
iii.  That the consumer does owe the debt but not in the
amount that Defendant asserted, Defendant shall,
within five (5) days of reaching its conclusion: (a)
inform the consumer of its conclusion and the basis for
it; and (b) provide to each consumer reporting agency
to which the debt has been reported any correction to
the reported information that is necessary to make the
information provided by Defendant accurate, after
which it may continue collection.
Provided that, if the consumer initiates contact with Defendant by any means,
Defendant may respond to the consumer prior to the completion of the investigation.
Provided further that the limitations on transfer in Subsections IV.C.2.a and

IV.C.2.c.ii shall not apply when the transfer is between owners of the right to perform
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servicing who do not perform the servicing and there is no change in the subservicer.
Provided further that, nothing in this Section IV prohibits Defendant from
requiring consumers who deny, dispute, or challenge a debt on the grounds of fraud or
identity theft to do so in writing, so long as Defendant clearly and conspicuously
discloses these requirements. Once Defendant receives an identity theft report, the

requirements of § 623(a)(6)(B) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(6)(B), apply.

V. DATA INTEGRITY REQUIREMENT

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, in connection with loan servicing
and collection activities, shall, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the
date of entry of this Order, establish and maintain a comprehensive data integrity
program (“Program”) reasonably designed to ensure the accuracy, integrity, and
completeness of the data and other information about accounts that Defendant services,
collects, or sells, including any accounts acquired by or transferred to Defendant. The
Program, the content and implementation of which must be fully documented in writing,
shall contain administrative, technical, and physical safeguards appropriate to the nature,
size, complexity, and scope of Defendant’s loan servicing activities, and shall include:

A.  The designation of an employee or employees to oversee the Program;

B. The maintenance of sufficient personnel that are adequately trained to

perform the Program requirements in a timely and legal manner;
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C.  The identification of material internal and external risks to the accuracy,
integrity, and completeness of loan servicing data that could result in material errors to
consumers’ accounts and assessment of the sufficiency of any safeguards in place to
control these risks. At a minimum, this risk assessment shall consider risks in each
relevant area of operation, including, but not limited to (1) employee training and
management, (2) information systems, including network and software design, servicing
transfer protocols, information processing, storage, transmission, and disposal, and (3)
prevention, detection, and response to any systems failure;

D.  The completion of due diligence prior to receiving transferred mortgage
servicing rights. Specifically, prior to receiving the transfer of mortgage servicing rights,
Defendant shall conduct due diligence to understand and implement steps necessary to
resolve issues with the type of loan level information and documentation in the
transferor’s possession and control, the transferor’s ability to transfer the information
electronically, in images, or only in paper records, material gaps in the transferor’s
records, and Defendant’s ability to promptly process the information to be provided by
the transferor, and otherwise ensure that Defendant will be able to comply with its
servicing obligations with respect to every loan transferred. Defendant shall seek
assurance that the transferor will transfer all material loan level information in its

possession or control at or before the time of transfer.
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E. The testing, identification, and correction of material errors in the following
data fields in Defendant’s servicing systems of record: monthly payment amount,
principal balance, interest rate, loan term, escrow account balance, suspense account
balance, delinquency status, loss mitigation status, and foreclosure status (collectively,
the “Tested Data Fields™).

1. Portfolios Tested and Timing for Testing Portfolios.

a. Testing of Portfolios Transferred After the Effective Date of
this Order. In addition to the requirements in Section VIL.A.3
relating to loans in loss mitigation, within twenty (20) days
after the transfer of any portfolio transferred after the
Effective Date of this Order, or within twenty (20) days after
the establishment of the Program, whichever is later,
Defendant shall conduct a “Data File Review.” A Data File
Review shall mean testing to examine the completeness and
accuracy of loan information and to identify material errors.
This shall include comparing the Tested Data Fields in
Defendant’s servicing systems of record as of the loan
transfer cutoff date for material errors against the electronic

data and the loan-level documents provided by the transferor
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servicer from which Defendant acquired the servicing rights
to the portfolio.

b. Previously Acquired Portfolios. To the extent that Defendant
is, as of the Effective Date, servicing mortgage loans in
portfolios at risk for widespread or systemic errors in the
Tested Data Fields, for which portfolios Defendant acquired
the servicing rights after January 1, 2010, Defendant shall
perform a Data File Review within 15 days after the
establishment of the Program. A portfolio is at risk for
widespread or systemic errors if it exhibits any of the
following factors: (1) the portfolio was an involuntary
transfer, (2) the portfolio transferred under an agreement
containing a disclaimer as to the availability of loan account
level information and documents, (3) the portfolio transferred
from a servicer or owner that Defendant has learned
previously provided materially inaccurate information for
more than 5% of the portfolio or had missing material
information for more than 5% of the portfolio, (4) Defendant
has other information about the portfolio’s prior owner or

servicer and its methods of doing business that suggests that
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more than 5% of the portfolio contains material errors or
materially incomplete information, or (5) after onboarding,
consumers have disputed in writing the accuracy of the
information in accounts amounting to more than 2% of a

portfolio serviced by Defendant.

2. Percentage of Each Portfolio to be Tested.

a.

All Data File Reviews, as prescribed in Subsection V.E.1, and
On-Going Testing, as prescribed in Subsection V.E.4, shall be
statistically valid and based on an appropriate sampling
methodology, such that the results from the sample can be
reliably extrapolated to the loan portfolio as a whole, and
shall include both random and risk-based selection criteria.

If a Data File Review performed pursuant to Section V.E.1. of
this Order reveals a material error rate of more than 5% with
respect to any Tested Data Field(s) in a portfolio, Defendant
shall, within thirty (30) days, complete a Data File Review of
such field(s) for all loans in the portfolio. In the event that
the full-portfolio Data File Review described in this section
reveals a material error rate exceeding 5% of all loans in the

portfolio with respect to any of the field(s) tested under this
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subsection, Defendant shall perform a Data File Review of
such field(s) for the entire portfolio every six months until the
material error rate falls below 5%.

3. Correction of Errors. Upon completion of any Data File Review,
Defendant shall correct and remediate any individual account errors
identified by the Defendant, including promptly refunding or
reversing any overcharges and stopping foreclosure where
appropriate.

4, Ongoing Testing. Within 180 days of the Effective Date, and every
six months thereafter, Defendant shall identify any portfolios
serviced by Defendant for which, in the immediately preceding six
months, consumers representing more than 2% of the relevant
portfolio have disputed in writing the accuracy of the information in
the Tested Data Fields. In the event any such portfolios exist,
Defendant shall determine whether there exist any systemic issues
giving rise to the disputes about errors in the accuracy of the Tested
Data Fields in the portfolio and, if any errors are found, Defendant
shall develop and implement a plan to correct the errors. Provided
that, when a consumer orally denies, disputes, or challenges the

accuracy of the information contained in a Tested Data Field,
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Defendant shall (i) provide the consumer orally and
contemporaneously with instructions for submitting the dispute in
writing; and (ii) within 14 days of the consumer disputing
Defendant’s claim, provide the consumer clear and conspicuous
written instructions on how to submit the dispute in writing.

Provided that the requirements of this Subsection V.E shall not apply to transfers
when the transfer is between owners of the right to perform servicing who do not perform
the servicing and there is no change in the subservicer.

F. The design and implementation of reasonable safeguards to control the
risks identified through risk assessment, and regular auditing or testing or monitoring of
the effectiveness of the safeguards’ key controls, system, and procedures;

G.  The regular auditing, testing, or monitoring of the effectiveness of the
Program using statistically valid samples, such that the samples include both random and
risk-based selection criteria and the results from the samples can be reliably extrapolated
to the Program as a whole; and

H.  The evaluation and adjustment of the Program in light of the results of the
required auditing, testing, or monitoring, and any material changes to Defendant’s
operations or business arrangements that may significantly impact the Program, or any
other circumstances that Defendant knows or has reason to know may have a material

impact on the integrity, accuracy, and completeness of Defendant’s loan servicing
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process, or data and other information about accounts that Defendant services, collects, or
sells.

Provided that, in the event of a conflict between this Section V and the
requirements of federal, state, or local laws or the standard provisions imposed on
servicers by the Department of Treasury, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae, the
Federal Housing Administration, the Department of Veterans Affairs, the Rural Housing
Administration, and any other similar organization that may come into existence after the
entry of this Order such that Defendant cannot comply with this Section V without
violating these requirements, Defendant shall document such conflicts and notify the
Commission and the Bureau that it intends to comply with the requirements to the extent
necessary to eliminate the conflict.

Provided further that, in the event of an involuntary transfer to Defendant which
results in a delay in the transferor’s transfer of relevant information or a volume of errors
in the transferor’s data that prevents Defendant from being able to comply with the time
limits in this Section, Defendant shall submit a written plan to the Bureau and the
Commission within ten (10) days after the date of the transfer identifying the cause of the
delay and setting forth the specific steps it is taking, the resources it is devoting, and
Defendant’s expected timeline for complying with the requirements of this Section. If
such plan is not objected to by the Bureau or the Commission within ten (10) days of

submission of the plan, Defendant must proceed to implement the plan. If the Bureau or
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the Commission objects to the plan within ten (10) days of submission, Defendant will
make reasonable efforts to amend the plan to address any objection. Defendant shall not
take more than 120 days from the date of the transfer to satisfy the requirements of this

Section.

VL. ASSESSMENT

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:

A.  Defendant shall, within one hundred and twenty (120) days after the
implementation of the Data Integrity Program required by Section V of this Order, and
biennially thereafter for eight (8) years after entry of this Order, obtain an assessment and
report (“Assessment”) from a qualified, objective, independent, third-party professional,
the identity of which is agreed to by a representative of the Commission and a
representative of the Bureau, that, using procedures and standards generally accepted in
the profession:

1. Sets forth the specific data integrity program that Defendant has
implemented and maintained during the reporting period;

2. Explains how the data integrity program is appropriate to
Defendant’s size and complexity, and the nature and scope of
Defendant’s activities;

3. Explains how the data integrity program meets or exceeds the

protections required by Section V of this Order; and
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4. Certifies that to the best of the certifier’s knowledge and belief the
data integrity program is operating with sufficient effectiveness to
provide reasonable assurance of the material accuracy, integrity, and
completeness of Defendant’s records.

B.  Defendant shall provide a copy of the first Assessment to the Commission
within ten (10) days after the Assessment is delivered to Defendant. Defendant shall,
within thirty (30) days of a request, provide the Commission with a copy of all plans,
reports, studies, reviews, audits, audit trails, policies, training materials, and assessments,
whether prepared by or on behalf of Defendant, relied upon to prepare such Assessment.
All subsequent biennial Assessments shall be retained by Defendant and a copy provided
to the Commission within thirty (30) days of request. The Commission will provide to
the Bureau a copy of all Assessments and any other materials produced pursuant to this

Section VI of this Order.

VII. INJUNCTION RELATING TO MORTGAGE SERVICING

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and
employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who
receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently
restrained and enjoined from:

Limitations on the Transfer of Servicing for Loans in Loss Mitigation

A.  Transferring or acquiring servicing for loans in loss mitigation or with a
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loss mitigation application pending, regardless of whether Defendant is the transferor or

transferee, unless:

L.

The transferor or transferee identifies by loan number the following
categories of loans at least thirty (30) days prior to transfer, and
updates such information at least five (5) days prior to transfer:

a. Loans in any stage of pending loss mitigation, including but

not limited to in-process loan modifications;

b. Loans approved or converted to a permanent loss mitigation

outcome within sixty (60) days of transfer; and
c. Loans denied loss mitigation within sixty (60) days of
transfer;
The transferor agrees to make all reasonable efforts to provide the
transferee all the following information in its possession or control,
prior to transfer or at a minimum, agrees to provide this information
by the date of the transfer: all account-level documents and data
relating to loss mitigation, including a copy of the mortgage note,
periodic billing statements for the two years prior to the service
transfer, payment history for the two years prior to the service
transfer, escrow and suspense account information, loss mitigation

applications, loss mitigation notices, documentation and information
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received from the borrower for purposes of evaluating the borrower

for loss mitigation, any net present value or other analysis by a

servicer in connection with a borrower’s application for loss

mitigation, loss mitigation agreements, any written communications
or notes of oral communications with the borrower about the loss
mitigation, and any other information needed to administer any
pending loss mitigation applications or in-process

loan modifications; and

3. The contract for the transfer includes the following requirements:

a. The transferee will engage in quality control work to validate
that the loss mitigation data matches the images and paper
documents received, make reasonable efforts to identify
missing loss mitigation data, documentation, or information
and request missing information from the transferor within
fifteen (15) days of transfer; and

b. Within ten (10) days of a request from the transferee, the
transferor will provide missing or incomplete loss mitigation
data, documentation, or information in its possession or
control;

4. The contract for the transfer also includes the following
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requirements:

a. The transferee will honor loss mitigation agreements entered
into by the prior servicer, including but not limited to in-
process loan modifications;

b. The transferee will continue processing pending loss
mitigation requests received in the transfer; and

c. Within thirty (30) days of transfer, the transferee will finish
reviewing and resolve any loss mitigation request that was
pending within sixty (60) days of transfer for which the
transferee or buyer lacks clear written evidence that such
request was denied, and provide the consumer an opportunity
to provide any necessary missing information.

Provided, however, that the requirements of Subsections VIL.A.1, 2, and 3 shall
not apply to transfers when the transfer is between owners of the right to perform

servicing who do not perform the servicing and there is no change in the subservicer.

Short Sales

B.  Failing to send consumers written confirmation within five business days of
receipt of a short sale application. If the short sale application is incomplete, Defendant
must include in this written confirmation a list of any missing documents required to

complete the short sale application; and
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C.  Failing to complete an evaluation of the short sale application and
communicate a decision to the consumer prior to the date of a foreclosure sale (provided
that Defendant receives the completed short sale application more than 14 days before the
foreclosure sale) or within thirty (30) days after receipt of a complete short sale
application, whichever is earlier, except that Defendant may have an additional fifteen
(15) days to communicate its decision to the borrower when waiting to receive required
information from third parties, provided Defendant promptly updates the borrower with

the reason for this delay in writing.

Other Loss Mitigation Requirements

D.  Failing, within ninety (90) days after entry of this Order, to make
Defendant’s loss mitigation application available to consumers at no cost by, at a
minimum, making it publicly available and readily accessible on Defendant’s website and
providing it upon request to consumers. The application shall identify all required
documentation and information necessary to complete a loss mitigation application;

E. Failing, within ninety (90) days after the date of entry of this Order, to
maintain sufficient personnel that are adequately trained to handle loss mitigation
requests in a timely and legal manner;

F. Failing, within ninety (90) days after the date of entry of this Order, to
implement and maintain a centralized document management system for tracking and

storing incoming loss mitigation documents, including those submitted by consumers,
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staffed with sufficient personnel that are adequately trained to prevent significant
backlogs and lost documents;

G.  Failing, within ninety (90) days after the date of entry of this Order, to
implement and maintain an online portal linked to Defendant’s primary servicing system

where consumers can check, at no cost, the status of their loss mitigation requests. The

portal must, among other things:
1. Enable consumers to submit documents electronically;
2. Provide an electronic receipt for any documents submitted; and
3. Update the status of pending loss mitigation requests at least every
10 business days;

H.  Failing, within ninety (90) days after the date of entry of this Order, to take
reasonable steps to ensure that personnel assigned to consumers pursuant to the Bureau’s
rules relating to continuity of contact (12 C.F.R. § 1024.40):

1. Refer and transfer consumers to a loss mitigation or other
appropriate supervisor upon request;

2. Have access to individuals able to stop foreclosure proceedings
when necessary to comply with this Order and other applicable
requirements; and

3. Are not subject to compensation arrangements that encourage

collection over loss mitigation activity.
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Provided that, in the event of a conflict between this Section VII and the
requirements of federal, state, or local laws or the standard provisions imposed on
servicers by the Department of Treasury, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae, the
Federal Housing Administration, the Department of Veterans Affairs, the Rural Housing
Administration, and any other similar organization that may come into existence after the
entry of this Order such that Defendant cannot comply with this Section VII without
violating these requirements, Defendant shall document such conflicts and notify the
Commission and the Bureau that it intends to comply with the requirements to the extent
necessary to eliminate the conflict.

Provided further that, in the event of an involuntary transfer to Defendant which
results in a delay of the transferor’s transfer of relevant information and prevents
Defendant from being able to comply with the time limits in Section VII.A, Defendant
shall submit a written plan to the Bureau and the Commission, within ten (10) days after
the date of the transfer, identifying the cause of the delay and setting forth the specific
steps it is taking, the resources it is devoting, and Defendant’s expected timeline for
complying with the requirements of Section VIL.A. If such plan is not objected to by the
Bureau or the Commission within ten (10) days of submission of the plan, Defendant
must proceed to implement the plan. If the Bureau or the Commission objects to the plan
within ten (10) days of submission, Defendant will make reasonable efforts to amend the

plan to address any objection. In no event shall Defendants fail to honor loss mitigation
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agreements entered into by the prior servicer, fail to continue processing pending loss
mitigation requests received in the transfer, or take more than 60 days from the date of

the transfer to satisfy the requirements of Section VIL.A.

VIII. HOME PRESERVATION REQUIREMENT

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant shall, no later than sixty (60) days
after the date of entry of this Order, establish and implement a home preservation plan
(“Plan”) to identify and review Affected Consumers for loss mitigation options, provide
for the solicitation and fast-track evaluation of loss mitigation applications, and stop
pending foreclosure sales for such consumers to the extent necessary to permit the
consumers to be solicited and considered for loss mitigation. The Plan shall remain in
effect for a period of five (5) years from the Effective Date. Affected Consumers are
consumers with first- or second-lien residential loans that were transferred to Defendant
between January 1, 2010 and November 2014 and as of the Effective Date (1) are 45 or
more days delinquent or have been referred to foreclosure, but are more than 37 days
before a foreclosure sale, or (2) are serviced by Defendant and become eligible for
referral to foreclosure at any point from the Effective Date until five years from the
Effective Date, provided that Defendant still services the loan at that time.

A.  Convert In-Process Loan Modifications to Permanent Modifications.

Defendant shall promptly send a permanent modification agreement to Affected

Consumers with In-Process Loan Modifications that were fully underwritten prior to the
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trial period and received all necessary investor approvals but for which the consumer did

not previously enter a permanent modification agreement. Such consumers shall be

converted to a permanent modification upon execution of the permanent modification

documents, consistent with applicable program and investor guidelines.

B. Solicitation and Fast-Track Evaluation of Loss Mitigation Applications.

For all Affected Consumers not accounted for in Paragraph A above, Defendant must:

1.

Engage in consumer outreach to obtain complete loss mitigation
applications by: (i) Telephone and mail outreach to contact
consumers and collect documents; (ii) For incomplete loss
mitigation applications, a telephone and mail campaign to notify
consumers of the additional documents and information needed to
make the loss mitigation application complete; and (iii) Translation
services when requested by a consumer or if Defendant has reason to
believe that the consumer is not proficient in English.

Promptly evaluate consumers for all loss mitigation options
available under applicable investor guidelines, including by: (i)
Providing a dedicated team of underwriters; (ii) Reviewing complete
loss mitigation applications within 20 days of receipt; and (iii)
Clearly identifying the terms of any loss mitigation offer (such as

interest rate, amortization term, and balloon payments) and
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identifying the modified principal balance.

C.  Stop Pending Foreclosures. If necessary to permit Defendant to complete
the actions described in Paragraphs A and B above before a foreclosure
sale, Defendant shall take all available measures to postpone any
foreclosure sale scheduled to occur and to prevent the entry of a foreclosure
judgment or the entry of an order for foreclosure sale in connection with a
foreclosure initiated with respect to the loan under consideration for loss
mitigation during the pendency of the actions required in Paragraphs A and
B above.

D.  Defendant may resume foreclosure sales for Affected Consumers under any
of the following conditions:

L. Despite Defendant’s reasonable efforts, including taking all steps
described in Paragraph B, the consumer (i) has not responded to
Defendant’s outreach effort within 30 days of Defendant’s most
recent attempt to contact the consumer under Section VIILB, or (ii)
the consumer has responded to Defendant’s outreach efforts but has
not provided Defendant with all materials necessary to permit
Defendant to evaluate the consumer for loss mitigation options,
notwithstanding Defendant’s attempts to obtain such material

pursuant to Section VIILB. L.ii, or (iii) does not execute a loss
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mitigation offer prior to or at the expiration of the offer;

2, The consumer states in writing that he or she does not want to be
considered for a loss mitigation option; or

3. Defendant has evaluated the consumer’s complete loss mitigation
application for all available loss mitigation options, and (i)
Defendant has determined the consumer does not qualify for any
loss miﬁgation option and the time for appeal has expired or the
appeal has been denied, or (ii) the consumer has rejected an offer of
loss mitigation.

E. The requirements of this subsection VIII shall not apply to any loan (1) for
which Defendant does not own the right to service or sub-service as of the Effective
Date; or (2) that is not subject to foreclosure or collection activity because it has been
charged off.

Provided that, in the event of a conflict between this Section VIII and the
requirements of federal, state, or local laws, the standard provisions imposed on servicers
by the Department of Treasury, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae, the Federal
Housing Administration, the Department of Veterans Affairs, the Rural Housing
Administration, and any other similar organization that may come into existence after the
entry of this Order, the National Mortgage Settlement, or applicable investor guidelines

such that Defendant cannot comply with this Section VIII without violating these
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requirements, Defendant shall document such conflicts and notify the Commission and
the Bureau that it intends to comply with these requirements to the extent possible.
Provided further that, nothing in this Section VIII shall be interpreted to (1) limit
or restrict in any way the protections provided to borrowers under the Bureau’s rules
relating to loss mitigation (12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.41, ef seq.), or to (2) require Defendant to
communicate with a borrower in a manner otherwise prohibited by applicable law,
including bankruptcy law or the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act or any similar
debt-collection-related state law. To the extent any provision of this Section VIII is in

conflict with any provision of 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41 shall apply.

IX. INJUNCTION AGAINST FALSE OR MISLEADING
REPRESENTATIONS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and
employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who
receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently
restrained and enjoined from:

A.  Making any material misrepresentation or assisting others in making any
material misrepresentation, expressly or by implication, including but not limited to
misrepresentations:

1. That consumers’ loans have certain unpaid balances, payment due

dates, interest rates, monthly payment amounts, delinquency
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statuses, and unpaid fees or other amounts due;

2. That consumers must make payments under the original, unmodified
loan terms when a consumer has an in-process loan modification or
other loss mitigation agreement from the ﬁrior servicer;

3. That consumers have to make a payment on their loans before
Defendant will consider them for a loan modification;

4, That Defendant will review and respond to consumers’ requests to
be considered for a short sale in a set time period;

5. The existence and length of any “grace period” in consumers’
promissory notes; and

6. That a payment method that entails a convenience fee is the only
payment method available or only payment method that consumers
can use to make timely payments.

7. Nothing in this provision shall be interpreted to preclude Defendant
from accurately representing for informational purposes contractual
amounts that remain due and owing until a permanent loan
modification has been finalized, provided that such representation
does not mislead a consumer regarding the amounts due under the
modification.

B.  Failing, in communications between Defendant and consumers about
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Speedpay or other payment methods that involve a convenience fee, to disclose to
consumers truthfully, clearly and prominently, and before the consumers agree to pay
through Speedpay or any other payment method that entails a convenience fee:

1. That consumers will be charged a convenience fee; and

2. The existence of other payment methods that do not entail a

convenience fee.

X. INJUNCTION AGAINST UNAUTHORIZED WITHDRAWALS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and
employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who
receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently
restrained and enjoined from causing payments to be taken from consumers’ bank

accounts without having previously obtained consumers’ consent for any and all such

payments.

XI. INJUNCTION AGAINST UNLAWFUL COLLECTION PRACTICES

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and
employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who
receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection
with collecting on past-due debt, are permanently restrained and enjoined from:

A.  When communicating with any person other than the consumer for the
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purpose of acquiring location information about the consumer:

1. Stating that a consumer owes a debt;

2. Communicating more than once with any such person unless the
person requests that the Defendant communicate with him or her
again or Defendant has a reasonable belief that the person’s denial of
knowledge of the consumer or the consumer’s location in response
to Defendant’s first location communication was eﬁoneous or
incomplete and the person now has correct or complete location
information;

3. Failing to create records documenting that any such person informs
Defendant, either orally or in writing, that the consumer that
Defendant is trying to contact cannot be reached at that telephone
number or the person does not have location information about the
consumer that Defendant is trying to reach, and failing to maintain
these records for at least five years from the date of last contact with
the consumer; and

4. Failing to create records documenting that Defendant had a
reasonable belief that a person’s statement that the consumer
Defendant is trying to contact cannot be reached at that telephone

number, or that the person does not have location information about
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the consumer, was erroneous, incomplete, or out of date, before
calling that telephone number again, and failing to maintain these
records for at least five years from the date of last contact with the
consumer. Provided that, for purposes of this Section XL A, to
have a “reasonable belief” that a person’s earlier statements were
erroneous or incomplete and that such person now has correct or
complete location information, Defendant must have: (1) conducted
a thorough review of all applicable records, documents, and database
entries for the consumer Defendant is trying to reach to search for
any notations that indicate that the consumer cannot be reached at
that telephone number or that the person does not have location
information about the consumer Defendant is trying to reach; and (2)
obtained and considered additional information or evidence beyond
the information or evidence previously relied upon by Defendant in
attempting to contact the consumer Defendant is trying to reach, and
such additional information or evidence substantiates Defendant’s
belief that the person’s earlier statements were erroneous or
incomplete and that such person now has correct or complete
location information;

B.  Communicating, except when secking to acquire location information in
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compliance with Section 804 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692b, with any person other
than the consumer, a consumer reporting agency if otherwise permitted by law, the
creditor, the attorney of the creditor, the attorney of the debt collector, the consumer’s
spouse, the consumer’s parent (if the consumer is a minor), the consumer’s guardian, the
consumer’s executor, the consumer’s administrator, or the consumer’s attorney, in
connection with collecting on past-due debt, unless Defendant has the prior consent of the
consumer given directly to Defendant or the express permission of a court of competent
jurisdiction, or Defendant can show that such communication is reasonably necessary to
effectuate a post-judgment judicial remedy;

C. With regard to the time and place of communications:

1. Communicating with a consumer in connection with collecting on
past-due debt at any unusual time or place or a time or place known
or which should be known to be inconvenient to the consumer. This
includes communicating with a consumer before 8 a.m. or after 9
p.m. at the consumer’s location, as evidenced by the consumer’s zip
code and the area code of the consumer’s telephone number, unless
the Defendant has knowledge that such hours are convenient for the
consumer. This also includes communicating with a consumer at a
particular time or place after anyone at the telephone number has

informed Defendant, either orally or in writing, that it is
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inconvenient for the consumer to receive calls at that particular time
or place;

2. Communicating with the consumer at the consumer’s place of
employment if the Defendant knows or has reason to know that the
consumer’s employer prohibits the consumer from receiving such
communication; and

3. Failing to create and maintain (for at least five years from the date of
last contact with the consumer) records documenting that a
consumer has informed Defendant, either orally or in writing, that it
is inconvenient for the consumer to receive calls at a particular time
or place, or that the consumer is prohibited from receiving calls from
Defendant at the consumer’s place of employment;

D.  Engaging in conduct the natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress,
or abuse a person, including, but not limited to: (1) the use of obscene or profane
language or language the natural consequence of which is to abuse the hearer or reader;
or (2) causing a telephone to ring, or engaging a person in telephone conversation,
repeatedly or continuously with the intent to annoy, abuse, or harass the person at the
called number. Provided that, for purposes of this Section XI.D, there shall exist a
rebuttable presumption of an intent to annoy, harass, or abuse if Defendant places more

than one call to any person about a debt after that person has notified Defendant in
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writing that the person refuses to pay such debt or that the person wishes Defendant to
cease further communication with the person; except that Defendant may communicate to
advise the person that further debt collection efforts are being terminated, that Defendant
may invoke specified remedies which are ordinarily invoked by debt collectors and
creditors, or, where applicable, that Defendant intends to invoke a specified remedy.
Provided further that, after a borrower has sent Defendant a notification pursuant to
FDCPA section 805(c) nothing in this Section XI.D shall prevent Defendant from
providing the written notice required by 12 C.F.R. § 1024.39(b) if loss mitigation options
are available. Provided further that, when a consumer orally requests that Defendant
cease further communication regarding a debt, Defendant shall (i) provide the consumer
orally and contemporaneously with instructions for submitting the request in writing; and
(ii) within 14 days of the consumer orally requesting that Defendant cease further
communication, provide the consumer clear and conspicuous written instructions on how
to submit the request in writing;

E.  Using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means,
including but not limited to falsely representing, directly or indirectly, expressly or by
implication: (1) the character, amount, or legal status of any debt; or (2) that nonpayment
of a debt will result in the arrest or imprisonment of consumers or the seizure,
garnishment, attachment, or sale of the consumers’ property or wages, when in fact such

action is not lawful or Defendant does not intend to take such action;
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F. Using any unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect
any debt, including but not limited to collecting any amount unless such amount is
expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law; and

G.  Violating any provision of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15
U.S.C. §§ 1692-1692p (a copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment A), including,
but not limited to: (1) Sections 804(2)-(3), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692b(2)-(3); (2) Section 805(a),
15 U.S.C. § 1692c(a); (3) Section 805(b), 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢(b); (4) Section 806, 15
U.S.C. § 1692d; (5) Section 807, 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢; and (6) Section 808, 15 U.S.C.

§ 1692f.

XII. INJUNCTION AGAINST UNLAWFUL CONSUMER
REPORTING PRACTICES

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and
employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who
receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently
restrained and enjoined from:

A.  Furnishing information relating to any consumer to a consumer reporting
agency, notwithstanding any alternative compliance methods that may be generally
available under Section 623(a)(1)(C) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(1)(C), if:

1. Defendant knows or has reasonable cause to believe that the

information is inaccurate; or

Page 47 of 65



Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1-9 Filed 05/10/18 Page 48 of 67 PagelD 106
CASE 0:15-cv-02064-SRN-JSM Document 5 Filed 04/23/15 Page 48 of 67

2. Defendant has been notified by the consumer, at the address
specified by Defendant for such notices, that specific information is
inaccurate, and the information is, in fact, inaccurate;

B.  Upon determining that the information Defendant furnished to a consumer
reporting agency about a consumer is not complete and accurate:

1. Failing to promptly notify the consumer reporting agency that
Defendant has determined the information is not complete and
accurate;

2. Failing to provide to the consumer reporting agency any corrections
to that information, or any additional information, that is necessary
to make the information provided by the Defendant to the agency
complete and accurate; and

3. Furnishing to the agency thereafter any of the information that
remains incomplete or inaccurate;

C.  Ifthe completeness or accuracy of any information about a consumer
furnished by Defendant to any consumer reporting agency is disputed to Defendant by a
consumer or Defendant is notified by a consumer reporting agency under 15 U.S.C.

§ 1681i(a)(2) that a consumer has disputed information furnished by Defendant,
furnishing the information to any consumer reporting agency without notice that such

information is disputed by the consumer; and
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D.  Violating any provision of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C.
§§ 1681-1681x (a copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment B), including, but not
limited to: (1) Section 623(a)(1), 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(1); (2) Section 623(a)(2), 15
U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2); and (3) Section 623(a)(3), 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(3), in
connection with furnishing information about a consumer to a consumer reporting

agency.

XIII. INJUNCTION AGAINST UNLAWFUL REAL ESTATE
SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and
employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who
receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection
with the servicing of any loan, are permanently restrained and enjoined from:

A.  Failing to timely acknowledge receipt of, and respond to, consumers’
qualified written requests;

B.  Failing to protect any consumer’s credit rating by providing adverse
information to a consumer reporting agency regarding any payment that is the subject of
a notice of error or qualified written request for sixty (60) days after receipt of the
qualified written request;

C.  Failing to make timely payments from consumers’ escrow accounts for

casualty insurance, property taxes, and other charges with respect to the property, when
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the loan is escrowed for such amounts; and
D.  Violating the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12 U.S.C. § 2605 (a
copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment C), or its implementing Regulation X, 12

C.F.R. §§ 1024.35 and 1024.17(k) (a copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment D).

XIV. COMPLIANCE WITH EXISTING LAW

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that nothing in this Order affects Defendant’s
obligation to comply with applicable law, implementing regulations, including but not
limited to all applicable provisions of the FDCPA, FCRA, provisions of the accuracy and
integrity requirements of the Furnisher Rule, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42 and Appendix A,

RESPA, and the Bureau’s rules relating to mortgage servicing (12 C.F.R. § 1024.30, et

seq.).

XV. CONSUMER INFORMATION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and
employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who
receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently
restrained and enjoined from failing to provide sufficient consumer information to enable
the Bureau to efficiently administer consumer redress. If a representative of the Bureau
requests in writing any information related to redress, Defendant must provide it, in the
form prescribed by the Bureau, within 21 days.
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XVI. NOTICE REQUIREMENTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:

A. Foraperiod of 5 years from the date of entry of this Order, Defendant,
whether acting directly or indirectly, shall on a quarterly basis make the following
disclosure in writing indicating clearly and conspicuously to consumers with past-due
debts serviced by Defendant:

Federal and state law prohibit certain methods of debt
collection, and require that we treat you fairly.

If you have a complaint about the way we are collecting this
debt, please write to our CONTACT CENTER, [current
physical address], email us at [current email address], or call
us toll-free at [current phone number] between 9:00 A.M. and
5:00 P.M. Central Time Monday - Friday.

The Federal Trade Commission and the Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau enforce the Fair Debt Collection Practices
Act. If you have a complaint about the way we are collecting
your debt, please contact the FTC or the CFPB. You can
reach the FTC online at www.fic.gov/complaint; by phone at
1-877- FTC-HELP; or by mail at 600 Pennsylvania Ave.,
NW, Washington, DC 20580. You can reach the CFPB
online at www.consumerfinance.gov/complaint; by phone at
1-855-411-2372; or by mail at Consumer Financial Protection
Bureau P.O. Box 4503, Iowa City, Iowa 52244.

The above disclosure shall be given in the language(s) that appear in such
communications sent to consumers. Defendant shall be responsible for sending the

initial, quarterly written notice in accordance with the requirement in this Section XVL.A
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thirty (30) days after entry of this Order, or, for loans acquired after entry of this Order,
within thirty (30) days of acquisition.

B.  Defendant shall be deemed to have complied with the notice requirement of
Section XVIA of this Order if Defendant provides a notice in a specific federal, state,
county, or city jurisdiction that (1) is required by the laws or regulations of that
jurisdiction, (2) complies with those laws or regulations, and (3) is substantially similar to
the notice required in Section XVIL.A, above.

C.  Defendant, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall provide a written
(electronic or paper) copy of the following notice to all officers, agents, and employees
having responsibility with respect to collecting on past-due debts, within thirty (30) days
of the date of entry of this Order, and to each employee hired for a period of five (5)
years after that date, no later than the time the employee assumes responsibility with
respect to the collecting on past-due debts, and shall secure from each such person, within
forty-five (45) days of delivery, a signed and dated statement acknowledging that he or
she has read the notice.

Debt collectors must comply with the federal Fair Debt
Collection Practices Act, which limits our activities in trying
to collect money from consumers.

Section 804 of the Act says that, when contacting someone to
acquire location information about the consumer, you may
not state that the consumer owes a debt. You also may not

contact this person more than once unless the person asks you
to or unless you reasonably believe the person’s earlier
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response was wrong or incomplete and that the person now
has correct or complete location information to provide to
you.

Section 805 of the Act says that, in connection with collecting
on past-due debts, you may not communicate with any person
other than the consumer for a purpose other than to obtain
location information about the consumer. This means that
you may not reveal the existence of a debt to anyone other
than: (1) the person who allegedly owes the debt; (2) the
consumer’s spouse, parent (if the consumer is a minor),
guardian, executor, or administrator; or (3) the consumer’s
attorney, a consumer reporting agency if otherwise permitted
by law, the creditor, the attorney of the creditor, or Green
Tree’s attorneys.

Section 805 of the Act also says that you may not
communicate with a consumer in connection with collecting
on past-due debts: (1) at any unusual time or place or a time
or place known or which should be known to be inconvenient
to the consumer; or (2) at the consumer’s place of
employment if you know or have reason to know that the
employer prohibits the consumer from receiving such
communication.

If a consumer notifies you either orally or in writing that the
consumer refuses to pay a debt or that the consumer wishes us
to cease further communication with the consumer, you shall
not communicate further with the consumer with respect to
such debt, except: (1) to advise the consumer that our further
efforts are being terminated; (2) to notify the consumer that
we or the owner of the loan may invoke specified remedies
which are ordinarily invoked by debt collectors or creditors;
(3) where applicable, to notify the consumer that we or the
owner of the loan intends to invoke a specified remedy; or (4)
to place one additional call to confirm that the consumer is
not interested in loss mitigation.

Section 806 of the Act states that you may not harass,
oppress, or abuse any person in connection with collecting on
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past-due debts. Among other things, this includes calling

someone repeatedly or continuously to annoy, abuse, or

harass the person, and using obscene or profane language, or

language that is likely to abuse the person.

Section 807 of the Act prohibits the use of any false

representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to

collect any debt or to obtain information about a consumer.

Individual debt collectors are liable for their violations of the

Act, and may be required to pay penalties if they violate it.
Provided that, for purposes of compliance with Section XVI.C of this Order, the

signature required for the employee’s statement that he or she has read the notice may be

in the form of an electronic signature.

XVII. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS OF ORDER
AND RELEVANT STATUTES

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant obtain acknowledgments of receipt
of this Order and of the FDCPA, the FCRA, and RESPA, in their current codification or
as they may hereafter be amended:

A.  Defendant, within seven (7) days of entry of this Order, must submit to the
Commission and the Bureau an acknowledgment of receipt of this Order sworn under
penalty of perjury.

B.  For five (5) years after entry of this Order, Defendant must deliver a copy
of this Order and the FDCPA (attached hereto as Attachment A) to: (1) all principals,

officers, directors, and LLC managers and members; (2) all employees, agents, and
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representatives who participate in collecting on past-due debts; and (3) any business
entity resulting from any change in structure as set forth in the Section XVIII of this
Order. Delivery must occur within seven (7) days of entry of this Order for current
personnel. To all others, delivery must occur before they assume their responsibilities.
In addition, if the FDCPA is amended within five (5) years after entry of this Order,
Defendant must deliver an amended copy of the FDCPA to current personnel who
participate in collecting on past-due debts within thirty (30) days after it is amended.

C.  For five (5) years after entry of this Order, Defendant, must deliver a copy
of this Order and the FCRA (attached hereto as Attachment B) to: (1) all principals,
officers, directors, and LLC managers and members; (2) all employees, agents, and
representatives who participate in furnishing or reporting information relating to any
consumer to any consumer reporting agency; and (3) any business entity resulting from
any change in structure as set forth in the Section XVIII of this Order. Delivery must
occur within seven (7) days of entry of this Order for current personnel. To all others,
delivery must occur before they assume their responsibilities. In addition, if the FCRA is
amended within five (5) years after entry of this Order, Defendant must deliver an
amended copy of the FCRA to current personnel who participate in furnishing or
reporting information relating to consumers to any consumer reporting agency within
thirty (30) days after it is amended.

D.  For five (5) years after entry of this Order, Defendant, must deliver a copy
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of this Order and RESPA (attached hereto as Attachment C) to: (1) all principals,
officers, directors, and LLC managers and members; (2) all employees, agents, and
representatives who participate in paying property taxes, receiving or responding to
notices of error or qualified written requests, or furnishing or reporting information
relating to any consumer to any consumer reporting agency; and (3) any business entity
resulting from any change in structure as set forth in the Section XVIII of this Order.
Delivery must occur within seven (7) days of entry of this Order for current personnel.
To all others, delivery must occur before they assume their responsibilities. In addition,
if RESPA is amended within five (5) years after entry of this Order, Defendant must
deliver an amended copy of RESPA to current personnel who participate in paying
property taxes, receiving or responding to notices of error or qualified written requests, or
furnishing or reporting information relating to any consumer reporting agency within
thirty (30) days after it is amended.

E. From each individual or entity to which Defendant delivered a copy of this
Order, Defendant must obtain, within thirty (30) days, a signed and dated
acknowledgment of receipt of this Order and of any additional materials received

pursuant to this Section of the Order, including copies of the FDCPA, FCRA, or RESPA.

XVIIL COMPLIANCE REPORTING

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant make timely submissions to the

Commission:
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A. One (1) year after entry of this Order, Defendant must submit a compliance

report to the Commission, sworn under penalty of perjury:

1.

Defendant must: (a) identify the primary physical, postal, and email
address and telephone number, as designated points of contact,
which representatives of the Commission and Bureau may use to
communicate with Defendant; (b) identify all of Defendant’s
businesses by all of their names, telephone numbers, and physical,
postal, email, and Internet addresses; (c) describe the activities of
each business, including the goods and services offered, the means
of advertising, marketing, and sales, and the involvement of any
other Defendant; (d) describe in detail whether and how Defendant
is in compliance with each Section of this Order; and (e) provide a
copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained pursuant to this

Order, unless previously submitted to the Commission.

B. For fifteen (15) years following entry of this Order, Defendant must submit

a compliance notice to the Commission, sworn under penalty of perjury, within 14 days

of any change in the following: (1) any designated point of contact; or (2) the structure of

Defendant or any entity that Defendant has any ownership interest in or directly or

indirectly controls that may affect compliance obligations arising under this Order,

including: creation, merger, sale, or dissolution of the entity or any subsidiary, parent, or

Page 57 of 65



Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1-9 Filed 05/10/18 Page 58 of 67 PagelD 116
CASE 0:15-cv-02064-SRN-JSM Document 5 Filed 04/23/15 Page 58 of 67

affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order. The Commission will
provide a copy of such notice to the Bureau.

C.  Defendant must submit to the Commission notice of the filing of any
bankruptcy petition, insolvency proceeding, or any similar proceeding by or against such
Defendant within fourteen (14) days of its filing. The Commission will provide a copy of
such notice to the Bureau.

D.  Any submission to the Commission required by this Order to be sworn
under penalty of perjury must be true and accurate and comply with 28 U.S.C. § 1746,

such as by concluding: “I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United

States of America that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed on: ” and
supplying the date, signatory’s full name, title (if applicable), and signature.
E. Unless otherwise directed by a Commission representative in writing, all

submissions to the Commission pursuant to this Order must be emailed to
DEbrief@ftc.gov or sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) to: Associate
Director for Enforcement, Bureau of Consumer Protection, Federal Trade Commission,
600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Washington, DC 20580. The subject line must begin:
Federal Trade Commission and Consumer Financial Protection Bureau v. Green Tree
Servicing LLC, No. XXXX.

F. Unless otherwise directed by a Bureau representative in writing, all

submissions to the Bureau pursuant to this Order must be emailed to
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Compliance@cfpb.gov or sent by the U.S. Postal Service to: Assistant Director for
Enforcement, Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, ATTENTION: Office of
Enforcement 1700 G Street, NW, Washington D.C. 20552. For overnight courier send
to: Assistant Director for Enforcement, Consumer Financial Protection Bureau,
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 1625 I Street, 4™ Floor, NW, Washington, D.C.
20006. The subject line must begin: In re Green Tree Servicing, LLC, File No. XXXX

2014-CFPB-Docket # XXXX.

XIX. RECORDKEEPING

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant must create certain records for
fifteen (15) years after entry of the Order, and retain each such record for 5 years, unless
otherwise indicated. Specifically, Defendant must create and retain the following
records:

A.  Accounting records maintained in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in effect from time to time in the United States of America,
including records showing the revenues from all goods or services sold, all costs incurred
in generating those revenues, and the resulting net profit or loss;

B.  Personnel records showing, for each person providing services, whether as
an employee or otherwise, that person’s: name, addresses, and telephone numbers; job
title or position; dates of service; and, if applicable, the reason for termination;

C.  Consumer files containing the names, last known addresses and phone
Page 59 of 65



Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1-9 Filed 05/10/18 Page 60 of 67 PagelD 118
CASE 0:15-cv-02064-SRN-JSM Document 5 Filed 04/23/15 Page 60 of 67

numbers as of the date Defendant ceased servicing activity, dollar amounts of debt owed,
when Defendant serviced the loan, records of Defendant’s collection activity, and
amounts collected by Defendant;
D.  For every consumer complaint to Defendant, whether received directly,
indirectly, or through a third party, records that include:
1. Any complaint and the date received, and the nature of the complaint
as reflected in any notes, logs, or memoranda, including a
description of the conduct alleged; and
2. The basis of the complaint, including the names of any collectors,
customer service representatives, or supervisors complained about;
the nature of any research conducted concerning the validity of any
complaint; all documents relating to the disposition of the complaint,
including records of all contacts with the consumer; Defendant’s
response to the complaint and the response date; whether the
complaint was resolved; the date of resolution; and any action taken
to correct the conduct complained about.
E. Copies of all scripts and other training materials related to the collection of
debts;
F. To the extent permitted by state law, tape recordings of the complete

telephone conversation for at least ninety (90) percent of all telephone calls between
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Defendant and anyone it contacts in collecting on past-due debts, provided that
Defendant must commence making such recordings no later than three (3) months after
the date of this Order and must maintain these recordings for two (2) years after they are
made;

G.  To the extent permitted by state law, tape recordings of the complete
telephone conversation for at least ninety (90) percent of all calls in which consumers
consent to payment using Speedpay or any other payment method initiated by Defendant
in which a convenience fee is charged, provided that Defendant must commence making
such recordings no later than three (3) months after the date of this Order and must
maintain these recordings for two (2) years after they are made; and

H.  Allrecords and documents necessary to demonstrate full compliance with
each provision of this Order, including procedures for responding to consumer
complaints, documents related to investigations of consumer complaints, all required

acknowledgments, notices, and all submissions to the Commission or Bureau.

XX. COMPLIANCE MONITORING

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for the purpose of monitoring Defendant’s
compliance with this Order:

A.  Within fourteen (14) days of receipt of a written request from a
representative of the Commission or Bureau, Defendant must: submit additional

compliance reports or other requested information, which must be sworn under penalty of
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perjury; appear for depositions; and produce documents, for inspection and copying. The
Commission and Bureau are also authorized to obtain discovery, without further leave of
court, using any of the procedures prescribed by Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 29, 30
(including telephonic depositions), 31, 33, 34, 36, 45, and 69, provided that, Defendant,
after attempting to resolve a dispute without court action and for good cause shown, may
file a motion with this Court seeking an order for one or more of the protections set forth
in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 26(c).

B.  For matters concerning this Order, the Commission and Bureau are
authorized to communicate directly with Defendant. Defendant must permit
representatives of the Commission or Bureau to interview any employee or other person
affiliated with Defendant who has agreed to such an interview. The person interviewed
may have counsel present.

C.  The Commission and Bureau may use all other lawful means, including
posing, through their respective representatives, as consumers, suppliers, or other
individuals or entities, to Defendant or any individual or entity affiliated with Defendant,
without the necessity of identification or prior notice. Nothing in this Order limits the
Commission’s or Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory process, pursuant to Sections 9 and
20 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 49, 57b-1, or Section 1052 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §

5562.
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Provided that, consistent with the Memorandum of Understanding between the
Commission and the Bureau, Plaintiffs shall endeavor to coordinate enforcement of their

rights under this Order to minimize duplication of efforts and burden on Defendant.

XXI. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that although this action will be dismissed, this
Court retains jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of construction, modification, and

enforcement of this Order.

SO ORDERED this 23" day of April, 2015.

s/Susan Richard Nelson
SUSAN RICHARD NELSON
United States District Court Judge
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FOR PLAINTIFFS:

AT

LISA ROTHFARB

Maryland Bar

DANIEL DWYER

California Bar No.286701
Federal Trade Commission

600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20580

Tel: (202) 326-2602

Fax: (202) 326-3768

Date: L}Ijg//;Zolg

/—'ﬂ
JAMES SUG%%‘N

Washington Bar No. 39107

KIRSTEN IVEY-COLSON
Washington, DC Bar No. 470102
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
1700 G Street NW

Washington. DC 20552

Tel: (202) 435-7493

Fax: (202) 435-7722

Page 64 of 65



Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1-9 Filed 05/10/18 Page 65 of 67 PagelD 123

CASE 0:15-cv-02064-SRN-JSM Document 5 Filed 04/23/15 Page 65 of 67

FOR DEFENDANT GREEN TREE SERVICING LLC

THOMAS J. FRA CO
President

Green Tree Servicing LLC
345 St. Peter Street

St. Paul, MN 55102

Date: __2 /20 Jis

STEVEN M. KAPLAN
Washington, DC Bar No. 447308
K&L Gates LLP

1601 K Street NW

Washington, DC 20006-1600
Tel: (202) 778-9204

Date:

ELIZABETH L. MCKEEN
California Bar No. 216690
O’Melveny & Myers LLP

610 Newport Center Dr., Ste 1700
Newport Beach, CA 92660

Tel: (949) 823-7150

Date:

Page 65 of 65



Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1-9 Filed 05/10/18 Page 66 of 67 PagelD 124

CASE 0:15-cv-02064-SRN-JSM Document 5 Filed 04/23/15 Page 66 of 67

FOR DEFENDANT GREEN TREE SERVICING LLC

THOMAS J. FRANCO
President

Green Tree Servicing LLC
345 St. Peter Street

St. Paul, MN 55102

Date:

éVEiNé M. KAPLAN

Washington, DC Bar No. 447308
K&L Gates LLP

1601 K Street NW

Washington, DC 20006-1600
Tel: (202) 778-9204

Date: 8/20 //5

ELIZABETH L. MCKEEN
California Bar No. 216690
O’Melveny & Myers LLP

610 Newport Center Dr., Ste 1700
Newport Beach, CA 92660

Tel: (949) 823-7150

Date:
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FOR DEFENDANT GREEN TREE SERVICING LLC

THOMAS J. FRANCO
President

Green Tree Servicing LLC
345 St. Peter Street

St. Paul, MN 55102

Date:

STEVEN M. KAPLAN ELIZABETH L. MCKEEN
Washington, DC Bar No. 447308 California Bar No. 216690

K&L Gates LLP O’Melveny & Myers LLP

1601 K Street NW 610 Newport Center Dr., Ste 1700
Washington, DC 20006-1600 Newport Beach, CA 92660

Tel: (202) 778-9204 Tel: (949) 823-7150

Date: Date: _ &/2¢ /(5
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I Smothers

LAW FIRM, P.A.

December 5, 2017

Via US Certified Mail

7016 3010 0000 8720 7208 7016 3010 0000 8720 7215 7016 3010 0000 8720 7222
Ditech Financial LLC Fannie Mae

P.O. Box 6172 Federal Nation Mortgage Association
Rapid City, SD 57709-6172 3900 Wisconsin Avenue, NW

Washington, DC 20016-2892
Fannie Mae
Federal Nation Mortgage Association
1075 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 1600
Atlanta, GA 30309

Re: Borrower: Charles S. Rodriguez
Loan Number: 50586957
Property: 3970 Old Dunn Road, Apopka, FL 32712
Our File: 193-2

To Whom It May Concem:

My law firm represents Chatles Rodriguez. As stated in the enclosed Complaint, Ditech
Financial, LLC and Federal National Mortgage Association have breached its contractual obligations
and Florida law in its handling of my client’s and other borrowets' loans in the putative Class.

Should you wish to make a cure offer, please contact me within twenty (20) days upon receipt of this
letter.

Feel free to contact me at the below telephone number if you wish to discuss this matter.

SZZ/M

Scott A. Smothers
Sco motherslawfirm.c

SAS.shs
Enclosure as stated

175 East Main Street, Suite 111 * Apopka, FL 82703 ¢ 407.814.3900 ¢ Fax 407.331.9621
www.SmothersLawFirm.com
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
ORLANDO DIVISION

Case No.

CHARLES S. RODRIGUEZ, on behalf
of himself and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff,
V.
DITECH FINANCIAL, LLC and
FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE
ASSOCIATION,

Defendants.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Charles S. Rodriguez (“Plaintiff”), on behalf of himself and all others similarly
situated, alleges violations of the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act § 559.55 ef seq.
(“FCCPA”), the Fair Debt Collection Practices A§t 15 U.S.C. 1692 ef seq. (“FDCPA?”), against
Ditech Financial, LLC (“Ditech”) and violation of the Truth In Lending Act 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et
seq. (“TILA”) against Federal National Mortgage Association (‘FNMA”).

1. Mortgage servicers like Ditech are in a unique position because they don’t own
the mortgages they service; the result being that their compensation structure is independent
from the performance of the mortgage. This creates a relationship rife with incentives for abuse
because the biggest profit driver for servicers is a defaulted loan; that is the longer a loan is in
default—the more fees, i.e. compensation, the servicer can charge and collect.

2. Hundreds of thousands of homes are in some stage of foreclosure in the United
States every month. http://www.corelogic.com/research/foreclosure-report/national-foreclosure-

report-january-2016.pdf. Most homeowners facing foreclosure are desperate to keep their homes

1
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and are willing to do close to anything to continue living in them with their families. Ditech
exploits their desperation by placing them in danger of foreclosure if homeowners do not pay all
of the fees Ditech demands.

3. Ditech services mortgages for FNMA throughout the United States, including
Miami-Dade County, Florida. The standard mortgage only allows Ditech to charge default-
related fees that are reasonable and appropriate to protect the interest in properties FNMA owns.
As its servicer, Ditech must comply with the mortgage’s terms and FNMA’s Servicing Guide
(“Guidelines”) that tells Ditech what charges and services are reasonable and appropriate under
the mortgage. The Guidelines prohibit Ditech from charging for property inspections when the
home is owner occupied and maintained, and the Guidelines only allow Ditech to perform
property inspections every twenty days.

4. Ditech flouts the Guidelines by charging Plaintiff and thousands of other
borrowers unreasonable and inappropriate property inspection fees sometimes every fifteen days.
Ditech then disguises these property inspections fees as corporate advances on the borrower’s
monthly mortgage statement.

5. Ditech further prevents borrowers from receiving crucial information about their
statutory right to dispute illegitimate charges, like the property inspection fees, by omitting that
the borrowers’ dispute must be in writing for them to receive protection under the FDCPA.

6. By the conduct described above, Ditech knowingly violated the FCCPA and
FDCPA. Fannie Mae is also liable for Ditech’s violation of TILA, which has caused Plaintiff and

putative class members actual concrete and particularized injuries. Plaintiff’s injuries are detailed

infra.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this
action arises out of TILA and the FDCPA, federal statutes.

8. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the FCCPA claims under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1367 because the basis of the TILA and FDCPA federal claims involve the same debt
collection practices that form the basis of the FCCPA claims.

9. The Court has personal jurisdiction because Defendants conduct business
throughout the United States, including Florida. Further, their voluntary contact with Plaintiff to
charge and collect debts in Florida made it foreseeable that Defendants would be haled into a
Florida court. See Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 474 (1985).

10.  Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)-(c) because
Defendants are deemed to reside in any judicial district in which it is subject to personal
jurisdiction at the ﬁme the action is commenced and because their contacts with this District are
sufficient to subject them to personal jurisdiction.

PARTIES

11.  Plaintiff Charles Rodriguez is a natural person who currently resides in Florida.

12.  Defendant Ditech is a Minnesota corporation with its headquarters in St. Paul,
Minnesota. Defendant services mortgages throughout the United States and Florida.

13.  Defendant Fannie Mae is Delaware corporation with its principal place of

business at 3900 Wisconsin Ave, N.W., Washington D.C. 20016.



Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1-10 Filed 05/10/18 Page 5 of 25 PagelD 130

APPLICABLE LAW
TILA

14.  Congress enacted TILA to “protect the consumer against inaccurate and unfair
credit billing and credit card practices.” 15 U.S.C.A. § 1601(a); Fabricant v. Sears Roebuck, 98-
1281-CIV, 2002 WL 34477592, at *4 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 6, 2002) (“TILA changed the philosophy
in the extension of credit from let the buyer beware to make the seller disclose.”) (internal
quotations and citations omitted).

15.  To further TILA’s purpose, courts must “liberally construe the language [of the
statute] in favor of the consumer.” (/d.) (citations omitted).

16.  Under TILA, the creditor, assignee, or servicer must provide a periodic statement
to the borrower setting forth certain disclosures like: the amount due, explanation of amount due,
and past payment breakdown. 15 U.S.C. § 1638 et seq., 12 CFR § 1026.41 et seq.

17.  TILA requires information to be “disclosed clearly and conspicuously, in
accordance with regulations of the Bureau.” 15 U.S.C. § 1632(a).

18.  Regulation Z “is issued by the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection to
implement the Federal Truth in Lending Act.” 12 CFR § 1026.1(a).

19.  Regulation Z “prohibits certain acts or practices in connection with credit secured
by a dwelling in § 1026.36, and credit secured by a consumer's principal dwelling in § 1026.35.”
12 CFR § 1026.1(b).

20.  Regulation Z imposes certain obligations on mortgage servicers and creditors to
provide information to borrowers regarding their mortgage loans. See generally 12 CFR

§ 1026.31 et seq.
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21.  Information under Regulation Z, Subpart E, is also required to be given “clearly
and conspicuously” to the borrower and the information “shall reflect the terms of the legal
obligation between the parties.” 12 CFR §§ 1026.31(b), (d)(1).

22.  TILA provides a private cause of action for violations of Regulation Z.

See 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a); cf. 15 U.S.C. § 1639(p)(2)(A)( “The Bureau, by regulation or order,
shall prohibit acts or practices in connection with—mortgage loans that the Bureau finds to be
unfair, deceptive, or designed to evade the provisions of this section...”); McGowan v. King,
Inc., 569 F.2d 845, 848 (5th Cir. 1978)(“The scheme of the statute is to create a system of private
attorneys general to aid its enforcement, and its language should be construed liberally in light of
its remedial purpose.”)

FDCPA

23.  The purpose of the FDCPA is “to eliminate abusive debt collection practices . . .
and to promote consistent State action to protect consumers against debt collection abuses.” 15
U.S.C. § 1692.

24.  The FDCPA prohibits debt collectors from using “any false, deceptive, or
misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt,” which
includes the false representation of “the character, amount, or legal status of any debt.” Id. §
1692e.

25.  The FDCPA also prohibits debt collectors from “unfair or unconscionable means
to collect or attempt to collect any debt,” including “the collection of any amount unless such
amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law.” Id. §

1692f.
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26.  Section 1692g also provides that debt collectors have a legal duty to give
consumer, like Plaintiff and the putative Class, notice of their right to, among other things,

dispute a debt or any portion of a debt.

27.  Specifically, the debt collector must send a written notice containing the

following:
... [A] debt collector shall ... send the consumer a written notice containing ... a
statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days after receipt of the notice,
disputes the validity of the debt, or any portion thereof, the debt will be assumed
to be valid by the debt collector ...
[And] a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in writing within
the thirty-day period that the debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed, the debt
collector will obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment against the
consumer and a copy of such verification or judgment will be mailed to the
consumer by the debt collector; and a statement that, upon the consumer's written
request within the thirty-day period, the debt collector will provide the consumer
with the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the current
creditor.

15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4).

28.  The FDCPA creates a private right of action under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k.

29.  The FDCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or allegedly
obligated to pay any debt.” Id. § 1692a(3).

30. The FDCPA defines “debt collector” as “any person who uses . . . any business
the principal purpose of which is the collection of any debts, or who regularly collects or
attempts to collect . . . debt owed . . . or asserted to be owed or due another.” Id. § 1692a(6).

31.  The FDCPA defines communication as “conveying of information regarding a
debt directly or indirectly to any person through any medium.” /d. § 1692a(2).

32.  The FDCPA defines “debt” as “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer
to pay money arising out of a transaction . . . [that] are primarily for personal, family, or

household purposes.” Id. § 1692a(5).
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FCCPA

33.  The FCCPA prohibits debt collectors from engaging in certain abusive practices
in the collection of consumer debts. See generally Fla. Stat. § 559.72.

34. The FCCPA’s goal is to “provide the consumer with the most protection
possible.” LeBlanc v. Unifund CCR Partners, 601 F.3d 1185, 1192 (11th Cir. 2010) (citing Fla.
Stat. § 559.552).

35.  Specifically, the FCCPA states that no person shall “claim, attempt, or threaten to
enforce a debt when such person knows that the debt is not legitimate, or assert the existence of
some other legal right when such person knows that the right does not exist.” Fla. Stat. §
559.72(9).

36. The FCCPA creates a private right of action under Fla. Stat. § 559.77.

37. The FCCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or allegedly
obligated to pay any debt.” Id. § 559.55(8).

38.  The FCCPA mandates that “no person” shall engage in certain practices in
collecting consumer debt. Id. § 559.72. This language includes all allegedly unlawful attempts at
collecting consumer claims. Williams v. Streeps Music Co., 333 So. 2d 65, 67 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.
1976).

39.  The FCCPA defines “debt” as “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer
to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance, or services
which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household

purposes, whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment.” Id. § 559.55(6).
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

40.  On or about January 8, 2009, Plaintiff purchased a home in Orange County,
Florida through a loan from Amtrust Bank, secured by a mortgage on the property. Copies of
Plaintiff’s Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note are attached as Exhibit “A” and Exhibit “B”
respectively.

41.  Onorabout October 1, 2010, Plaintiff defaulted on his loan after previously
making continuous payments.

42.  To date, Plaintiff has continually lived in and maintained his home since the
foreclosure

43.  Onorabout May 4, 2012, Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., as
Nominee for Amtrust Bank, its successors and/or Assigns, assigned the Plaintiff’s Mortgage and
Note to FNMA.

44,  On or about May 15, 2014, Everhome Mortgage transferred its servicing rights to
Ditech, formally known as Green Tree Servicing, LLC.

45.  Ditech received the servicing rights to Plaintiff’s Mortgage after default.

46.  Therefore, Ditech became the servicer of Plaintiff’s mortgage loan while it was
already in default.

47.  Ditech is the servicer of Plaintiff’s mortgage on behalf of Fannie Mae, and Ditech
is Fannie Mae’s agent.

48.  Fannie Mae contracted with Ditech to service Plaintiff and the class members’

mortgage loans.
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49.  On or about May 18, 2012, Elizabeth Wellborn, P.A., on behalf of Federal
National Mortgage Association, filed a complaint in the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange
County, Florida to initiate foreclosure.

50.  Plaintiff hired Smothers Law Firm, P.A. to defend him in the foreclosure.

51.  Fannie Mae’s Guidelines only allow a servicer to perform and charge for property
inspections a minimum every twenty days. See Fannie Mae Single Family Servicing Guide D2-
2-10.

52.  On September 16, 2016, Ditech sent a monthly billing statement to Smothers Law

Firm, P.A. on behalf of Plaintiff. The billing statement is attached as Exhibi

53.  The September Statement advises: “If payment is received after 10/16/2016, a
$48.04 late fee will be charged.” Id

54.  The September Statement demands a total amount due of $100,102.14. Id.

55.  Under the heading “Transaction Activity Since Last Statement”, Ditech charged
Plaintiff a late fee and a $15.00 “Corp Adv Disb” on September 14, 2016. Id.

56.  Ditech added the $15.00 “Corp Adv Disb” to the total amount it demanded
Plaintiff pay.

57.  Ditech provided no description on what default related service the $15.00 charge
related to.

58.  Directly adjacent, the September Statement advised:

**Delinquency Notice**

You are late on your mortgage payments. Failure to bring your loan current

may result in fees and foreclosure - the loss of your home. As of September

16 you are 2177 days delinquent on your mortgage loan. Your account first

became delinquent on 1010112010.
Id
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59.  Ditech included a phyment coupon for Plaintiff to detach and send in with his
payment. /d.

60.  Onthe payment coupon, Ditech again demanded a total amount due of
$100,102.14 and advised that a late fee would be charged if Plaintiff failed to pay. /d.

61.  On October 17, 2016, Ditech sent a monthly billing statement to Smothers Law
Firm, P.A. on behalf of Plaintiff. The billing statement is attached agExhibit (___):

62.  The October statement reflects that Ditech charged Plaintiff another $15.00 “Corp
Adv Disb” on September 30, 2016, and it again added that fee to the total amount it demanded
Plaintiff pay. /d.

63.  These “Corp Adv Disb” charges are actually fees for property inspections. And
Ditech disguises them so it can charge them at a greater frequency than the Fannie Mae
Guidelines permit, generating a larger profit.

64.  On or about February 27, 2017, Ditech on behalf of Fannie Mae, sent a letter to

Plaintiff demanding he pay a total amount due of $107,986.14. The letter is attached as Exhibit

65.  The letter informed Plaintiff that he had defaulted on his loan for failing to pay
amounts due. Id.
66.  The letter advised:

You have a right to cure your default. To cure the default, you must pay the full
amount of the default on this loan by 04/03/2017 (or if said date fallson a
Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday, then on the first business day thereafter).
Failure to cure the default on or before this date may result in acceleration of the
sums secured by the Security Instrument, foreclosure by judicial proceeding and
sale of the property.

.

10
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67.  Ditech informed Plaintiff that he had to make a payment of $107,986.14 by April
3, 2017, to cure the default, and it provided an address for Plaintiff to send his payment to. /d.

68.  The “Corporate Advance Balance” contains the illegitimate property inspection
fees and Ditech added the balance to the total amount it demanded Plaintiff pay. See Plaintiff’s

life of loan history attached as Exhibit:¢... ~):

69.  The letter advised:

If you wish to dispute the delinquency, or if you dispute the calculation of amount of the
delinquency and reinstatement amount, you may contact us by calling 1-800-643-0202.
Or call us via TDD at 1-800-643-0202 #711.

Id
70.  The letter further advised:
Ditech Financial LLC is attempting to collect a debt, and any information
obtained will be used for that purpose. Unless you notify us within thirty (30)
days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any
portion thereof, we will assume this debt is valid. If you notify us within thirty
(30) days from receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or
any portion thereof, we will obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy ofa
judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification. Upon your
written request within thirty (30) days after the receipt of this letter, we will

provide you with the name and address of the original creditor, if the original
creditor is different from the current creditor.

Id. (emphasis omitted).

71.  The letter did not comply with the FDCPA’s notice requirements because it failed
to inform Plaintiff that any dispute of a debt must be in writing. See 15 U.S.C. § 1692g.

72.  Ditech acted as a debt collector by attempting to collect amounts on behalf of its
principal, Fannie Mae.

73.  Ditech, on behalf of Fannie Mae, threatened to collect, and did collect,

illegitimate charges from Plaintiff and the putative class.

11
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74.  Ditech demanded Plaintiff pay these fees despite operating under strict servicing
guidelines from Fannie Mae.

75.  The Fannie Mae “Servicing Guide,” requires Ditech to “be aware of, and in full
compliance with, all federal, state, and local laws (e.g., statutes, regulations, ordinances,
administrative rules and orders that have the effect of law, and judicial rulings and opinions).”
And “[a]s applicable law can change quickly, and sometimes without widespread notice, the
seller/servicer must establish appropriate facilities for monitoring applicable legal developments
and implementing appropriate measures to stay in compliance with applicable law. ...”
(emphasis added). See Fannie Mae Single Family Servicing Guide at A-2-1-08.

76.  The Servicing Guide only allows Ditech to charge property inspections if: Quality
Right Party Contact has not been achieved; a full payment has not been received within the last
30 days; or the borrower is not performing under the applicable bankruptcy plan. /d at D2-2-10.

77.  The Servicing Guide also prohibits Ditech from charging property inspections no
sooner than twenty days apart. Id.

78.  Despite Fannie Mae’s specific prohibition, Ditech nonetheless knowingly
demanded Plaintiff pay an amount to cure a default that included illegitimate property inspection
charges.

79.  These demands were a direct breach of each of the following contractual
provisions permitting only recovery of amounts actually incurred: (1) Paragraph 9 of the
Mortgage Agreement permitted Seterus to recover “amounts disbursed” in protecting Fannie
Mae’s interest and rights in the Mortgage Agreement (emphasis added); (2) Paraéraph 14 of the
Mortgage Agreement prohibited Seterus from charging estimated fees, stating “fljender may

not charge fees that are expressly prohibited in this Security Instrument or by Applicable

12
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Law” (emphasis added); (3) Paragraph 22 of Fannie Mae’s Mortgage Agreement permitted
Seterus to collect “expenses incurred in pursuing” certain actions under the Paragraph which
governed default, notice of default, actions to cure default, and reinstatement of loans (emphasis
added); and (4) Paragraph 6(E) of the Mortgage Note permitted Seterus, on behalf of Fannie
Mae, the “right to be paid back . . . for all of its costs and expenses in enforcing” the Note,
which included “reasonable attorneys’ fees” (emphasis added).

80.  Ditech demanded Plaintiff pay these illegitimate fees despite operating under a
Consent Order with the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. The Consent Order is attached as
Exhibit “E.”

81.  The Order prohibits Ditech, Ditech’s officers, agents, and employees, and all
other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of
this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently restrained and enjoined from:

Making any material misrepresentation or assisting others in making any material

misrepresentation, expressly or by implication, including but not limited to

misrepresentations ...[t]hat consumers’ loans have certain unpaid balances,

payment due dates, interest rates, monthly payment amounts, delinquency

statuses, and unpaid fees or other amounts due;

(1d. pg 39).

82.  And further, the Order prohibits Ditech, Ditech’s officers, agents, and employees,
and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual
notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with collecting on past-
due debt, are permanently restrained and enjoined from:

Using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means, including but

not limited to falsely representing, directly or indirectly, expressly or by

implication: (1) the character, amount, or legal status of any debt... [and] [u]sing

any unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect any debt,

including but not limited to collecting any amount unless such amount is
expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law....

13
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(Id. pg 46-47).

83.  Direch’s President, Thomas J. Franco, signed the Order.

84.  Despite the Order’s specific prohibitions, Ditech knowingly, and deceptively,
demanded Plaintiff pay illegitimate amounts not due and owing.

85.  Additionally, the CFPB has received hundreds of complaints concerning Ditech’s
improper loan servicing practices, many involving similar complaints regarding requests for debt
not actually owed. https://www.consumerfinance.gov/data-research/consumer-

comglaints/search/?commg—Ditech%?.0Financial%20LLC&from=0&has narrative=true&sear

chField=all&searchText=&size=25&sort=created date desc

86.  Ditech’s knowledge can be imputed to Fannie Mae through agency theory. See,
e.g., Compass Bank v. Tania Lynn Vanpelt, No. CA10-1624 (Fla. Cir. Ct. April 2, 2015) (finding
knowledge under the FCCPA could be imputed from agents to the owner of the mortgage note
and holder through principles of agency).

87.  Ditech and Fannie Mae have a pattern and practice of demanding illegal fees
because Plaintiff received a form letter from Ditech that has routinely generated line-items that
included unlawful amounts.

88.  Ditech’s letter is a form letter as evidenced by the identification code: “W FL
DEMAND.” Id.

89. Onorabout Plaintiff, through counsel, sent a cure letter to Ditech
and Fannie Mae. See the letter attached as Exhibit “E.”

90.  After a reasonable amount of time, the Plaintiff filed this lawsuit because Ditech

and Fannie Mae failed to cure the breach of its violations of state and federal law.

14
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ADDITIONAL FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS REGARDING PLAINTIFF’S INJURY
CAUSED BY DEFENDANTS’ FCCPA, FDCPA, AND TILA VIOLATIONS

91.  Plaintiff has a statutory right to receive accurate and timely information from
Ditech on his monthly mortgage statements. Also, Plaintiff has a statutory right to receive a clear
and conspicuous disclosure from Ditech about the fees and costs he is required to pay on his
mortgage loan.

92. By failing to respond with accurate information about the amounts owed by
Plaintiff on his mortgage loan, Ditech deprived Plaintiff of his statutory right to accurate
information under the FDCPA, FCCPA, and TILA.

93. By failing to send clear and conspicuous disclosure on the Plaintiff’s periodic
statements about the amounts owed by Plaintiff on his mortgage loan, Ditech deprived Plaintiff
of his statutory right to clear and conspicuous disclosure under TILA.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
Florida Class 1

94,  Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by Ditech’s TILA
violations (the “Florida Class 1”), subject to modification after discovery and case development:

All Florida residents to whom Ditech sent a periodic statement that

charged, collected, or attempted to collect a $15.00 “Corp Adv Disb” fee

for a property inspection during the applicable statute of limitations.
Florida Class 2

95.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by
Ditech’s FCCPA violations (the “Florida Class 2”), subject to modification after discovery and

case development:

15
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All Florida residents to whom Ditech charged, collected, or attempted to
collect a fee for a property inspection performed more frequently than
twenty days apart during the applicable statute of limitations.
Florida Class 3
96.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by
Ditech’s FDCPA violations (the “Florida Class 3”), subject to modification after discovery and
case development:
All Florida residents to whom Ditech charged, collected, or attempted to
collect a fee for a property inspection performed more frequently than
twenty days apart during the applicable statute of limitations.
Florida Class 4
97.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by
Ditech’s FDCPA violations (the “Florida Class 4”), subject to modification after discovery and
case development:
All Florida residents to whom Ditech sent a “W FL. DEMAND” that
omitted the “in writing” requirement during the applicable statute of
limitations.
98.  Class members are identifiable through Ditech’s records and payment databases.
99.  Excluded from the Class are Ditech; any entities in which it has a controlling
interest; its agents and employees; and any Judge to whom this action is assigned and any
member of such Judge’s staff and immediate family.

100.  Plaintiff proposes that he serve as class representative for the Class.

101. Plaintiff and the Class have all been harmed by the actions of Ditech.

16
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102. Numerosity is satisfied. There are likely thousands of class members. Individual
joinder of these persons is impracticable.

103. There are questions of law and fact common to Plaintiff and to the Class,
including, but not limited to:

a. Whether Ditech is liable for its failure to comply with TILA by failing to provide
accurate, clear, and conspicuous information in periodic statements;

b. Whether Ditech violated the FCCPA by charging monies not due;

c. Whether Ditech violated the FDCPA by charging monies not due;

d. Whether Plaintiff and class members are entitled to actual or statutory damages as
a result of Ditech’s actions;

e. Whether Plaintiff and class members are entitled to attorney’s fees and costs; and

f. Whether Ditech should be enjoined from engaging in such conduct in the future.

106. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Classes.

107. Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the Classes because his interests do not
conflict with the interests of the Classes, he will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the
Classes, and he is represented by counsel skilled and experienced in class actions.

108. Common questions of law and fact predominate over questions affecting only
individual class members, and a class action is the superior method for fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy.

109. The prosecution of separate claims by individual class members would create a

risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications concerning individual class members.

17
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COUNT I AS TOFANNIE MAE’S VIOLATION OF THE
THE TRUTH IN LENDING ACT 15 U.S.C. § 1639z,
(Florida Class 1)

110. Fannie Mae is a creditor under TILA that can be held vicariously liable for
Ditech’s TILA violations. See 15 U.S.C. § 1641(e); Lucien v. Fed. Nat. Mortg. Ass'n, 21 F. Supp.
3d 1379, 1388 (S.D. Fla. 2014).

111. TILA, requires that the creditor, assignee, or servicer provide a periodic statement
to the borrower setting forth certain disclosures like, infer alia: the amount due, explanation of
amount due, past payment breakdown, etc. 15 U.S.C. § 1638 ef seq., 12 CFR § 1026.41 et seq.

104. TILA requires the creditor, assignee, or servicer to make the disclosures in a clear
and conspicuous manner and the information “shall reflect the terms of the legal obligation
between the parties.” 12 CFR §§ 1026.31(b), (d)(1); 12 CFR § 1026.41(c).

112. Ditech sent periodic statements to Plaintiff and the class with information that
contained illegal property inspection charges disguised as generic “Corp Adv Disb” fees; that did
not accurately reflect the terms of the legal obligation between the parties; and that was
inaccurate, unclear, and inconspicuous concerning the amounts due and owing under the
Mortgage.

113. Ditech failed to comply with TILA when it sent periodic statements that contained
information that was inaccurate, unclear, and inconspicuous, and that did not accurately reflect
the terms of the legal obligation between the parties.

114. Ditech has a pattern and practice of using form periodic statements that contain

inaccurate, unclear, and inconspicuous information.

18
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115. Ditech’s failure to comply with TILA harmed Plaintiff and the class by depriving
them of the statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning their
mortgage loans.

116.  As aresult of Ditech’s failure to comply with TILA, Fannie Mae is liable to the
Plaintiff and class members for actual damages, plus statutory damages, together with reasonable
attorney’s fees and costs. 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a).

COUNT II AS TO DITECH’S VIOLATION OF
THE FLORIDA CONSUMER COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT § 559.72(9
(Florida Class 2)

117.  Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(8) when he purchased
his home by mortgage.

118. Ditech is a “person” as defined under the FCCPA.

119. Ditech attempted to enforce, claimed, and asserted a known non-existent legal
right to a debt as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(6) when it attempted to collect and collected
property inspection fees not owed. Jd. § 559.72(9).

120. Ditech knew it could not charge these property inspection fees because Fannie
Mae’s Guidelines specifically prohibit them from being charged more frequently than twenty
days.

121. Ditech was also put on notice about charging fees not owed by agreeing to the
Consent Order.

122. By charging illegal fees, and failing to provide information in an accurate, clear
and conspicuous manner, Ditech attempted to collect an amount from Plaintiff and the class that
they didn’t owe, and threatened to enforce the existence of a legal right (charging the fees) that

didn’t exist.
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123. As aresult of Ditech’s violation of the FCCPA, Plaintiff and class members are
entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages under § 559.77(2) of the FCCPA, together
with reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.

COUNT 111 AS TO DITECH’S VIOLATION OF
THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT § 1692¢
(Florida Class 3)

124. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) when he purchased a
home in Florida by mortgage.

93. Ditech is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) because its
principal business purpose is the collection of debts, it was assigned Plaintiff’s mortgage loan
while it was in default, and it uses the United States mail for its principal business purpose:
collecting debts.

125. Ditech engaged in “communications” with Plaintiff as defined by 15 US.C. §
1692a(2) when its sent periodic statements to Plaintiff and the class demanding payment of debts
not owed.

126. Ditech violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢ when it used deceptive and misleading to
collect debts contained in periodic statements sent to Plaintiff and the class and when it
threatened to take an action (charging illegitimate property inspections) that could not be legally
taken.

127. Ditech’s violation of the FDCPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving him of the
statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning amounts due and

owing under his mortgage loan.
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128.  Asaresult of Ditech’s violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, Plaintiff and class
members are entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1692(k),
together with reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.

COUNT IV AS TO DITECH’S VIOLATION OF
THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT § 1692f
(Florida Class 3)

129. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) when he purchased a
home in Florida by mortgage.

130.  Ditech is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) because its
principal business purpose is the collection of debits, it was assigned Plaintiff’s mortgage loan
while it was in default, and it uses the United States mail for its principal business purpose:
collecting debts.

131. Ditech engaged in “communications” with Plaintiff as defined by 15 U.S.C. §
1692a(2) when its sent periodic statements to Plaintiff and the class demanding payment of debts
not owed.

132. Ditech violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692f when it used unfair and unconscionable means
to collect debts contained in periodic statements sent to Plaintiff and the class and when it
charged and threatened to charge late fees not expressly authorized by agreement.

133. Ditech’s violation of the FDCPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving him of the
statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning amounts due and
owing under his mortgage loan.

134.  As aresult of Ditech’s violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692f, Plaintiff and class members
are entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1692(k), together with

reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.
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COUNT V AS TO DITECH’S VIOLATION OF
THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT § 1692f
(Florida Class 4)

135. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) because be is a
natural person allegedly obligated to pay a debt in connection with the purchase of a home.

136. Ditech is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) because its
principal business purpose is the collection of debts, it was assigned Plaintiff’s mortgage loan
while it was in default, and it uses the United States mail for its principal business purpose:
collecting debts.

137.  The letter Ditech sent to Plaintiff is a “communication” as defined under 15
U.S.C. § 1692a(2).

138. Ditech attempted to collect a consumer debt as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3)
because Plaintiff was allegedly obligated to pay a debt in connection with the purchase of a home
for personal, family, or household purposes.

139. The letter Ditech sent to Plaintiff and the putative Classes violated the FDCPA
because it excluded the statutorily required disclosures.

140.  As aresult of Ditech’s FDCPA violation, Plaintiff suffered substantial damage,
including but not limited to the deprivation of his statutory right to dispute the debt, the
deprivation of the right to basic information needed to assess the legitimacy of the debt, and
deprivation of the statutory right to information needed to dispute the accuracy of the debt.

JURY DEMAND

141. Plaintiff is entitled to and respectfully demands a trial by jury on all issues so

triable.
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RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE. Plaintiff, himself and on behalf of the Classes, respectfully requests this

Court to enter judgment against Ditech for all of the following:

a. That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded actual damages, including but not
limited to forgiveness of all amounts not owed;

b. That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded statutory damages for each of

Plaintiff’s claims;

c. That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded costs and attorney’s fees;

d. That the Court enter a judgment permanently enjoining Ditech from charging
and/or collecting debt in violation of the FCCPA;

e. That the Court enter a judgment permanently enjoining Ditech from charging
and/or collecting debt in violation of the FDCPA;

f. That the Court enter a judgment permanently enjoining Ditech and Fannie Mae
from providing borrowers inaccurate, unclear, and inconspicuous information in
violation of TILA;

g That, should the Court permit the continued charging and/or collecting debt, it
enter a judgment requiring the adoption of measures ensuring FDCPA, TILA, and
FCCPA compliance, and that the Court retain jurisdiction for a period of six
months to ensure that compliance with those measures;

h. That the Court enter a judgment awarding any other injunctive relief necessary to

ensure compliance with the FDCPA, TILA, and the FCCPA;
That the Court enter an order that Ditech and Fannie Mae and its agents, or

anyone acting on their behalf, are immediately restrained from altering, deleting
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Dated:

or destroying any documents or records that could be used to identify class

members;

That the Court certify Plaintiff’s claims and all other persons similarly situated as

class action claims under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure; and

Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

24

Respectfully Submitted,

/s/ James L. Kauffman

James L. Kauffman (Fla. Bar. No. 12915)
1054 31st Street, Suite 230

Washington, DC 20007

Telephone: (202) 463-2101

Facsimile: (202) 342-2103

Email: jkauffman@baileyglasser.com

Darren R. Newhart, Esq.

Florida Bar No.: 0115546

E-mail: darren@cloorg.com

J. Dennis Card Jr., Esq

Florida Bar No.: 0487473
E-mail:DCard@Consumerlaworg.com
Consumer Law Organization, P.A.

721 US Highway 1, Suite 201

North Palm Beach, Florida 33408
Telephone: (561) 692-6013

Facsimile: (305) 574-0132

Counsel for Plaintiff and the Putative Class
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02/15/2018

CHARLES S RODRIGUEZ
3970 OLD DUNN RD
APOPKA, FL 32712-4787

Loan Number: 50586957
Property Address: 3970 OLD DUNN RD
APOPKA, FL 32712-4787

Dear CHARLES S RODRIGUEZ:

This letter is formal notice by Ditech Financial LLC, the Servicer of the above-referenced loan, on behalf of
FANNIE MAE MRS 261840235, that you are in default under the terms of the documents creating and
securing your Loan described above, including the Note and Deed of Trust/Mortgage/Security Deed (“Security
Instrument”), for failure to pay amounts due.

You have a right to cure your default. To cure the default, you must pay the full amount of the default on this
loan by 03/22/2018 (or if said date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday, then on the first business day
thereafier). Failure to cure the default on or before this date may result in acceleration of the sums secured by
the Security Instrument, foreclosure by judicial proceeding and sale of the property.

As of the date of this notice, the total amount required to cure the default is $114,878.35, which consists of the
following:

Next Payment Due Date: 07/01/2013
Total Monthly Payments Due: $75,909.75
07/01/2013 at $1,349.75
08/01/2013 . at $1,349.75
09/01/2013 at $1,349.75
10/01/2013 at $1,349.75
11/01/2013 at $1,349.75
12/01/2013 at $1,349.75
01/01/2014 at $1,349.75
02/01/2014 at $1,331.26
03/01/2014 at $1,331.26
04/01/2014 at $1,331.26
05/01/2014 at $1,331.26
06/01/2014 at $1,331.26
07/01/2014 at $1,331.26
08/01/2014 at $1,331.26
09/01/2014 at $1,331.26
10/01/2014 at $1,331.26
11/01/2014 at $1,331.26
12/01/2014 at - $1,331.26
01/01/2015 at $1,331.26
02/01/2015 at $1,331.26
03/01/2015 at $1,331.26
04/01/2015 at $1,331.26
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05/01/2015 at $1,331.26
06/01/2015 at $1,331.26
07/01/2015 at $1,331.26
08/01/2015 at $1,331.26
09/01/2015 at $1,331.26
10/01/2015 at $1,331.26
11/01/2015 at $1,331.26
12/01/2015 at $1,331.26
01/01/2016 at $1,331.26
02/01/2016 at $1,331.26
03/01/2016 at $1,331.26
04/01/2016 at $1,331.26
05/01/2016 at $1,331.26
06/01/2016 at $1,331.26
07/01/2016 at $1,331.26
08/01/2016 at $1,321.50
09/01/2016 at $1,321.50
10/01/2016 at $1,321.50
11/0172016 at $1,321.50
12/01/2016 at $1,321.50
01/01/2017 at $1,321.50
02/01/2017 at $1,321.50
03/01/2017 at $1,321.50
04/01/2017 at $1,321.50
05/01/2017 at $1,321.50
06/01/2017 at $1,321.50
07/01/2017 at $1,468.41
08/01/2017 at $1,468.41
09/01/2017 at $1,468.41
10/01/2017 at $1,468.41
11/01/2017 at $1,468.41
12/01/2017 at $1,468.41
01/01/2018 at $1,468.41
02/01/2018 at $1,708.33

Late Charges: $2,834.36

Other Charges: Uncollected NSF Fees: $0.00

Other Fees: $0.00

Corporate Advance Balance: $6,329.28

Escrow Advance Balance: $29,804.96

Unapplied Balance: (80.00)

TOTAL YOU MUST PAY TO CURE DEFAULT: $114,878.35

You can cure this default by making a payment of $114,878.35 by 03/22/2018. Please note any additional
monthly payments, late charges and other charges that may be due under the Note, Security Instrument and
applicable law after the date of this notice must also be paid to bring your account current. You may contact
our Loss Mitigation Department at 1-800-643-0202 to obtain updated payment information. This letter is in no
way intended as a payoff statement for your mortgage, it merely states an amount necessary to cure the current
default. Please include your loan number and property address with your payment and send to:

Ditech Financial LLC
Ditech Payment Processing PO Box 660934
Dallas, TX 75266-0934

If you wish to dispute the delinquency, or if you dispute the calculation of amount of the delinquency and

W_FL_DEMAND Rev.05/2016
Page 2 of 4 23289719347



i

Case 6:18-cv-00721-CEM-TBS Document 1-11 Filed 05/10/18 Page 3 of 4 PagelD 153

<

o7

reinstatement amount, you may contact us by calling 1-800-643-0202, Or call us via TDD at 1-800-643-0202
#711.

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO BRING YOUR ACCOUNT CURRENT, Ditech Financial LLC offers consumer
assistance programs designed to help resolve delinquencies and avoid foreclosure. These services are provided
without cost to our customers. You may be eligible for a loan workout plan or other similar alternative. If you
would like to learn more about these programs, you may contact the Loss Mitigation Department at
1-800-643-0202, Monday - Friday 7 am to 8 pm and Saturday 7 am to 1 pm CST. WE ARE VERY
INTERESTED IN ASSISTING YOU.

You have the right to reinstate the loan after acceleration and the right to assert in the foreclosure proceeding
the non-existence of a default or any other defense to acceleration and foreclosure. If foreclosure proceedings
are undertaken, we may pursue a deficiency judgment, if permitted by applicable law. Failure to respond to this
letter may result in the loss of your property. To the extent your obligation has been discharged or is subject to
the automatic stay in a bankruptcy case, this notice is for informational purposes only and does not constitute a
demand for payment or an attempt to collect a debt as your personal obligation. If you are represented by an
attorney, please provide us with the attorney’s name, address and telephone number.

Ditech Financial LLC is attempting to collect a debt, and any information obtained will be used for that
purpose. Unless you notify us within thirty (30) days after receiving this notice that you dispute the
validity of this debt or any portion thereof, we will assume this debt is valid. If you notify us within thirty
(30) days from receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any portion thereof, we
will obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment
or verification. Upon your written request within thirty (30) days after the receipt of this letter, we will
provide you with the name and address of the original creditor, if the original creditor is different from

. the current creditor. _ et -

You are notified that this default and any cther legal action that may cccur as a result thereof may be reported
to one or more local and national credit reporting agencies by Ditech Financial LLC.

Attention Servicemembers and Dependents: Servicemembers on active duty, or a spouse or dependent of
such a servicemember, may be entitled to certain protections under the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act
(“SCRA"™) regarding the servicemember’s interest rate and the risk of foreclosure. SCRA and certain state
laws provide important protections for you, including prohibiting foreclosure under most circumstances. If you
are currently in the military service, or have been within the last twelve (12) months, AND joined after signing
the Note and Security Instrument now in default, please notify Ditech Financial LLC immediately. When
contacting Ditech Financial LLC as to your military service, you must provide positive proof as to your
military status. Servicemembers and dependents with questions about the SCRA should contact their unit’s
Judge Advocate, or their installation’s Legal Assistance Officer. Homeowner counseling is also available at
agencies such as Military OneSource (www.militaryonesource.mil; 1-800-342-9647) and Armed Forces Legal
Assistance  (hup:/lepalassistance.law.af.mil), and through HUD-certified housing counselors
(http://www.hud.gov/offices/hsg/sfh/hec/hes.cfm).  You can also contact us toll-free at 1-800-643-0202 if you
have questions about your rights under SCRA.

For your benefit and assistance, there are government approved homeownership counseling agencies designed
to help homeowners avoid losing their homes. To obtain a list of approved counseling agencies, please call

1-800-569-4287 or visit hitp://www.hud.gov/offices/hsg/sfh/hcc/hes.cfm. You may also contact the
Homeownership Preservation Foundation’s Hope hotline at 1-888-995-HOPE (4673).

This matter is very important. Please give it your immediate attention.
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Sincerely,

Ditech Financial LLC

P.O. Box 6172

Rapid City, SD 57709-6172
1-800-643-0202
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